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Financial Highlights

A TS

FOR THE YEAR FR
Highlights of consolidated statements of comprehensive FEEEWEREE
income
FY2023 FY2022
—EZ= S
HMHBEE MBFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#T T#ET
Revenue W e 143,779 127,730
Gross profit EF 60,789 57,924
Profit before taxation BRIQETR T 28,103 41,432
Profit for the year FWmA 22,039 34,929
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEW RS 20,095 30,034
Non-HKFRS measures EEFRUFE RS ENEEE
FY2023 FY2022
—F= ===
MEBEE MBFE
HK$’000 HKS'000
T#T THET
Profit for the year FRE A 22,039 34,929
Add: Non-recurring items m:IEEE MRS
— Listing expenses — W% 12,363 3,999
— Donation — 1588 3,000 =
Adjusted profit for the year (Note) FREEEER ) 37,402 38,828

Note:  Adjusted profit for the year refers to profit for the year excluding non recurring listing KI5t : ERLABBIIEERNZN > FEEFELEE LT
expenses and donation. This non-HKFRS financial data is a supplemental financial measure IR o LIFE BV BREEN T HEHE AT
that is not required by, or presented in accordance with, the HKFRS and is therefore referred FEBUBRESERFMRENRBESBHBREE

BIZ2FIMHBRU B2 EILiBA EEBUBRE

R Rt E o HUIERMBIES BB RS LR

FI25MBRENE > BEFERRARES B

an alternative measure to cash flows from operating activities or as a measure of our BRSEFREKE RN A MEMRRFTEN

liquidity. BRAEZEZ TAERAAKEEHMELRERE
XBRPRBESHENENTZE

to as a “non-HKFRS” financial measure. It is not a measurement of our financial performance
under the HKFRS and should not be considered as an alternative measure to profit from
operations or any other performance measures derived in accordance with the HKFRS, or as

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 Z“Z2-=FF# @



Financial Highlights
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AT YEAR END F£X
Highlights of consolidated statements of financial positions FEMBHRAREE
FY2023 FY2022
—EZ= —EF——
MR EE HHEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ex FEx
Non-current assets JERENEE 24,863 26,422
Current assets MENEE 139,994 122,766
Current liabilities mEIEE (17,049) (5,544)
Net current assets MENEEFEE 122,945 117,222
Net assets BEFEE 147,660 143,565
Revenue U4 &%
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-_HBA=1+—HILFE
2023 2022 +/()
—EC=H BT HF
HK$’000 (%)  HKS$'000 %)  HK$'000 (%)
F&T (%) THET %) FET (%)
Revenue Ui 2%
Slewing rings EEK
— ODM — ODM 56,718 39.5 56,759 444 @n 0.1)
— OEM — OEM 276 0.2 362 03 (86) (23.8)
— OBM — OBM 2,325 1.6 996 08 1,329 1334
— Others — Hhs& K 10,983 7.6 17,227 135 (6,244) (36.2)
70,302 48.9 75,344 59.0 (5,042) 6.7)
Mechanical parts and components 4 Z 2B {4
— ODM — ODM 6,641 4.6 8,950 7.0 (2,309) (25.8)
— Others — Hth 16,972 11.8 16,116 12,6 856 53
23,613 16.4 25,066 196 (1,453) (5.8)
Machineries 1
— Machineries — 49,864 34.7 27,320 214 22,544 82.5
49,864 34.7 27,320 214 22,544 825
Total et 143,779 100.0 127,730 100 16,049 126

Note:
currently produce.

Other rings mainly include revenue derived from the sales of slewing rings that we do not

ST AR ©
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OVERVIEW

Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries, (the “Group”), is a leading premium slewing ring manufacturer in
the PRC. We also provide a comprehensive line of mechanical parts and
components and machineries which are used mainly in construction and
mining sites. During the year, the Company has been successfully transferred
its listing (“Transfer of Listing”) from GEM to the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The last day of
dealings in the Shares on GEM (stock code on GEM: 8617) was on 28
September 2023 while dealings in the Shares on the Main Board (stock code
on the Main Board: 9882) commenced on 29 September 2023.

We manufacture slewing rings that conform to the Japanese Industrial
Standards (“JIS”), which is regarded as a standard with higher quality control
requirements than that produced in many other countries in the world. Since
2020, the Group has developed new products and a wider range of servicing
by manufacturing other mechanical parts and components for machineries
besides slewing rings to seize the business opportunities and cater the need
of our customers. The machineries and mechanical parts supplied by the
leading suppliers in Japan were fit for the Group’s sourcing needs with
specifications not commonly supplied by other market suppliers.

Our principal subsidiaries include Best Linking Limited ("Best Linking"), Wing
Fung Machinery Company Limited (“Wing Fung") and Kyoei Seiki Co., Limited
("Kyoei Seiki"). The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 26 October 2018.

During the reporting period, the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong has been changed from Unit 1226B, 12/F, Star House, No. 3
Salisbury Road Kowloon, Hong Kong to Unit 1119, 11/F, The Metropolis Tower,
No. 10 Metropolis Drive Kowloon, Hong Kong.

HISTORY AND BUSINESS

Our Group's business commenced in 2007 when Mr. Chan Yuk Pan, the
executive Director, chief executive officer and chairman of our Board, and the
Controlling Shareholder of our Group, utilised the internal resources of Wing
Fung, the investment holding company of Kyoei Seiki, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong in November 2005, to establish Kyoei Seiki in
September 2007. Since 2012, Best Linking commenced distribution of slewing
rings manufactured by Kyoei Seiki and sourcing of other products for our
customers.

About Us
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About Us
Ea)iEs 4!

As our business continued to grow, we have expanded our customer base
significantly since our commencement of business. Impressed by the quality
of our products, a then-listed company on the Singapore Exchange, which
was principally engaged in the trading of heavy machinery and diesel engine
parts, and a leading machinery and parts supplier in Japan became our
customer and entered into business relationship with us ever since 2010. From
2011 to 2015, three Japanese equipment manufacturers also became our
regular original equipment manufacturing (“OEM”) customers.

We position ourselves as a premium manufacturer of slewing rings targeting
both local and overseas markets including Singapore, the Philippines, Malaysia,
Japan and other Asian countries/locations. Since the commencement of our
business in 2007, we accumulated in-depth industry experience and know-
how for the production of slewing rings catering to different industries for
both local and overseas markets, especially under original design
manufacturer ("ODM") basis. We also began producing our own brand
products under original brand manufacturing (“OBM”") basis since 2011,
including “"KYOEI", “NISSHO SEIKO" and “JSG".

With our increased capacity in production following our GEM Listing, since
2020, we commenced manufacturing of mechanical parts and components
for our customers. These mechanical parts and components are manufactured
under ODM basis complementing the slewing rings we produced.

As our business continued to grow steadily with continuous successes in
global sales and further reinforcement of the Group’s brand recognition and
awareness following the Listing and Transfer of Listing, the Group is positioned
as one of the fastest growing “comprehensive products” providers in the field
of slewing rings, machineries and other mechanical parts and components. In
2021, the Group started to sell slewing rings and to source machineries to a
nominated supplier of a theme park and resort in Hong Kong and a
nominated supplier of the Hong Kong International Airport Three Runway
System Project, respectively. The Group will continue its effort to promote its
brand as well as providing high-quality products to seize more business
opportunities in various regions.
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BERFNEBREBER > BEBRBLUK
RMEXRBEEEREFER RMANEREE
PARE > —EERRHTINKIZ SR EHH
NE (FERFERHMARRESREME
B K BAE—RRSHEMAN S HER) 5
ARMANEATE S —SFRERMET
EGERFR N _T——FE"T-—0F =
HERBREBTHRARMANERRRAHER
& (TOEM)) BIE = ©

BMPNBEREUABREESE S AUER =
WA K 8N EIEI I ~ SFRE ~ B
AT s BAKREMIENER, MH  c BZEZ
TERELR BMAERLERRRRTE
% (ToDM)) BEEXENET AT ERE T A
ATELRRFEMR > oW e At Kk
TMIBABEENER - HAR_Z——F78
I RERRMEEE (ToBM)) BRELEEFJR
o EE fm 0 B0 FE TKYOEI ) ~ TNISSHO SEIKO J &
rJSGJ o

FEEHFINGEM LR ERERIEMN > BT
TEE > RFIFEATR RERMT A - %
ZERMT M IROOMEBELE EWBMRMILEE
BYIREE ST K o

ENHMANEFTHEREL R A2 HEE
TEMNEEES IR EhkBIREHRE
— SR EENmEANREMBAIE &
EREMUARREERBEET A MR
Hig MmN 2AUEm HEmz—-
R-ZF-_—F  AEERGIIRAEE—E
TEAERERNNERSHEEREBE
RS -—MERAMEENERSMHERLE
BT A RRBEW - AEBGEES D #
EiE T mhE > FRREME EFRER  BLSME
LK o



TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Best Linking Group
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company has resolved to announce the annual consolidated
results for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 on 19 March 2024. The
total revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 has achieved a
record high, amounted to approximately HK$143.8 million (2022: HK$127.7
million), representing an increase of approximately 12.6% compared to the
last financial year. The net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company stood at approximately HK$22.0 million, and excluding the non-
recurring transfer listing related expenses of approximately HK$12.4 million,
being charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
during 2023, the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company would
have been approximately HK$34.4 million) (net profit in 2022: HK$34.9 million,
and excluding the non-recurring Transfer of Listing and its related expenses of
approximately HK$3.9) million, being charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income during 2022, the profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company would have been approximately HK$38.8 million).
Basic and diluted earnings per share were approximately HK5.5 cents (2022:
HK8.7 cents) respectively.

As shown in the Group's result for the financial year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group continued to achieve excellent results in its revenue and profit for
the year attributable to the owners of the Company. The Board recommends
the payment of a final dividend of HK4.0 cents per share, subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRS

OUTLOOK

2023 has been a transformative year of the Group. Despite the adverse market
condition, because of the broadened product based offered by the Group, the
Group achieved a growth in its business. On 29 September 2023, the
Company has been successfully transferred its listing from GEM to the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. This remarkable success
facilitated our Group in raising public awareness and profile as well as our
recognition from existing and new customers. The Group has achieved
business growth and expanded sources of income since the GEM Listing. The
Directors consider that the Main Board generally enjoys a premium status and
recognition by public investors and customers and that the Transfer of Listing
will further promote the Group's corporate profile and position in the industry.

The Group's competitive advantages as a comprehensive products provider
has been even more accentuated amid the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic
(the “COVID"), with the surging demand for the sourcing of other slewing
rings, machineries, mechanical parts and components for its customers. With
the Government's latest resumption of normalcy measures and the uplift of
the COVID related restrictive measures, the market has emerged stronger and
healthier after a swift recovery from the public health crisis.

Benefitting from the expanding manufacturing sector in the PRC, in addition
to slewing rings, we expanded our capability to include manufacturing of
mechanical parts and components such as sprocket, track shoes and rollers,
which are commonly sought by our customers alongside our slewing rings,
on ODM basis. We also source other mechanical parts and components for
our customers. Further, as a supplier of slewing rings under OEM basis to
leading suppliers in Japan for over 10 years, we are in a position to source
excavators and other heavy duty machineries directly. We further extend our
heavy duty machineries offering on other types of machineries such as pile
drivers, wheel loaders and trucks.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEEBRIZERERAD
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The Group is positioned as one of the fastest growing comprehensive
products providers in the field. Despite there remain many uncertainties in the
global economy including high interest rate, slow down of development in
China, the upcoming U.S. Presidential election in November, the Directors do
anticipate that the Group's sourcing business will continue to grow. With a
proven track record and strong foothold in the industry, the Group will remain
cautious and endeavor to maintain a steady growth in its sourcing business
and continue to broaden its business scope to maximize the return for the
Company's shareholders in the present challenging environment. In the
foreseeable future, the Group intends to expand its products coverage in
sourcing to include minerals and related products to enhance revenue and
profitability.

Furthermore, we will continue to enhance the factory automation to alleviate
the impact of continuing increase in labor costs and overheads in the PRC. We
will also continue to enhance our brand recognition and awareness,
strengthen our production team and promote our corporate reputation, as a
result, the group wishes to seize and capture more business opportunities and
synergies in broadening its business scope to cope with the broadening of its
business base.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business associates and the
most valued shareholders for their continuing trust and support for the Group,
and to our directors, management and staff for their commitment and
valuable contribution during the past year.

Chan Yuk Pan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 19 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE w1

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading premium slewing ring manufacturer in the PRC. We are
also a comprehensive products provider for mechanical parts and
components and machineries which are used mainly in construction and
mining sites. During the year, the Company has been successfully transferred
its listing from GEM to the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Transfer of Listing"). The last day of dealings in the Shares on
GEM (stock code on GEM: 8617) was on 28 September 2023 while dealings in
the Shares on the Main Board (stock code on the Main Board: 9882)
commenced on 29 September 2023.

We manufacture slewing rings that conform to the Japanese Industrial
Standards ("JIS"), which is regarded as a standard with higher quality control
requirements than that produced in many other countries in the world. Since
2020, the Group has developed new products and a wider range of servicing
by manufacturing other mechanical parts and components for machineries
besides slewing rings to seize the business opportunities and cater the need
of our customers. The machineries and mechanical parts supplied by the
leading suppliers in Japan were fit for the Group's sourcing needs and with
specifications not commonly supplied by other market suppliers.

The Group's competitive advantages as a comprehensive products provider
has been even more accentuated amid the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic
(the “COVID"), with the surging demand for the sourcing of other slewing
rings, machineries, mechanical parts and components for its customers. With
the Government's latest resumption of normalcy measures and the uplift of
the COVID related restrictive measures, the market has emerged stronger and
healthier after a swift recovery from the public health crisis.

Benefitting from the expanding manufacturing sector in the PRC, in addition
to slewing rings, we expanded our capability to include manufacturing of
mechanical parts and components such as sprocket, track shoes and rollers,
which are commonly sought by our customers alongside our slewing rings,
on ODM basis. We also source other mechanical parts and components for
our customers. Further, as a supplier of slewing rings under OEM basis to
leading suppliers in Japan for over 10 years, we are in a position to source
excavators and other heavy duty machineries directly. We further extend our
heavy duty machineries offering on other types of machineries such as pile
drivers, wheel loaders and trucks.

Transfer of Listing

On 30 March 2023, an application was made by the Company to the Stock
Exchange for the listing of and permission to deal in the Shares on the Main
Board by way of the Transfer of Listing pursuant to Chapter 9A of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and such application was successful. The last day of dealings in the
Shares on GEM (stock code on GEM: 8617) was on 28 September 2023 while
dealings in the Shares on the Main Board (stock code on the Main Board: 9882)
commenced on 29 September 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Slewing rings

The Group manufactures slewing rings for local and overseas customers
primarily on original design manufacturing (“ODM"), original equipment
manufacturing (“OEM") and original brand manufacturing (“OBM") basis.
Meanwhile, the Group also sources slewing rings not manufactured by the
Group for its customers. The Group's business leverages on its in-depth market
knowledge and know-how accumulated through years of experience since
the Group's inception. The Group is able to produce a diverse range of slewing
rings for its customers. The Group can also manufacture slewing rings which
have already ceased production.

Our business is primarily focused on manufacturing slewing rings for local and
overseas customers on an ODM basis. Our ODM customers include companies
in the wholesale and trading of heavy duty machineries and their related parts
and components. They then re-sell our products to the end-users in the
market. We work out the design as well as all technical specifications from
start to finish for our ODM customers, based on their preliminary inputs. The
products we sold are usually used to replace worn out slewing rings of
existing machineries under usage, or for assembly of new machineries. In the
case of slewing rings for replacement purpose, we are able to customise our
production process to manufacture slewing rings which have already ceased
production to suit old models of machineries. Being in a position to produce
slewing rings up to the premium standard under JIS is of significant
importance to our ODM customers and this standard is hence applicable to
our slewing rings sold to our customers on ODM basis.

In addition, the Group manufactures for some overseas customers on OEM
basis. Our OEM customers include leading Japanese manufacturers of various
machineries and equipments or their affiliates. Our OEM business involves the
manufacture and sale of products based on customers’ specifications and
guidelines. In respect of our OEM customers, we are usually provided with
technical drawings and we are not required to participate in the design of
these products. Our OEM customers normally provide us with all specifications
and standards they require and we have to strictly adhere to the standards
required during the production process. Slewing rings so produced will be
applied by our OEM customers directly on their heavy duty machineries. Most
of our OEM customers are Japanese manufacturers or their affiliates, which
require us to produce slewing rings in conformity to the JIS.
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The Group also derives its revenue from the sales of our proprietary branded
products under OBM basis. We sold our OBM products under our own brands
to customers located in six locations including the PRC, Hong Kong, Taiwan,
Malaysia, the Philippines and Thailand. Our OBM customers are mainly
wholesalers or traders. For slewing rings produced under OBM basis, we are
in-charge of the product packaging including its design. Similar to our ODM
products, the level of our participation in the design of slewing rings so
produced depends on whether our OBM customers will provide us with the
technical details. The slewing rings sold to our OBM customers commonly
adopt a quenching standard of JIS.

The Group sources slewing rings not manufactured by the Group for its
customers. These slewing rings are mainly models which we do not
manufacture currently as (i) they maybe of lower quality and their production
will require different raw materials which we do not have; or (ii) they are of
small quantity and not commercially justifiable for us to spend efforts on
product development for such small scale productions; or (iii) they are of size
which we do not manufacture.

The Group has an international customer base and is able to produce slewing
rings which on one hand conform to the JIS, and at the same time meet the
requirements of both ODM and OBM customers. Because of the Group's edge
over other suppliers, the Group attracted several new ODM customers which
contributed to the increasing revenue of both the manufacturing and the
sourcing business since 2021. These new customers included a nominated
supplier of a theme park and resort in Hong Kong, which the Group sourced
slewing rings for and delivered to the theme park as instructed by such
nominated supplier and a subsidiary of a then listed company on the
Singapore Exchange Limited which has been the Group’s customer for over
10 years. Such group was principally engaged in the distribution of heavy
machineries and diesel engine parts and has an international customer base.
Furthermore, one of our largest customers has enlarged its customer base and
increased the demand of our larger size slewing rings which led to the
increase in our revenue and profits.
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Mechanical parts and components

To implement our business strategy to expand our slewing rings business, we
have utilised part of the net proceeds from the GEM Listing to acquire a
number of new equipments which enabled us to expand our production
capability to include manufacturing of mechanical parts and components
such as sprocket, track shoes and rollers, which are commonly sought by our
customers alongside our slewing rings. These mechanical parts and
components are manufactured on ODM basis where our customers require
mechanical parts and components to fulfil specific functions and
specifications to suit their needs. The manufacturing of these mechanical parts
and components requires production techniques and multiple production
processes which are similar to the production of slewing rings. Depending on
the quantities, our capabilities and availability of machines as well as
marketing strategies, we may either fulfil customer’s orders by procuring semi-
finished parts and components for further manufacturing or sourcing the
finished products from the market.

The expansion of our business into the sale of mechanical parts and
components is complementary to our principal business of manufacturing
and sales of slewing rings. It enables us to offer a comprehensive line of
products to our customers which had further strengthened our business
relationships with our customers, resulting in recurring purchase orders being
placed with us. The mechanical parts and components we sourced were
broad in range, including telescopic boom, clamshell, bolts, oil seal kits, etc.
We sold over 10 different kinds of mechanical parts and components. Similar
to the slewing rings, these mechanical parts and components are consumable
parts which require routine replacement over a period of usage.

Machineries

As a supplier of slewing rings under OEM basis to a leading machinery and
parts supplier in Japan for over 10 years, we have developed a long term
business relationship with this leading Japanese heavy duty machinery brand
and are in a position to source excavators and heavy duty machineries directly
from its affiliates. We have also developed a long term business relationship
with a long established second-hand heavy equipment wholesaler, for over
five years. In catering to the needs of our customers, upon receiving their
requests, we will source both brand new or used Japanese brand excavators
for them for construction and/or mining purposes.

With the expansion of our customer and supplier base alongside our business
operations over the years and as a supplier of slewing rings to a number of
Japanese brand machinery manufacturers, we received requests from our
customers from time to time when they were in need of other machineries
such as pile drivers, trucks and wheel loaders. Depending on the availability of
these products from our suppliers, we may procure these machineries for
them on an ad-hoc basis. Our sourcing of machineries is driven by the
demand of our customers and is not considered as a general trading business.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

The Group achieved remarkable performance in 2023. The revenue reached a
new high of HK$143.8 million. The Group’s revenue increased by 12.6% to
HK$143.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting
Period"), as compared to HK$127.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 (“FY2022"). Among our products, machineries recorded the most
notable growth, while slewing rings and mechanical parts and components
remained stable with a slight decline. The Group will continue its effort to
promote its brand as well as providing high quality products and seize more
business opportunities in various regions.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of quantities of products sold
under different segments for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023:

B ¥l RE
Wiy 2u

REAR S _=ZFEWMEBAZEE - WHEE

TIBsEEBTH®  c AEBWGEILEIN126%
i&i_v__¢+ B=+—HLtEE (T8
HHIRM) M1438EB BT MEBEEZZSZZ
E+ZB=+—HILEE ((ZTEZ-_0HHE
ENAA2/BEBT ERANERT
%ﬁﬁ%%%%%ﬁﬁ i 4 2 57 R R A

EMHRAREETE > BMTH® AEETHE
%ﬁ WEETRE BRFRMELRER B
(=S e A=)

A=1+— EIJJ:EF—TH’\jB%ﬁ:E’\JﬁJ%lEEﬂm

For the year ended 31 December

HE+-A=+—HLFE
2023 2022 +/(-)
—E-= = —
Sets (%) Sets (%) Sets (%)
E (%) = (%) = (%)
Quantities sold BEHE
Slewing rings LK
— ODM — ODM 4,043 9.3 3,813 3.0 230 6.0
— OEM — OEM 86 0.2 112 0.1 (26) (23.2)
— OBM — OBM 147 0.3 85 0.1 62 729
— Others — Hfth 4,816 11.1 2,808 2.2 2,008 715
9,092 20.9 6,818 54 2,274 334
Mechanical parts and components 1 = ZB (4
— ODM — ODM 5,417 12.5 109,767 872  (104,350) (95.1)
— Others — Hith 28,768 66.4 9,291 74 19,477 209.6
34,185 78.9 119,058 94.5 (84,873) (71.3)
Machineries i
— Machineries — 1 69 0.2 50 0.0 19 380
69 0.2 50 0.0 19 38.0
Total st 43,346 100.0 125926 1000 (82,580) (65.6)
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The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue by product FRIFHE_ T - _—_FR_ T _=F+_
segments for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023: B=+—BI-FEZERDEREI DA |

For the year ended 31 December

#E+_A=+—HLEFE

2023 2022 +/()
—EZ= —ET &
HK$’000 (%) HKS$'000 %)  HK$'000 (%)
F#Ex (%) THET %) FET (%)
Revenue U &%
Slewing rings HOEE B
— ODM — ODM 56,718 39.5 56,759 444 [ZA)) 0.1)
— OEM — OEM 276 0.2 362 03 (86) (23.8)
— OBM — OBM 2,325 1.6 996 08 1,329 1334
— Others — Hhs& K 10,983 7.6 17,227 135 (6,244) (36.2)
70,302 48.9 75,344 59.0 (5,042) 6.7)
Mechanical parts and components 14 T 23§
— ODM — ODM 6,641 4.6 8,950 7.0 (2,309) (25.8)
— Others — Hh 16,972 11.8 16,116 126 856 53
23,613 16.4 25,066 196 (1,453) (5.8)
Machineries 3
— Machineries — T 49,864 34.7 27,320 214 22,544 825
49,864 34.7 27,320 214 22,544 825
Total st 143,779 100.0 127,730 100 16,049 126
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Slewing rings

The Group manufactures slewing rings for local and overseas customers
primarily on ODM, OEM and OBM basis, and sources slewing rings not
manufactured by the Group for its customers. Revenue from slewing rings
decreased by approximately HK$5.0 million from HK$75.3 million to HK$70.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to the year ended
31 December 2022, representing a decrease of 6.7%.

The slight decrease in the sales of slewing rings was mainly attributed to the
decrease in the sourcing business, by approximately HK$6.2 million, net off by
the increase in OBM business, of approximately HK$1.3 million. We have an
international customer base and are able to produce slewing rings which are
JIS-compliant and can at the same time meet the requirements of both OBM
and ODM customers. Because of our competitive edge, the Group attracted
several new OBM and ODM customers. The total revenue of our OBM business
amounted to approximately HK$2.3 million and HKS$1.0 million for the
Reporting Period and FY2022, respectively. The increase in OBM business was
mainly attributed to a new wholesale customer in Hong Kong which we
secured in 2022 and the sales to this customer increased by approximately
HKS$0.8 million during the Reporting Period. Under the brand name series of
“NISSHO SEIKO”, the revenue increased to HK$1.1 million during the Reporting
Period. The ODM business remained stable, with revenue amounted to
HKS$56.7 million and HK$56.8 million for the Reporting Period and FY2022,
respectively. In our ODM business, we recorded an increase of quantity by 230
units. We have a total of 23 and 25 ODM customers for the Reporting Period
and FY2022, respectively. There were seven new ODM customers which
contributed approximately HK$4.8 million to the revenue during the Reporting
Period.

Meanwhile, as a comprehensive products provider, customers have
approached us and used our sourcing service. These customers included a
nominated supplier of a theme park and resort in Hong Kong. We sourced the
slewing rings and delivered to the theme park as instructed by such
nominated supplier. The revenue generated through the slewing rings that
we sourced for our customers decreased by approximately HK$6.2 million, or
36.2%, from approximately HK$17.2 million for FY2022 to approximately
HKS$11.0 million for the Reporting Period, which was mainly due to the switch
from sourcing slewing rings from us to directly ordering slewing rings
manufactured by us, as our self manufactured slewing rings was of a very high

quality.

The sale of slewing rings manufactured by us accounted for approximately
48.9% and 59.0% in our total revenue for the Reporting Period and FY2022,
respectively, and approximately 65.2% and 69.1% of the Group's total gross
profit for the Reporting Period and FY2022, respectively.
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Mechanical parts and components

The Group manufactures and sources mechanical parts and components for
customers. Such machineries and mechanical parts and components included
but not limited to excavators and undercarriage parts such as track chains,
rollers and track shoes. It complements the main line of our business which
enables our customers to enjoy a comprehensive line of products. Revenue
from the mechanical parts and components slightly decreased by
approximately 5.8% year- on-year or HK$1.5 million, from HK$25.1 million for
FY2022 to HK$23.6 million for the Reporting Period.

The revenue of mechanical parts and components on ODM basis amounted
to approximately HK$6.6 million and HK$8.9 million for the Reporting Period
and FY2022, respectively. The slight decrease in revenue of ODM mechanical
parts was mainly attributable to the customers in the Philippines, when they
switch from purchasing ODM mechanical parts manufactured by us to
mechanical parts sourced by us. Based on such reason, there was a slight
increase in revenue of sourcing mechanical parts and components, amounted
to approximately HK$17.0 million and HK$16.1 million for the Reporting period
and FY2022, respectively. The newly developed and sourced products had
enabled the Group to broaden the scope of its business with existing
customers as well as the finding of new customers.

The mechanical parts and components accounted for approximately 16.4%
and 19.6% in the total revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period and
FY2022, respectively, and amounting to approximately 12.8% and 17.5% of the
Group's total gross profit for the Reporting Period and FY2022, respectively.

Machineries

We source heavy duty machineries, which are mainly excavators, for our
customers. Our revenue from such sales amounted to approximately HK$49.9
million and HK$27.3 million for the Reporting Period and FY2022, representing
approximately 34.7% and 21.4% of the revenue of machineries, respectively.
The revenue generated from the sales of other machineries that we sourced
such as pile drivers, trucks and wheel loaders amounted to approximately
HK$4.9 million, HK$0.4 million and HK$0.3 million for the Reporting Period,
representing approximately 9.8%, 0.8% and 0.6% of the revenue of
machineries, respectively.

The sales of machineries that we sourced for our customers increased by
approximately HK$22.6 million, or 82.5%, from approximately HK$27.3 million
for FY2022 to approximately HK$49.9 million for the Reporting Period which
was mainly due to the increase in sales of other machineries that we sourced.
During 2023, we were able to secure a sales order of four articulated haulers
which bear a high sale price per unit from a new Hong Kong customer, which
is a construction contractor. Such sales amounted to approximately HK$4.4
million. Overall, the sales of machineries to the contractors in Hong Kong
increased from HK$17.6 million to HK$22.3 million. In addition, the sales to
wholesalers and manufacturers in the Philippines increased by HK$5.0 million
to HK$18.7 million during the Reporting Period.
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Geographical location IR (i B
The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by geographical FRFIFHREHHMA T - _FHEERE
location of our customers for the Reporting Period and FY2022: PR E 85Iz BAAR
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-HB=1+—HLEE
2023 2022 +/()
—EZ= B F
HK$'000 (%)  HKS$'000 %)  HK$'000 (%)
F#ET (%) THET %)  FHEIT (%)
Singapore g 44,043 30.6 51,216 40.1 (7.173) (14.0)
The Philippines JEEE 33,637 23.4 12,806 100 20,831 162.7
Hong Kong 58 32,204 22.4 35,799 280 (3,595) (10.0)
Malaysia EokrgaE 18,906 13.1 18,676 14.6 230 1.2
Taiwan =) 4,326 3.0 912 0.7 3414 3743
The PRC 2] 4,261 3.0 1,064 08 3,197 3005
Japan HZ 3,974 2.8 3,030 24 944 312
Vietnam ieqE] 1,670 1.2 2,482 2.0 (812) (32.7)
Canada mnEX 590 0.4 762 06 (172) (22.6)
Thailand e 137 0.1 - - 137 100.0
New Zealand Eack| 31 0.0 983 08 (952) (96.8)
143,779 100.0 127,730 100.0 16,049 126

Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries continue to be the
key market for the Group, especially the Singaporean, the Filippino and
Malaysian markets where the Group has footprints for over 10 years.
Singapore, as an international trading centre with well-established networking
is experiencing rapid urbanisation and there is a growing demand for smart
machinery. Similarly, Malaysia also serves as an entreport in Southeast Asia.
Most of the slewing rings and mechanical parts imported into Singapore and
Malaysia are eventually re-exported to other regions such as the U.S, Europe,
the Middle East, etc. We have built a strong foundation with customers in
these countries. At the same time, the traditional demand for natural resources
from forestry and mining activities for construction and heavy equipments
also benefited our Group. Furthermore, construction machinery production in
the Philippines has grown in recent years, along with the country serving as
an entrepot in re-exporting the slewing rings to other economies.
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Revenue generated from these three major countries in ASEAN markets
increased from approximately HK$82.7 million for FY2022 by approximately
16.8% or HK$13.9 million to HK$96.6 million for the Reporting Period. Revenue
generated from the Filipino market increased from approximately HK$12.8
million for FY2022 by approximately 162.7% or HK$20.8 million to HK$33.6
million for the Reporting Period. The revenue generated from the Malaysian
market increased from HKS$18.7 million for FY2022 by approximately 1.2% or
HKS$0.2 million to HK$18.9 million for the Reporting Period. It was net off by
the revenue generated from the Singaporean market which decreased from
approximately HK$51.2 million for FY2022 by approximately 14.0% or HK$7.2
million to HK$44.0 million for the Reporting Period.

Revenue generated from the Filipino market increased from approximately
HK$12.8 million for FY2022 to approximately HK$33.6 million for the Reporting
Period, which was mainly attributable to the increase in sales to two of our top
10 customers of approximately HK$24.0 million in aggregate, mainly due to (i)
the increase in sales of mechanical parts and components we sourced of
approximately HK$6.0 million as we expanded our product types sold as
compared to that for FY2022 and (ii) the increase in sales of machineries of
approximately HK$18.0 million as we sourced which included but not limited
to three fuel tanker trailers and other heavy machineries like bulldozer and
tractor for the Reporting Period.

Singaporean market has been the Group'’s largest market for a while, three
customers out of our top 10 customers are located in Singapore. They are
mostly traders and wholesalers, when most of our slewing rings were onward
sold to other countries such as the United States and the Netherlands through
these customers. During the Reporting Period, contribution by these three
major customers in Singapore decreased by approximately HK$3.5 million, or
7.4%, from approximately HK$47.0 million for FY2022 to approximately
HKS$43.5 million for the Reporting Period. Another reason for the decrease in
sales of ODM slewing rings was due to the absence of sales in Reporting
Period from a customer as compared to sales of approximately HK$4.2 million
in FY2022.
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To meet the needs of diverse business activities of our customers, the Group
has devoted a lot of resources to enhance our research and development for
new products. The Group’s sourcing business in Hong Kong plays an
important role in this respect. This strategic adjustment initiative has proven
to be beneficial to the Group in maintaining its competitive advantage as a
“comprehensive products” provider, which helped to maintain revenue in
recent years. Revenue generated from Hong Kong, and other overseas markets
in Japan, Taiwan and Vietnam during the year amounted to approximately
HK$32.2 million, HKS4.0 million, HK$4.3 million and HKS$1.7 million,
respectively. The decrease in revenue in Hong Kong was mainly attributed by
the decrease in sales of excavators to a construction contractor of
approximately HK$4.3 million as a result of the decrease in sales, (the number
of excavator sold to such customer decreased from 17 to 5) but partially offset
by the sales of machineries including articulated hauler of approximately
HKS$4.7 million to a new customer which is a construction contractor. On the
other hand, the revenue generated from the market in Taiwan increased from
approximately HK$S0.9 million for FY2022 by approximately 374.3% or HKS$3.4
million to HKS$4.3 million for the Reporting Period. The increase was mainly
due to the increasing demand and sales of our slewing rings from a new
customer under ODM basis during the Reporting Period which amounted to
approximately HK$3.9 million.
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COST OF SALES HEMZE
The following table sets out the breakdown of our costs of sales for the years FRIIFEHE = :_EEZ_%E:ZE‘T‘:
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022; B =+—H - FE/IHE L ABE4
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-B=1+—HILEE
2023 2022 +/(-)
—E-=H B &
HK$'000 (%) HKS'000 (%)  HKS'000 (%)
T#ET (%) TET %) FTET (%)
Cost of sales SHEM A
Cost of inventories and consumables 72 & Kz JHFE f Al 4 71,954 86.7 61,594 88.2 10,360 16.8
Depreciation TE 2,076 2.5 1,561 22 515 330
Overheads EIEEZID®N 2,605 3.1 1,989 28 616 310
Direct labour costs BB IMA 6,355 7.7 4,662 6.7 1,693 363
Total it 82,990 100.0 69,806 1000 13,184 189
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The cost of sales primarily consists of costs of inventories and consumables,
depreciation on plant and machinery, overheads and direct labour costs
relating to its production. The Group’s cost of sales increased from
approximately HK$69.8 million for FY2022 by approximately 18.9% or HK$13.2
million to HK$83.0 million for the Reporting Period, which was primarily due to
the increase in revenue and the need to produce a different product mix
during the year.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses of the Group increased from HK$15.9 million for
FY2022 by approximately 95.0% or HK$15.1 million to approximately HK$31.0
million for the Reporting Period. Such increase was attributed to an increase in
depreciation charges of approximately HK$1.0 million, an increase in office
expense of approximately HK$0.3 million, an increase in donation fee of
approximately HK$3.0 million, an increase in listing expenses related to the
Transfer of Listing of approximately HK$8.5 million, and a net increase in other
administrative expenses of approximately HK$2.3 million as compared to
FY2022. Other administrative expenses mainly represent the provision for
auditor's remuneration and the legal and professional fees, which assisted the
Group to enhance its corporate governance and compliance aspects.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
HK$22.0 million for the Reporting Period, as compared to approximately
HK$34.9 million for FY2022. Excluding the non-recurring listing expenses
related to the Transfer of Listing of approximately HK$12.4 million, being
charged to the condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the Reporting Period, profit attributable to shareholders of the Company
would have been approximately HK$34.4 million for the Reporting Period.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has financed its business with internally generated cash flows and
proceeds received from the Listing. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's cash
and cash equivalents were HK$60.0 million, increased by approximately 17.6%
or HK$9.0 million, as compared with HK$51.0 million as at 31 December 2022.
The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in profit and net off by
utilisation of the one-off receipt of proceeds from the Listing in 2019 and
dividend. Bank deposits and cash were principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, United States dollars, Japanese Yen and Renminbi. The Group will
continue to use the internally generated cash flows and proceeds received
from the Listing as a source of funding for future developments.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total current assets and current liabilities
were approximately HK$140.0 million (as at 31 December 2022: HK$122.8
million) and HKS$17.0 million (as at 31 December 2022: HK$5.5 million)
respectively, representing a current ratio of 8.2 times (as at 31 December 2022:
22.3 times). As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank borrowings of
approximately HK$8.1 million (31 December 2022: Nil) and the gearing ratio of
the Group was 5.5% (as at 31 December 2022: 0%). The gearing ratio equals
total interest bearing bills payables divided by total equity and multiplied by
100%.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the share capital of the Group comprised only
ordinary shares. The capital structure of the Group mainly consists of
obligations under finance leases and equity attributable to owners of the
Group, comprising issued share capital, share premium, retained profits and
other reserves.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

On 15 November 2019, the Company issued a total of 100,000,000 shares by
way of Hong Kong public offering and placing at a price of HK$0.55 per share
(the “Share Offer”), and successfully listed its shares on GEM of the Stock
Exchange. The net proceeds of the Share Offer received by the Company in
relation to the Listing after the deduction of underwriting fees and
commissions and all related expenses were approximately HK$28.4 million.
Pursuant to the announcement dated 9 September 2020 issued by the
Company (the “Announcement’), the Board announced and resolved to
change the use of the net proceeds as set out in the prospectus. As at the
report date, the Directors consider that these proceeds have been applied in
accordance with the proposed application set out in the section headed
“Future Plans and Proposed Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 31 October 2019 (the “Prospectus”) and as amended in the
Announcement.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEEBRIZERERAD
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Details of the revised allocation of the net proceeds, the utilisation of the net ~ FRISFIE B RER KB T DB ~ FRIEIB 35
proceeds as at 31 December 2023 and the remaining balance of the net WKW E - =ZHF+-_B=+—HWFHHERX
proceeds as at 31 December 2023 are set out as follows: FriSmIEFERN T _=F+_"A=+—H

BUBREREFIBEDIANT ©

Use of Net Proceeds FRISTIEREAR
Amount of
NetProceeds  Amount of
utilised  Net Proceeds Total Amount of
between utilised ~ amountof  NetProceeds
Revised Revised 15November  duringthe NetProceeds remaining  Expected
percentage allocation 2019and  yearended utilised upto asat timeline
of Net ofNet 31December 31December 31December  31December forthe
Proceeds Proceeds 2022 2023 2023 2023 intended use
- 2 K
+-A+&A
3 #E
“E-CE CEBC: EZ R
+ZR +ZR ZBZ= k- ek
=+-B =t+-H +ZA +ZA
{BFRE R HHER LEE =+-B =t-H

Bz PN iR BRZFR BRZME ZBTHAR
L] Bz WERE  WERE  NMERE  WERE RREREZ
BRLL  EEINE &8 &8 #H & RHRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK000 HK$000
TR TERL TR TR TER

Toacquire and replace machineriesand ~ WEE R B A4 Rk 1 606% 17210 17210 0 17210 - NATER
equipment withanaimtoenhanceand ~ LURH RIBE
expand our production capacityatour MBI BRI
production facilties in Dongquan, the PRC ~ BIZEAE

Toenlarge our market share and BAMBHERIR 44% 1246 1246 0 1246 - NATER
strengthen our marketing efforts SHNE
Toincrease our level of automation RREHLKT 76% 2,158 2158 0 2158 - NATER
To establish our ERP system R AL 60% 1,704 837 1 848 856 Q4 of 2024
“ITpmE
FMEE
Toexpand our finance department HEIBYM 5.0% 1420 854 45 1,289 131 Q4of 2024
“ETpmE
FMEE
To enhance staff training Mg TE 08% 207 16 0 16 M Qhof 2024
“EQmE
FMEE
Working capital BEES 156% 4435 4435 - 4435 - NATER
100% 28400 267% 46 27202 1,198
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group has utilised approximately HK$272 million R _E_=ZF+_A=+—H > xEBDH)
of the net proceeds and has approximately HK$1.2 million unutilised, which ~ FB&272 A BB THRAEHIEREE > MBN12H8
was deposited with licensed banks in Hong Kong. It is expected that the BB ITARENA » EHRINEBIIFIEIRIT o 85t

Group will utilise all the net proceeds in 2024.

AEERIR S _NEEBEESTURFE

Comparison of business objectives and actual business EGEHEREREFERZLER

progress

The following is a comparison between the Group’s business plans as set out U FBHRBRERZ M _E-_FTFEHLANH
in the Prospectus which were revised on 9 September 2020, and the Group's ~ &1E5]) AL B =K tE R AEERSHEE

actual business progress for the Reporting Period:

Business plan as set out in the Prospectus

Bt BRERENERE

BEREBER

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2023

RZE=5+"A=+—BHNEREHER

To acquire and replace machineries and equipment with
an aim to enhance and expand our production capacity at
our production facilities in Dongguan, the PRC

hEl R SRV E RIS B R BN R LR T
EEAE

To enlarge our market share and strengthen our marketing
efforts

‘AT HMNERMABZHNE

The Group purchased 21 units of machines and fully utilised the
proceeds of HK$17.2 million attributable for such purpose. 20 of
them (including high speed milling machines and raceway
quenching machines) are currently in use for our production, while
one machine is currently being tested.
AEECEE_+ el URMBAEMERIEIT2ES
BTARILEAR HARAZ+AHES (BESREEEARTNER
BEXER) BREARKRMNEE M—aHMERER
AlE o

In light of the COVID-19 outbreak in 2020 and the quarantine
measures implemented and travel restrictions imposed by the PRC
and other countries, the Group had withdrawn its enrolment to
several trade exhibitions and will rework its future marketing plans.
BN 2 -BFIJEECOVID-19%BIE > UkFEKREMBERE
FeFRREFE A BRI R B RS 0 FEECEHS REEE SR
BE > UREMBEHERKREHTE -

During recent years and in 2023, the Group increased the workforce
in the sales department to strengthen the sales support. In addition,
the Group hired a consultant to design the web pages for the Group
and to provide advice on promotion strategies.
RIRFERZZBZ=F > AEEAHEMIEMAL > LUIN5RTE
MEHEEH - B AEEEFEBARMRAMELIR
HEFERENRR o
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Business plan as set out in the Prospectus Actual business progress as at 31 December 2023
HNIBREEMNERHE R-E_=F+"A=+—HHNEREHER

To increase our level of automation The Group is working out plans with service providers concerning
e B E#EKFE the development of new equipments for automation and the

redevelopment of the existing equipments to enhance the
automation level. The plans included the integration of smart
automation solutions in the production process. The Group has
installed robotic arms to increase the automation level and
production in gear chamfering. The Group has also acquired an
automatic packaging machine and a CNC Coordinate Measuring
Machine. The major goals of these plans are to facilitate production
and quality control, and to reduce manual work and time needed.
AEBEERBHEEEHREBFMBEN BN CRERERH
BRFRESE > MRS BEFEKE - 58I BHERKEER
HERRASRESELEBRE -AEECLZEERMFE > U
RABDEKTREGEALEE - AEBTBA—S8HE
HEREERBIZLRASHE - BRAENTIEZBERAREL
R B RS o ORI PRI A F TR AR o

To establish our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system ~ The Group appointed a system service provider to develop a system

R EEIRRE (ERP) R4t to enhance data management, especially in the areas of staff
attendance, payroll accounting and other aspects such as document
control, enabling the Group to track and monitor the production
process. There are modules created for the system which are being
tested and are expected to come into use in 2024.
FEBDEERGARBEER > UHE—ERREAHEE
BYE, CHRETIETY s IERERXEEREHMAE
TWrAEAEB B R EREEBIE o ALbRAMRAGE
ETRE BN S - NERAGA o

Meanwhile, the Group has improved the current system by
increasing the capacity and efficiency in data processing.

B > ZEEBZBRABBERENENNEFTHI > KER

BR&% -
To expand our finance department The Group recruited a senior accountant and an accountant in the
B 5B PT third quarter of 2020 and the second quarter of 2021 respectively to

accommodate the increase in our business scale and production
capacities. We will continue to watch out for high-quality candidates
to strengthen the finance department, to cope with the expanded
line of businesses and revenue.
FEEEDHE_E_EFE=FER_T_—FE_FE
BIESRESTAI R E5AT > BN ERRE R EFENIGM -
BMSEERISREBREAN > INRMBHPINE S > UE
HHEHEB RS HENERX
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Business plan as set out in the Prospectus

HRBREENESHE

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2023

RIE=5+"A=1+—HBNEREHER

To enhance staff training
fnsa &8T5

To maintain sound working capital for operation

MRRENEEES

During 2020 and 2021, three of our trained employees were awarded
ISO quality management system certificates.

R _EBFERTET—F > RFNEITHRE = AWIEFISO
HEEERRES -

The Group prepared training courses for a number of personnel. An
employee in the quality assurance department received training in
metrology to further strengthen our quality assurance process.
ﬂi%l?%y% ANBEEEIIRE - — BT ESREBHBPINE
STEE2HEMNIE o LIE—FIERBRMNESREIBIE

In 2022, we engaged a training organisation in Dongguan, the PRC
to provide training courses for our new employees. While some
scheduled trainings have been put on hold, the trainings will
recommence in 2024.

ES o )i T %%—F‘aﬁiﬁéﬂﬂfﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
HFINRE-METEAEHENNBE > ZFHIRNR-ZF
“PUFERL o

The re-allocation of net proceeds from the strengthening of
marketing efforts to supplementing the sound working capital for
the operation of the Company will be beneficial to meet the current
operation needs of the Group, to increase its financial flexibility, and
to provide a bigger buffer to cope with the future economic
uncertainty.

REER AT HERENPISRIEFRENDE > LUHETAE
REIEEMBENREREEES  RAENNREAERBAIN
SEFEEMEMBEIY > URHEESEEURMRR
B EERE °

As at 31 December 2023, the Group utilised approximately HK$4.4
million as working capital for the research and development of on-
going operations, including the development of new products and
services by manufacturing mechanical parts and components for
machineries besides slewing rings.

R _E_=F+"R=+—H"> K%lE@Jﬁﬁ Na4BBBIT
FRMEFBCENSEES  OFRBREMREE X AIN
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any significant investment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 96 employees (as at 31 December
2022: 82 employees). Remuneration is determined with reference to the
prevailing market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification
and experience of each individual employee. The emoluments of the Directors
are recommended by the Remuneration Committee of the Company, with
reference to their respective contribution of time, effort and expertise on the
Company’s matters. In addition, employees are entitled to performance and
discretionary year-end bonuses.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group is required to maintain an aggregate
amount of bank deposits of at least HK$10,000,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$5,000,000) for the Group’s banking facilities of which
HK$5,000,000 was charged pursuant to the terms of the banking facilities (as
at 31 December 2022: Nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due to changes in foreign exchange
rates. The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to USD and RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which are denominated in these
currencies. Currently, the Group has not entered into any agreement or
arrangement to hedge the Group's exchange rate risks.
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Any material fluctuation in the exchange rates of HKD or RMB may have an
impact on the operating results of the Group. The exchange rate of RMB to
HKD is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. The Group manages foreign currency
risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.

With respect to USD, the management considers that the foreign exchange
risk is not significant as HKD is pegged to USD and transactions denominated
in USD are mainly carried out by entities with the same functional currency.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

DIVIDEND

During the year, no interim dividend was paid. (2022: an interim dividend of
HK2.0 cents per share amounting to HK$8,000,000, was paid on 12 December
2022).

The Board now recommends the payment of final dividend HK4.0 cents per
share to the shareholders, amounting to a total sum of HK$16,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: final dividend HK4.0 cents per share to
the shareholders, amounting to a total sum of HK$16,000,000, was paid on 5
July 2023).

PROSPECTS

On 29 September 2023, the Company has been successfully transferred listing
from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. This remarkable success
facilitated our Group in raising public awareness and profile as well as our
recognition from existing and new customers. The Group has achieved
business growth and expanded sources of income since the GEM Listing. The
Directors consider that the Main Board generally enjoys a premium status and
recognition by the public investors and customers and that the Transfer of
Listing will further promote the Group's corporate profile and position in the
industry which will assist the Company in obtaining outside financing and on
better commercial terms. It has also greatly assisted the Group in its business
development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group's goal is to strengthen its position as a premium slewing rings
manufacturer, and to leverage on its competitive advantages as a provider of
other mechanical parts and components and machineries so as to expand the
scale of its operation and increase profit margin. The Group also aims to
increase its competitiveness in the fragmented slewing ring manufacturing
industry by (i) increasing the Group's efficiency and productivity; (ii) raising the
quality of the Group’s products; and (iii) reducing the Group’s costs of
production and the Group's reliance on manpower. To achieve such
objectives, the Group will continue to implement the following strategies:

acquiring and replacing machineries and equipment with an aim to
enhance and expand our production capacity at our production
facilities in Dongguan, the PRG;

enlarging our market share and strengthening our marketing efforts;
increasing our level of automation;

establishing our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system;
expanding our finance department; and

enhancing staff training.

The Group is also positioned as one of the fastest growing “comprehensive
products” providers in the field. Despite there remain many uncertainties in
the global economy including high interest rate, slow down of development
in China, the upcoming U.S. Presidential election in November, the Directors
do anticipate that the Group's sourcing business will continue to grow. With a
proven track record and strong foothold in the industry, the Group will remain
cautious and endeavor to maintain a steady growth in its sourcing business
and continue to broaden its business scope to maximize the return for the
Company's shareholders in the present challenging environment. In the
foreseeable future, the Group intends to expand its products coverage in
sourcing to include minerals and related products to enhance revenue and
profitability.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREERE

As at 19 March 2024, the date of the Report of the Directors, the biographical
details of the directors (the “Director(s)”) and senior management of Best
Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (BRYE #7 5T &) (‘Mr. YP Chan’), aged 44, is the executive
Director, chief executive officer and chairman of our Board, and one of the
Controlling Shareholders of our Company. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. Since 2007, Mr. YP Chan has been responsible for the
overall management of our Group, including sales and business development
as well as strategic planning. He was appointed director of Wing Fung, Kyoei
Seiki and Best Linking in June 2007, August 2007 and December 2018
respectively and was appointed Director on 26 October 2018 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 12 March 2019

Mr. YP Chan is an entrepreneur with over 16 years of operational experience.
He was involved in the trading of machineries and spare parts in Hong Kong
and manufacture and sales of spare parts in the PRC. After completing the
advanced Japanese language course at the Japanese Language Institute of
Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan in 2004, Mr. YP Chan worked as a sales and
marketing executive in a company engaged in distribution and exportation of
confectionery and related products from December 2004 to December 2005
in Sapporo, Japan, which enabled him not only to further his Japanese
language skill, but also gave him the opportunity to develop his network
within the Japanese business community. After returning to Hong Kong,
starting from January 2006, Mr. YP Chan worked in South Wing Machinery
Company Limited, a company which specialised in the trading of new and
used construction machineries, with his last position as a sales and marketing
executive and gained experience in the sale and supply of heavy duty
equipment and parts industry. In September 2007, he founded Kyoei Seiki
through Wing Fung which is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
sales of slewing rings. Mr. YP Chan has then established and maintained
business relationship with general wholesalers or traders of machineries or
parts in Asia, USA, Europe and Japan and gained valuable experience in the
manufacture and sale of spare parts for machineries.

Mr. YP Chan completed his Form 7 education in Avondale College in Auckland,
New Zealand. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. YP Chan attended Auckland University
of Technology and took courses in business computing, applied science and
information technology. In March 2004, Mr. YP Chan obtained a certificate in
advanced Japanese language course at the Japanese Language Institute of
Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan.

Mr. YP Chan is the elder brother of Mr. LP Chan, who is also an executive
Director of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chan Lung Pan (BRBEM 4c4E) (“Mr. LP Chan”), aged 42, was appointed
an executive Director on 12 March 2019. He first joined our Group in
November 2005 as director and shareholder of Wing Fung, an investment
holding company incorporated in Hong Kong. Mr. LP Chan resigned from his
directorship in Wing Fung in April 2011 to pursue other career development
and rejoined our Company in March 2019 as an executive Director. He is also
the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee. He is responsible for human resources
management of our Group.

Mr. LP Chan has over 19 years of experience in procurement and
management. He commenced his career in South Wing Machinery Company
Limited, a company which specialised in the trading of new and used
construction machineries, in September 2003 as a trainee. He was
subsequently promoted to the post of purchase and sales manager from 1
April 2009 to 30 September 2011,
management, inventory control, contract negotiations, department co-
1 January 2012 and 12 March
2019, Mr. LP Chan worked as a manager overseeing purchasing and human

being responsible for purchase
ordination and complaints handling. Between

resources management at Pacific Infinity Resources Holdings Limited and was
a consultant of the same company from 13 March 2019 to 12 April 2019.

Mr. LP Chan attended Avondale College in Auckland, New Zealand, where he
was enrolled as an international student in Year 12 from February 1998 to
November 1999. He obtained his school certificate from the New Zealand
Qualifications Authority in New Zealand in 1999 and later studied Japanese in
Tohoku Foreign Language and Tourism College in Japan from October 2000
to March 2002.

Mr. LP Chan is the youngest brother of Mr. YP Chan, also an executive Director
of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (BR5A & 5545 ) (“Mr. Adrian Chan’), aged 45,
was appointed an independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019.
He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee. He is
responsible for overseeing the areas with regard to the strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, internal control, corporate governance and
providing independent advice to our Group.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREERE

Mr. Adrian Chan graduated from the University of New South Wales, Australia
with a bachelor degree in commerce in accounting and finance in April 2000.
He has been a member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since June 2006 and November 2009
respectively.

Mr. Adrian Chan has over 10 years of experience in the field of corporate
finance. He started his career with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and worked in
the audit department of the firm from January 2000 to March 2000. Mr. Adrian
Chan then worked in various financial institutions and investment banks
between April 2000 and November 2009, including DBS Vickers Securities
from April 2000 to December 2001, with his last position as an executive in the
corporate finance department, DBS Asia Capital Limited from January 2002 to
July 2005, with his last position as assistant vice president in equity capital
markets, wholesale banking-global financial markets, and UOB Asia (Hong
Kong) Limited from July 2005 to November 2009, with his last position as
associate director.

After leaving UOB Asia (Hong Kong) Limited in November 2009, Mr. Adrian
Chan switched his career from corporate finance to financial management.
From November 2009 to June 2015, he was the chief financial officer of Enviro
Energy International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1102), where he was
responsible for overall financial management, internal control function and
accounting function. Since July 2015, Mr. Adrian Chan has served as the chief
financial officer of Sun Ray Capital Investment Corporation, a private
investment company based in Hong Kong, since July 2018, Mr. Adrian Chan
has served as the chief financial officer of LabyRx Immunologic Therapeutics
Limited a bio-medical company focused on developing a comprehensive
platform for treating adenocarcinomas. Since August 2018, Mr. Adrian Chan
has served as the chief financial officer of Lifespans Limited, a medical device
start-up company, and since January 2021, Mr. Adrian Chan has served as a
regional director of The CFO (HK) Limited, a company providing part-time
chief financial officers services.
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Directors and Senior Management
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The details of directorship held in other publicly listed companies by Mr.
Adrian Chan are as follows:

Principal business

activities of
Company name the company Stock Code Stock Exchange Position Duration
AGEL ] ACILSE S ) RipRSE HEHEXEFH i HAR
Grand Baoxin Auto Sales and service of 01293 Main Board of the Independent non-executive  November 2011 to
Group Limited motor vehicles Stock Exchange director June 2021
EEEESEER A E RARES 01293 B2 EA4R BUFRTER 22—
BRAH +—RZ
T -F5KA
Petromin Resources Ltd. Petroleum and natural gas PTRH Toronto Venture Director, chief financial officer December 2015 to
exploration and production Stock Exchange and corporate secretary March 2018
Petromin Resources Ltd. BRRRARUMEREE  PTRH EZCEQEN 7w EX HBOEREK “ZT-hfF
RAM REME +ZE=®
“Z2-N\E=R
Cheerwin Group Limited Development and 06601 Main Board of the Independent non-executive  February 2021 to
manufacturing of household Stock Exchange director present
care, pet product and
personal care
AEEEERAT KEEEBAEER 06601 B AR BIFRITER ZET-FTR
BYREERLE ES
Regent Pacific Group Limited  Healthcare and life sciences 00575 Main Board of the Independent non-executive  April 2023 to present
(formerly known as investments Stock Exchange director
Endurance RP Limited)
BRATFERERAE REREHREZRE 00575 BT AR BUFRTER St )=
(AEASREEER B
RE)
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREERE

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam (B I5E& % 1) (‘Ms. Tsang"), aged 50, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. She is
responsible for overseeing the areas with regard to the strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, internal control, corporate governance and
providing independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Tsang graduated from The University of Melbourne, Australia with a
bachelor degree in commerce in December 1996 and a master degree in
practising accounting from Monash University, Australia in November 2000.
She has been a member of CPA Australia since July 2001.

Ms. Tsang has over 26 years of experience in the field of taxation. She started
her career in PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and had worked with the
firm from February 1997 to March 2003, with her last position as senior
consultant, where she obtained experience in tax compliance matters.
Between November 2004 and February 2007, Ms. Tsang worked in Ross
Melville PKF in Auckland, New Zealand with her last position as tax consultant.
She then rejoined PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong as senior consultant
in February 2007 and stayed with the firm until April 2010 with her last
position as manager. Between April 2010 and April 2015, Ms. Tsang was
employed by BDO Limited with her last position as tax principal of Hong Kong
tax team. Since April 2015, Ms. Tsang held different positions in Phoenix
Property Investors (H.K) Limited, a private equity real estate investment group
and was responsible for overseeing the tax matters, which she was a vice
president from April 2015 to May 2020, and then a consultant since June 2020.

Ms. Tam Ho Ting (38 AJ & Z &) ("Ms. Tam”), aged 45, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee and the
chairlady of the Remuneration Committee. She is responsible for overseeing
the areas with regard to the strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
internal control, corporate governance and providing independent advice to
our Group.

Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor degree in business administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 2000. In January 2008, she was
admitted as an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. Ms. Tam has been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since July 2009 as well as a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since October 2015.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Tam has over 24 years of work experience in the accounting and financial
work sector. Before joining our Group, Ms. Tam worked in various accounting
firms and multi-national companies. She started her career in the assurance
and business advisory department in Moores Rowland (HK) CPA Limited and
worked there from September 2000 to December 2002, with her last position
as associate lll. From December 2002 to March 2004, Ms. Tam worked as an
assistant manager in KPMG, Hong Kong. From April 2004 to June 2007, she
worked in Hutchison Telecommunications (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings
Limited (stock code: 215), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with her final position as senior accountant in the finance and
administration division. From June 2007 to August 2010, Ms. Tam worked in
Avery Dennison Hong Kong, B.V,, with her last position as finance manager in
the production and costing sector of the financial planning and analysis
department. Ms. Tam then worked as manager in the financial analysis
department in Hasbro Far East Limited from August 2011 to August 2013.
Since November 2013, Ms. Tam has provided accounting and book-keeping
services to private companies engaged in various sectors of industries in Hong
Kong, including pharmacy services and other services. In September 2018, Ms.
Tam established CT Business Services Limited which was principally involved
in the provision of accounting and book-keeping services.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert (B3 B3 5t &) (“Mr. Chan’), aged 36, joined our
Group as the chief financial officer on 1
appointed the chief operation officer and company secretary of our Group on

November 2018. He was later

12 March 2019. He is also a member of the Corporate Governance Committee.
He is primarily responsible for overseeing overall accounting, financial
management, operation and compliance functions and company secretarial
matters.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor degree in commerce (accounting) from
Macquarie University in Australia in September 2009. He further obtained a
master’s degree in financial analysis from The University of New South Wales
in Australia in August 2010. Mr. Chan has been a member of CPA Australia
since December 2013.
Mr. Chan has over 12 years of work experiences in accounting and
finance covering a vast range of clientele including manufacturing and food
and beverage industries. From December 2010 to October 2013, Mr. Chan
worked in BDO Limited, with his last position as senior associate, where he
participated in the annual audit and special engagement of listed companies
in Hong Kong. From October 2013 to July 2018, Mr. Chan worked in
PricewaterhouseCoopers, with his last position as manager in assurance
practice, where he has been involved in audits for public, sizable private and
multinational companies as well as initial public offerings.

Ms. Chen Fang (PR 75 Z =) (‘Ms. Chen"), aged 52, is our financial controller
and assistant to the chief executive officer. Ms. Chen joined the finance
department of our Group in September 2007. She is primarily responsible for
overseeing the financial and accounting management of Kyoei Seiki.

Ms. Chen graduated from Shaanxi Labor College (BRPE TiEE2[) in the PRC
in July 1998 with a diploma in computing and accounting (5 & 14 B & 5+ =
%) and has over 17 years of experience in accounting work. Prior to joining
our Group, between January 2002 and December 2003, Ms. Chen worked in
Guangzhou Baili Engineering Machinery Parts Co,, Ltd* (E M HE T2
WECFABRAT), a company which is specialised in the sales of engineering
machinery parts in Guangzhou, the PRC in the accounting department.
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The directors of the Company submit their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S SHARE
OFFER

The aggregate net proceeds from the Share Offer (after deducting listing
related expenses borne by the Company) amounted to approximately
HKS$28.4 million. The proposed application of net proceeds as stated in the
Prospectus has been adjusted according to the principles and proposed
percentage of utilisation as specified in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus and amended pursuant to the
announcement of the Company dated 9 September 2020. The use of net
proceeds from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023 is included in the
section "Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 31.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Year as required by Schedule 5 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of the Group's
business, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the “"Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages
12 to 31 of this annual report and the section headed “Risk Management and
Internal Control” on page 65 of the Corporate Governance Report in this
annual report. In addition, discussion on Group’s environmental policies and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant
impact on the Group are contained in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 71 to 121 of this annual report. The discussion
forms part of this directors' report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income in page 129.

During the year, no interim dividend was paid. (2022: an interim dividend of
HK2.0 cents per share, amounting to HK$8,000,000, was paid on 12 December
2022).

The Board now recommends the payment of final dividend HK4.0 cents per
share to the shareholders, amounting to a total sum of HK$16,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Final Dividend") (2022: final dividend
HK4.0 cents per share to the shareholders, amounting to a total sum of
HK$16,000,000, was paid on 5 July 2023). The Final Dividend, if approved, shall
be payable on Friday, 7 June 2024 and is subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting on
Friday, 17 May 2024. The shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company at the close of business on Friday, 24 May 2024 will
be entitled to the Final Dividend.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM
to be held on Friday, 17 May 2024, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 13 May 2024 to Friday, 17 May 2024 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares in the Company will be
effected. In order to qualify for entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting, all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company's Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 10 May 2024.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 23
May 2024 to Friday, 24 May 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares in the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for
entitlement in the proposed Final Dividend, all transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the
Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22 May 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of Cayman Islands
which oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

DONATION

Charitable donations of approximately HK$3.0 million were made by the
Group during the year (2022: HK$12,500).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in Note
21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Report of the Directors
EFEHRS

HEmERmMBRELFE

HEFERAEEERN T -_NFRA+tR (2
HE) BTHRREBFREANELRE &
RBRR_Z_NFRB+=H EH=E
“ETMERA+tH (BHL) A (88
BMX) GERERNBRELFE -HTE
BEFERERBAFAGRNELRE  BHFE
“ZTNERAB+H (EHR) TFEE=1
DH RAPIBBRXHERBERRERESR

NENEBRNDIBEEL D REEEFER
BERAT  #iUt AT BERBI6RERTR
1718 o

K@ﬂﬁ%h:;:@fﬁﬁﬁ_ﬂ—zlﬂ (2H3m)

“ETNERATHR (BHRR) BB (8
%EF’W%) HEMERNBRELTFE -~
BEREAEERIRE > BFEET_T_HF
ERAZ+ZHEBRD TFHE=+25H
RETAE ﬁX#@ﬂ*ﬁ%ﬁHﬁ?&L%K@TE’J
BEBERMNBERE Jfﬁfﬂﬁ%ﬁaﬂﬁl‘ﬁ“
8 A E /%E_ BI6SHRRERFN 1718 o

ME - BERSRE
REBENYE - BEKRRK
EEHRRMEE15 0

BB REE

QB EIZAA) (M EIZAA) 5

%ﬁ%E%%TW%@%%%%W? RE

%K‘@@Jui ‘ﬁa \uvT

ATIREHREERIREREIREHERRRD -
;EI\E

FER > REBEHEESEEN30EE BT (T
T T 125008 7T) o

Rz s

AEENRASBFBEHNGESHBRERMN
5210

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

—E-—cgaRy



Report of the Directors
EFEHRS

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and Notes 22
and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had reserves available for distribution
amounting to HK$23.9 million (2022: HK$22.6 million).

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANT RELATING TO
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Reference is made to the announcements dated 18 June 2021 and 14 July
2022 issued by the Company with regard to a trading facility granted by DBS
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited ("DBS”).

On 14 July 2022, DBS has pursuant to its periodic review agreed to increase
the trading facility of up to HK$15,000,000 for Best Linking Limited, which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Best Linking Limited and
the Company, as borrower and corporate guarantor respectively, entered into
a revised banking facility letter with DBS (the “Facility Letter A") on terms
and conditions contained therein, including right of DBS to review the facility
from time to time, customary overriding right of DBS to demand repayment
any time, as well as the right to call for cash cover on demand for prospective
or contingent liability.

Pursuant to the terms of the Facility Letter A, among other things, during the
term of the Facility Letter A, (i) Best Linking Limited shall remain an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (i) the Company shall procure Mr.
YP Chan to remain as the director of the Company and Best Linking Limited;
and (i) Mr. YP Chan shall continue to be the single largest shareholder and
hold not less than 50% of the beneficial interest of the Company and Best
Linking Limited. As at the date of this report, Mr. YP Chan’s beneficial interest
in each of the Company and Best Linking Limited is 75%. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 14 July 2022 for more details.
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On 28 February 2023, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited ("HSBC") as lender and the Company as corporate guarantor, entered
into a banking facility letter (the “Facility Letter B") under which HSBC agreed
to make available to Best Linking a trading facility of up to HK$16,000,000, on
the terms and conditions contained therein, including HSBC's right to review
the facility from time to time, HSBC's customary overriding right to demand
repayment any time, as well as the right to call for cash cover on demand for
prospective or contingent liability.

Pursuant to the terms of the Facility Letter B, among other things, during the
term of the Facility Letter B, (i) Best Linking Limited shall remain an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (i) the Company shall procure Mr.
YP Chan to remain as the director of the Company and Best Linking Limited;
and (iii) Mr. YP Chan shall continue to be the major shareholder holding more
than 50% of the beneficial interest of the Company and Best Linking Limited.
As at the date of this report, Mr. YP Chan’s beneficial interest in each of the
Company and Best Linking Limited is 75%. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 28 February 2023 for more details.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report
were as follow:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam

Ms. Tam Ho Ting

Biographical details of the directors are set out in pages 32 to 38 of this annual
report.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each AGM,
provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three years.
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Accordingly, Mr. Chan Yuk Pan and Mr. Chan Lung Pan shall retire at the
forthcoming AGM and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company confirms that it has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director concerning his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and all independent non-executive
Directors are considered independent having regard to the independence
criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years and shall continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with the terms of the service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year and shall continue
thereafter until it is terminated by either party by giving not less than one
month'’s written notice to the other party.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the
Group are set out in Notes 7 and 10 to the consolidated financial statement.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executive Interests in Shares and Share
Options

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
the chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (the “SFO”)) which are
required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules are as
follows:
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Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company

RAEQE R REMRRGHGEE

Name of substantial shareholder capacity/

Percentage of interest

Total number of in the Company’s

nature of interest share(s) held issued capital

REATB#IT
TERRNNE BEBES EEtHE FR¥FRR 1D 482X RAEEENE DL
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan’s Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1) 300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
RIS AR AR (FsE1) 300,000,000 B &5 (L) 75%

Note 1: Mr. YP Chan legally and beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of C Centrum
Holdings Limited (“C Centrum”) and is its sole director. Accordingly, Mr. YP Chan is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2: The letter “L" denotes “Long position” in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the directors or
chief executives had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company or Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interest and short positions which he was taken or deemed
to have under provision of the SFO) or as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to the Model Code in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.
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Share Option Scheme

Our Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was approved by written resolutions passed by its
shareholders on 21 October 2019 and became unconditional on 15 November
2019. Our directors consider the purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
reward the participants defined under the Share Option Scheme for their past
contribution to the success of the Group and to provide incentive to them to
further contribute to our Group. The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarised under the paragraph headed “13. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus and in accordance with the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary of
the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

1.  Purpose and Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the
best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time and part-time), Directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners and service
providers of our Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group. The Board is entitled to determine and make an offer of
grant of an option to any eligible person.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten years
from the date of the grant of option.

2.  Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme
The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company must not exceed 10% of the total issued Shares of the
Company as at the Listing Date unless the Company obtains an
approval from the Shareholders. Therefore, the Company may grant
options of up to 40,000,000 Shares (or such number of Shares as result
from a subdivision or a consolidation of such 40,000,000 Shares from
time to time) to the participants under the Share Option Scheme.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company at
any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No option shall be granted under any scheme of the Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the limit being
exceeded.
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Maximum entitlement of Shares of each eligible participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
all the share options granted and to be granted to each participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue. Any further grant of options is subject to shareholders’ approval
in general meeting with such eligible participants and his associates
abstaining from voting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date on which the option is
offered to an eligible participant, provided that the period from such
date shall not be more than ten years after the adoption date of the
Share Option Scheme or after the termination of the Share Option
Scheme.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised

An offer for the grant must be accepted within seven days inclusive of
the day on which such offer was made.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option and the period
within which payments shall be made

The amount payable by the grantee to the Company on acceptance of
the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be at such price as
determined by our Board and notified to an eligible person, and shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date, which must be a
trading day, on which our Board passes a resolution approving the
making of an offer of grant of an option to an eligible participant; (i) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of grant of the share option.
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8. Theremaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to earlier termination of the Share Option Scheme by the
Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme
will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on
the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no
further share options shall be granted. All share options granted prior to
the expiry of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, no share option was granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2023
was the Company, or any of its holding companies, its subsidiaries or its fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable any of the Company's
directors or members of its management (including their spouse and children
under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, or had exercise any such rights in the Company or
other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Transaction, Arrangement or Contracts
of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
company was a party and in which any of the Company’s Directors or
members of its management had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted in the year ended 31 December 2023 or at any time
during the year.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS

Substantial Shareholder’s Interests in Shares and Share
Options

As at 31 December 2023, so far as known by the Directors, the following
persons/entities (not being a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) had
interest or short position in shares or underlying shares and debentures of
Company and its associated corporation which would be required to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as
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follows:

Percentage of interest

Name of substantial Total number of in our Company’s
shareholder capacity Nature of interest share(s) held issued capital
REQATE#T

FERRHUE BESS s FR{5 A& {5 48 2K RAEENE S
C Centrum Mote Beneficial owner 300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
C Centrum & EmEAA 300,000,000 & A% (L) 75%
Ms. Leung Tak Yee Note2 Interest of Spouse 300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
RiEFHr L W FCiB s 300,000,000 F& A% (L) 75%

Note 1: The entire issued share capital of C Centrum is legally and beneficially owned by Mr. Chan
Yuk Pan. Accordingly, Mr. Chan Yuk Pan is deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 Shares
held by C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2: Ms. Leung Tak Yee is the spouse of Mr. Chan Yuk Pan and is deemed to be interested in all
the underlying Shares that Mr. Chan Yuk Pan is interested through C Centrum by virtue of
the SFO.

Note 3: The letter “L" denotes “Long position” in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no other person (other than
director or chief executive of the Company) had any interest or short position
in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed to the
Company , or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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PURCHASE, SALES AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates is or was interested
in any business apart from the Group's business that competes or competed
or is or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group's
business at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed, no other equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2023 are set out in
Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group are set out
in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. The Directors consider
that those related party transactions did not fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules. The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenue for the year attributable to the Group's major
customers are as follows:
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FEEXRRMLER
AEEN T BE P RS ENRENE AL T

Sales HeE Percentage

Bt
The largest customer BRARR 19%
Five largest customers combined AAREFR &S 57%

The percentage of purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers are as follows:

AERNETEZHBHBGFENRBENETD
Eean s

Purchases RE Percentage

BAL
The largest supplier BRAHERS 15%
Five largest suppliers combined hARBEERSST 56%

None of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's share
capital) had an interest in the major customers or suppliers noted above.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its suppliers, customers and stakeholders to meet its immediate and
long-term goals. During the year, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its customers, suppliers and/or other stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a director of the Company. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises that good corporate governance is vital to the
success of the Group and to sustain the development of the Group. The
Company aims at complying with, where appropriate, all code provisions
(“Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles
and the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code of the Listing Rules.
Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company has complied, to the extent
applicable and permissible, with all Code Provisions set out in CG Code with
the exception of Code Provision C.2.1. Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code
stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. YP Chan currently
holds both positions during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report. As Mr. YP Chan has been responsible for the overall management of
the Group, including strategic planning as well as sales and business
development, the Board considered that Mr. YP Chan is the most suitable
candidate to hold these two positions.

Reference is made to an announcement dated 31 March 2022 issued by the
Company. The Board has established the Corporate Governance Committee
with effect from 31 March 2022 to continue the review of the corporate
governance policy and the practices of the Company and to ensure the
Company is up to date with the latest practices. The appointment of LY
Capital Limited as the Company's compliance adviser has come to an end on
31 March 2022.

Details of the principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the corporate governance report in pages 53 to 70 of
this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company has proposed to implement a share subdivision on the basis
the each existing Share of par value of HK$0.01 each be subdivided into two
subdivided Shares of par value of HK$0.005 each (the “Share Subdivision”).
And conditional upon the Share Subdivision becoming effective, the board lot
size for trading on the Stock Exchange be changed from 5,000 to 2,000.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 19 March 2024

@ BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEEBRIZERERAD

EEERTH

AAFRBEREFEEEGHAERBMIN KR
MRAERNERIFEEE - ARFHEET (N
58 EHRAMEC FrEEEERTE (TE
EERTA) B9FrATANFES (TFRNEX ) ©

AABMEEEABRDULHRAUEESE
ATRIFT SRR R TR B ERE - RIS
HiE > A B EEBRARATHERTNEST
PRERZEERTRIFTEH TR BB @
STAMASC B C2URBIB R RN EERT
A2 FRAMEX B C2MRIRTE » ERERITEAE
BOBERTESD  BEFREHE—ALHEE-
BRIEW RE BRI R BRESHBREEREREH
HREMERL ARREWEE—BEES
AEENEREERE QFEBRFEURBEE
REZER EFERSREWEESRE
BRI B R BB AE -

R AATHPA _E__F=R=+—
HHAS EREEMIUTEEREES B
TSI TF-R=+—HEEN UEES
BARNANEEERRERER > BEREARQ
BERNTHNEMNRIE N ZEREEARHE
RABARLNBEHBEENTHER S
—THE=ZRB=+—H#EE-

AABRANEBEEEARAERFSBHNAE
FRESBENEMNEEERRS °

HEHREN

KABREEEHRMOITM EEAZESKRE
B001 BTN E—RIRERMFAAMKER
E{E0.005 8 TR D (TRRIDIREEL) © 75
BHIFEERE REXMEENEFESE
B5 {11 FH 5,000 B B8 043 2,000 & B 47 ©

%2 Em

BOBOKESSHMNEBEBEZERTNEE
TERC-FA+ A=+ —HLEEERAUH
BE O URERE BNGERIEEBER
F-AADBERRBAFAERIEZARE
EREIBIKEE S EHFIBURES ©

REKREFZ

R IE

FERITHARS

HF8 > _EUFE=F+NH



Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period"). The Company wishes to
highlight the importance of the Board in ensuring effective leadership and
control of the Company, transparency and accountability of all aspects of
operations and that the business is conducted in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations.

The Company recognises that good corporate governance is vital to the
success of the Group and to sustain the development of the Group. The
Company aims at complying with, where appropriate, all code provisions
(“Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles
and the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code of the Listing Rules.
Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company has complied, to the extent
applicable and permissible, with all Code Provisions set out in CG Code with
the exception of Code Provision C.2.1 as explained under the paragraph
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a code regulating the securities transactions of
Directors and executive officers named in this annual report, on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealing as set out in the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry had been made to all Directors and relevant employees. They
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the
Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines regulating the
transactions of securities of the Company by senior management and
employees who are likely to be in possession of any inside information of the
Company.
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The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board,
which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company.

The Board reserves its powers over decision of all major matters which include,
inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgeting, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those which may involve conflict of interests of
substantial shareholder(s) or Director(s)), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters. The Board
has the full support from the executive Directors and the senior management
of the Company in discharging its responsibilities.

The Board has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at
least three independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”, each an “INED")
who represent more than one-third of the Board with at least one of them
who possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has received from each INED a written annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the
Nomination Committee has assessed the independence of each INED. The
Company is of the view that all INEDs fulfil the relevant independence
requirement throughout the Reporting Period. Each INED will inform the
Company in writing as soon as practicable if there is any change of
circumstances which may affect his/her independence.
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Composition
The Board has a balance of skills, wealth of experiences and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group.

The Board currently comprises five members, consisting of two executive
Directors and three INEDs. The balanced composition of executive and
independent non-executive members, as equal board members, upholds the
effective exercise of independent judgment of the Board.

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam

Ms. Tam Ho Ting

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationship between
the members of the Board, if any, are provided in the “Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report. Save as disclosed in the section
"Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, the Directors have
no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships with
each other.

Appointment, Re-Election and Removal of Directors
The Company has established formal and transparent procedures for the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.

All Directors are appointed for specific tenures subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and subject to re-election at the
annual general meeting.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years, which shall be renewed as
determined by the Board or the Shareholders of the Company. The
appointment of each of the executive Directors may be terminated by either
party in accordance with the terms thereof and retirement and re-election
provisions in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”).
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Each of the INEDs has accepted an appointment with the Company for an
initial term of one year and shall be automatically renewed for another year.
The appointment of each of the INEDs may be terminated by either party
giving at least one month written notice to the other, subject to relevant
terms of their respective appointments and the Articles.

Continuing Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors receive induction on the occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under applicable laws, rules and regulations and the Group’s
various governance and internal control policies. The Company also, at its
expense, arranges and provides suitable training for its Directors, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company
director.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
Secretary of the Company is responsible for maintaining and updating records
for the Directors’ training sessions. Up to the date of this report, the Directors
have participated in continuous professional development by attending
courses or studying relevant materials on the topics related to corporate
governance and recent updates of the relevant rules and regulations.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in respect of
legal action against the Directors and officers against loss or liability sustained
or incurred arising from or incidental to the execution of their duties. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis or on intervals as deemed
appropriate by the Board.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

According to Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG code, board meetings should be
held at least four times a year on a quarterly basis with active participation of a
majority of the Directors, either in person or through electronic means of
communication.

During the year, four regular Board meetings were held quarterly for, among
others, (i) reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance,
including the final results for the year ended 31 December 2022, quarterly
results for the three months ended 31 March 2023, interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2023 and results for the nine months ended 30
September 2023, (ii) the transfer of listing, and (iii) considering, reviewing and/
or approving the overall strategies and policies of the Company.
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All individual Directors have attended the four regular quarterly Board
meetings (not including other ad hoc Board meetings held from time to time
and any other meeting(s) of members of the Board in compliance with the CG
Code), committee meetings and general meeting during the year ended 31
December 2023. Attendance includes physical attendance and attendance by
telephone or video conference.

During the year, the Chairman also held a meeting with the INEDs without the
presence of other Directors.

Practices and Conduct of Board Meetings

A schedule of Board meetings dates is planned in the preceding year. At least
7 days’ formal notice of all regular Board meetings will be given to all Directors
and all Directors are given the opportunity to include matters for discussion in
the agenda. The agenda and Board papers for each meeting are sent to all
Directors at least 3 days in advance of every regular Board meeting.

The Company Secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is responsible for
preparing the agendas of board meetings, taking into account any matter the
Directors may propose to include, ensuring that all Directors are given
opportunity to include matters in the agendas and approving the agendas. To
enable the Directors to make informed decisions, agendas and accompanying
papers, together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are
sent to all Directors or all committees members at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors and committee
members appraised of the latest developments and/or financial position of
the Company. The Board and the individual Directors may contact the senior
management to make further enquires or when they require further
information, in addition to those volunteered by the senior management.

The Company Secretary attended all regular Board meetings and, whenever
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on statutory
compliance, corporate governance matters and to ensure that the Company's
policies and procedures were properly followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for preparing and keeping minutes of
all Board meetings and committee meetings. The minutes recorded sufficient
details of the meetings including matters considered, decisions reached,
concerns raised and dissenting views expressed, if any. Draft and final versions
of minutes are circulated to the Directors for comments and records within a
reasonable time after each meeting. The final version is kept by the Company
Secretary and opened for the Directors’ inspection.
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According to current Board practice, any material transaction or matter which
involves conflicting interests of a substantial shareholder or a Director, are
dealt with by a duly convened physical Board meeting, at which INEDs having
no material interest in the transaction should be present. Any Director or any
of their close associates having material interests in the transaction or matter
shall abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving such transactions.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 21 October
2019, for overseeing specific aspects of the Company'’s affairs. The Board has
also established the Corporate Governance Committee on 31 March 2022 to
take full account of the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, legal and regulatory compliance and professional development
of the Group’s management team. Each committee was established with
defined written terms of reference setting out its authorities and duties and
requiring the Committees to report back to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations (unless otherwise restricted by applicable legal or
regulatory requirements). To provide transparency, the terms of reference of
the Board committees are posted on the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s
websites and hard copies of the same are available to shareholders upon
request.
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Each Board committee, except the Corporate Governance Committee,
consists of a majority of INEDs. Chairman and members of each Board
committee as at the date of this report are set out below:

Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (Chairman)*
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Remuneration Committee
Ms. Tam Ho Ting (Chairlady)*
Mr. Chan Lung Pan**

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Nomination Committee
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman)**
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan*
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*

Corporate Governance Committee
Mr. Chan Lung Pan (Chairman)**

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan*

Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert***

* Independent non-executive Director

*¥

Executive Director

e Senior management

The Board committees have been provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request by its members, are able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expense.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. YP Chan currently holds both positions for the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report. As Mr. YP Chan has been
responsible for the overall management of the Group, including strategic
planning as well as sales and business development, the Board considered
that Mr. YP Chan is the most suitable candidate to hold these two positions.
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Audit Committee

Our Company established an Audit Committee on 21 October 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing
Rules and Code Provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the CG Code. The Audit
Committee comprises three INEDs; namely Mr. Adrian Chan, Ms. Tam and Ms.
Tsang. Mr. Adrian Chan, who has appropriate professional qualification and
experience in accounting matters, was appointed to serve as the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, the
followings:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function, compliance officer
or external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b)  to review the Company’s relationship with the external auditor with
reference to the work it performed, its fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and, if appropriate, removal of external auditor;

(c)  toreview the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, the Group's financial control, internal control and risk
management systems, including but not limited to adequacy of
resources available to its respective functions, staff qualifications and
experience and training programmes; and

(d)  to oversee the corporate governance matters and to consider and
identify risks of the Group and consider effectiveness of the Group’s
decision making processes in crisis and emergency situations and
approve major decisions affecting the Group's risk profile or exposure.

The written terms of reference describing the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee was prepared and adopted with reference to the CG Code and "A
Guide for The Formation of An Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31 December
2023 to review quarterly, half-yearly and final financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and risk
management systems, effectiveness of internal audit function, the auditor’s
independence and objectivity. Full minutes of the meetings are duly kept by
the Company Secretary and draft and final versions of the same have been
sent to all committee members for comments and records, within reasonable
time afterwards in accordance with the relevant Code Provisions. The Audit
Committee also met with the Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
twice during the year and recommended its re-appointment as the
Company's external auditor to the Board, which has taken no different view in
respect of the Audit Committee’s recommendation.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, there was no
material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that might cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Company'’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

Our Company established a nomination committee on 21 October 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27 of the Listing Rules
and Code Provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The nomination committee
comprises two INEDs and one executive Director: Mr. Adrian Chan, Ms. Tam
and Mr. YP Chan. Mr. YP Chan was appointed the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are (i) to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to the Board to complement our
Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified as
potential Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship; (iii) to assess the
independence of our INEDs; and (iv) to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
of Directors, in particular our chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee fulfils the function of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship based on a number of factors,
including expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal
integrity and time commitments of such individuals, business requirements of
the Group and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. External
recruitment agency may also be engaged to carry out the recruitment and
selection process when necessary.
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To facilitate sustainable and balanced development of the Company, the
Nomination Committee has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy"), which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Under
the Diversity Policy, the appointment and/or recommendation for
appointment will be based on objective criteria, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity of the Board, including, among others, the candidates’
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will consider to
set measurable objectives to implement the Diversity Policy and review such
objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriations and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving these objectives. Decisions of the
Nomination Committee are based on the merits and contribution of the
selected candidates. As at the date of this report, the Board is characterised by
significant diversity, regardless in terms of age, gender, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The Nomination Committee has also
adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which sets out the
selection criteria and procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director.
The selection criteria used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include,
inter alia, his/her academic background and professional qualifications,
relevant experience in the industry, character and integrity and whether he/
she can contribute to the diversity of the Board as detailed in the Diversity
Policy. The procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director is
summarised as follows:

— nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by any member of the
Nomination Committee or the Board;

—  evaluation of the candidate by the Board based on all selection criteria
set out in the Nomination Policy;

—  performing due diligence in respect of each candidate and making
recommendation for the Board's consideration and approval;

— in case of nomination of an INED, assessing the candidate's
independence under the relevant Code Provisions and the Listing Rules;

—  where nominating an INED for election at general meetings, having due
consideration of matters under Code Provision B.3.4;

— in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, reviewing the
candidate’s overall contribution and performance and making
recommendations to the Board and/or the shareholders for
consideration in connection with his/her re-election at general
meetings; and
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— convening a meeting of the Board to consider the appointment or re-
appointment of the candidate as a Director.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2023 to, amongst others, (i) review the structure, size, diversity and
composition of the Board; (i) assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and (iii) review and recommend the continuing
adoption of the Diversity Policy.

Remuneration Committee

Our Company established a remuneration committee on 21 October 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.25 to 3.27 of the
Listing Rules and Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The remuneration
committee comprises two INEDs and one executive Director: Mr. LP Chan, Ms.
Tam and Ms. Tsang. Ms. Tam was appointed chairlady of the remuneration
committee. The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
the structure relating to all Directors and senior management of our Group,
review performance-based remuneration and ensure none of our Directors is
in a position to determine his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets to review the remuneration
policy and structure and determine the annual remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management and other related matters. The human
resources department is responsible for collection and administration of the
human resources data and proposing the remuneration structure and
remuneration packages of the individual executive Director and senior
management to the Remuneration Committee for consideration. The
Remuneration Committee shall consider and consult the Chairman and/or the
Board about these proposals.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2023 to review and recommend the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management, to establish a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy for the remuneration of the Directors, assess
the performance of the executive Directors and approve the terms of their
respective service contracts.
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The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

#rEMAR R

Remuneration bands

BE_ZE_=-F+-_A=+t—HLFEZE
B DN S REEEMEFHINEHTIWT

Number of
individuals

A

Nil to HK$500,000 E 5 500,000 78 7T

HK$500,001 to HK$1,500,000

500,001 78 75 2 1,500,000 78 7T

Further particulars relating to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing
Rules are set out in Note 7 and Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Corporate Governance Committee

Reference is made to an announcement dated 31 March 2022 issued by the
Company. The Board has established a corporate governance committee (the
"CG Committee”) with effect from 31 March 2022 to continue the review of
the corporate governance policy and the practices of the Company and to
ensure the Company is up to date with the latest practices. The CG Committee
is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties and
determining the relevant policies of the Company, which includes i)
developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations to the Board; ii) reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and the senior management; iii) reviewing and monitoring the
Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct,
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; v)
reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in this
Corporate Governance Report, reviewing the shareholders communication
policy and making recommendations to the Board where appropriate to
enhance effective communications between the Company and its
shareholders; and vii) reviewing and monitoring the evaluation and
management of issues related to the Company's Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") matters.

According to the terms of reference of the CG Committee, meeting of the CG
Committee shall be held on a regular basis. The CG Committee held one
meeting during the year ended 31 December 2023. The CG Committee
reviewed and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Company and
was satisfied the effectiveness of its corporate governance policy.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board and the Directors

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and complying with other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in pages 122 to 128.

Senior Management

The senior management has provided the Board with sufficient explanation
and necessary information to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of financial and other information tabled before the Board for
approval.

Monthly updates have also been provided by the senior management to all
members of the Board to enable proper discharge of duties by the Board as a
whole as well as each member individually by giving them balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company's performance, position and
prospects in sufficient detail.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance
and review of the Group's internal control system to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the assets of the Group. The internal control system of the
Group aims to facilitate effective and efficient operation which in turn
minimises the risks to which the Group is exposed. The system can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or
losses.
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Risk Management

The Group recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-
term development on the Group’s business. Management is responsible for
establishing, implementing, reviewing and evaluating a sound and effective
internal control system underpinning the risk management framework. All
employees of the Group are committed to implement the risk management
framework into the daily operation. The system comprises the following
phases:

— Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

— Analysis: Analyse the existing control, likelihood and consequence of
risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

—  Management: Consider the risk responses, and ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has identified the following risks and
implemented relevant risk mitigation plans, details of which are set out as
follows:

—  The sales and profitability of the Group's products are dependent on its
customers’ business performance. The Group's five largest customers
accounted for an aggregate of 57% and 55% of its revenue for the two
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively, and if there is
any decrease in its business or if the Group fails to maintain its
relationship with them or any of them or other key customers, this
could adversely affect its business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects. To diversify the business risk, the Group has
been active in seeking new markets and clients during the Reporting
Period.

—  The Group's profitability may be adversely affected by the fluctuations
of raw material prices. The raw materials the Group uses in the
manufacturing process are primarily forged rings, steel balls and
spacers, of which forged rings accounted for most of the Group's total
purchases. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total purchases
of forged rings accounted for approximately 58% of the total purchases
of raw materials for the year. The Group’s forged rings are primarily
made from gear steel and carbon round steel. Nearly all of the Group's
raw materials are sourced from suppliers based in the PRC. There are
many factors which can cause fluctuation in the price of raw materials
from time to time, in particular the economic conditions in the PRC,
supply and demand of raw materials and international trade. To diversify
the business risk, the Group has been taking some proactive approaches
to unexpected change in raw material prices such as understanding the
actual production capacity and the historical record of price change.
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Internal Control

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal
audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of
the Group's business. The situation will be reviewed from time to time. The
Group has engaged an external consulting firm, Infinity Concept Ripple
Limited (the “Internal Control Adviser”), as the Group’s internal control
adviser to conduct independent internal control review for the Year.

Such review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are under a rotation
basis. The scope of review was previously determined and approved by the
Board. The Internal Control Adviser has reported findings and areas for
improvement to the Audit Committee and management. The Board and Audit
Committee were of the view that there was no material deficiency in the
internal control system. All recommendations from the Internal Control
Adviser are properly followed by the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of insider information. The
Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in the securities of the
Company by the directors in accordance with Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules. Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. Any
inside information and any information which may potentially constitute
inside information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board
and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and
other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing
Rules will be announced on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid/payable to
the Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, is set out below:

= ERET N &
RBEE_E_=F+"A=+—HIEEE>
KNAT ASMNEZ AN L F KB E AT E 7
FrEf FEA BRI E TN T -

Service Category IR#%ELE HK$'000
TET

Annual audit services: FEBHRS -
— Consolidated financial statements auditand ~ — (2SI FEMKREFT K

Hong Kong Subsidiaries statutory audit ERTABEEST 1,250
Non-audit services: JEE TR -
— Transfer of listing services (Note) — iR AR (fY5E)

Reporting accountant FRER® 5TEM 1,550

Transfer pricing consultation BT BN 138
— Agreed-upon procedures — BERER

Preliminary announcement T EBERS 50
— Tax compliance services — MBS HRIRE 35
Total e 3,023

Note:  The amount for transfer of listing services are recognised within “Administrative expenses —

listing expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert, who is an employee
of the Company, as its Company Secretary. He is a member of CPA Australia.
He confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the year ended 31 December 2023. The biography of Mr. Chan Ho
Chee Gilbert is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this report.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions on each and every substantial issue can be considered
and proposed to be passed by shareholders at the shareholders’ meetings
including the election of individual directors. All resolutions put forward at a
shareholders’ meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and
the poll voting results will be posted on the website of the Stock Exchange
and the Company’s website after the relevant shareholders” meeting.
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Corporate Governance Report

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”)

Shareholder(s) holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition for an
EGM of not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right to vote at general meetings of the Company may, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, require the
Directors to call an EGM for the transaction of businesses specified in
the requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at General Meetings
There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
the general meetings under the Companies Act (2023 Revision) (as
consolidated or revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands.
However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders who wish
to make proposals or move a resolution may convene an EGM in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM”
set out above.

Procedures for shareholders to send enquires to the board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board and/
or the Company Secretary by addressing them to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit No. 1119, 11th Floor,
The Metropolis Tower, No. 10 Metropolis Drive, Kowloon, Hong Kong by
post for the attention of the Board and/or the Company Secretary.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company has adopted a shareholder communication policy with
the objective of providing the shareholders of the Company with
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an
informed manner.

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include
answering questions through the AGM, the publication of annual,
interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars, the
Company’s website at www.blg.hk and meetings with investors and
shareholders. News updates of the Group'’s business are also available
on the Company’s website.

Share registration matters shall be handled by the Company's Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EEERKS

KRERBMKRREFNAE (TRRRFR
XEg))WiER

RIEERBEIAZGERBREFEAA
BAERNARNBREAE ERENHEE
BAFRDR+DZ—2REBEOIBBHE
EERMELHEBDER EXEEAR
FREIFRIAD  EEBBEKRTE
B EE - ZAGAMEHZEREM
BEAGHE MR EXEREB2IHA
EEFRBEARZAT MERERA
THETUREARBREAT MES
BRATHEEEAELARATMESE
KPS SIER X EHAA BB ERAERT

RIERAE LIRERBNERF
REREREE (CE=F#5]) (&
ISR G WAEET) I AR Y/E#Ey%ﬁf
RERE LEBHZEMRAZRE - RIBER
EHR AR %%Laﬁaj@]aﬁﬁaﬁmﬂﬁ
RERARE EXFE IRRABHARRS
BIREHREFI BRRRFHIAT -

RERMEEFRLEHNERF
BRRUONAEFTE R, RADWEREE

B REE JEXERAATNEEE
EEEM (BB NELTEIORER
RENEINOE) » aEFRKGEABE
BHERSHABMWE
BRRKRREERE
AABIERM—TBRRBAKEK 57

F]ZK’&TJ%R%}ET BREAABNER
WEEREF R RAB L ABEEZEEAT
Ezﬁfﬁﬁéf’ﬁ%ﬁxﬁﬁﬂéﬂ ©

KABERYZEREHAREBERE
EBE ’T%ﬁ(\ﬁxﬁ}gfﬁk%@ék%ﬁ

HIBEFR  PHAREREZERS ~ BE
N IBER ~ A A B A IE (www.blg.hk) LA
RELEERKRREHE - AEBEBN
EATE SRR EARA B AL LB o

RNMBRECEEMERATZEBRND
B %%ﬂﬁﬁfi&%ﬁ%ﬁ‘%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂf
B it aEBEREBI6RERT T
/L,\]7$§ o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 T - =4#F%#



Corporate Governance Report
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Company should have a dividend policy and
disclose such policy in its annual report. The Company has adopted a dividend
policy (the “Dividend Policy”), the summary of which is set out below:

(@) In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

the Group's financial conditions;
the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

the Group’s cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

the Group's retained earnings and distributable reserves;
the Group's liquidity position;

general economic conditions, future prospects of the Group and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

(b)  The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Articles of Association of the Company.

(c)  The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the Shareholders’
interests and prudent capital management with a sustainable Dividend
Policy.

Constitutional Documents

The Articles of Association of the Company was amended and restated
pursuant to the special resolutions passed at the AGM held on 16 June 2023.
Except for the said amendments, there has been no change in the Company's
constitutional documents during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report.

On behalf of the Board

CHAN Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 19 March 2024
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RIB-HERERHRS

DEFINITION AND INTERPRETATION

Throughout this report, the following terms, except where the context
otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

Group refers to Best Linking Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries
ESG . Environmental, social and governance

Appendix C2 or ESG :
Reporting Guide

refers to the Appendix C2 — Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of
the Main Board Listing Rules

Main Board Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited

Hong Kong The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China,
including Hong Kong Island, Kowloon and
the New Territories

PRC . The People’s Republic of China

KPIs : Key Performance Indicators

Main Board Listing The Rules Governing the Listing of Equity

Rules Securities on Main Board of the Stock
Exchange
Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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OVERVIEW

m

()

(1)

Purpose

Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), successfully transferred the
listing of its shares from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 29 September 2023. In accordance with the requirements of the
Stock Exchange, listed companies are required to provide an
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (‘ESG Report”). This is
the first ESG Report since the transfer of listing on the Main Board which
mainly introduces the Group's vision, policies and measures by
establishing the key performance indicators (“KPIs") and reports its
performance regarding environmental and social issues for internal
assessment and management control, and communicating to the
internal and external stakeholders.

Reporting Period
This report is for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
(the “2023 Reporting Period").

Scope of Report

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacturing of slewing rings,
which are rotational-rolling element bearing used in large sized
machinery and equipment, such as construction machinery and
equipment, wind turbines, robotics and military equipment. The Group
produces its products on an Original Design Manufacturer ("ODM"),
Original Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM") and Original Brand
Manufacturer (“OBM") basis from its manufacturing facility in Dongguan
City, Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
(the “Dongguan Factory”), and the Group is compliant with the
Japanese Industrial Standards and 1SO 9001:2015 quality standards. The
products are sold to general wholesalers, traders, contractors and
distributors in the PRC and to leading overseas equipment
manufacturers. The Group also engages in the trading of mechanical
parts and components as well as machineries which are used mainly in
construction and mining sites. Each business segment of the Group has
a different impact on the environment and society. For the purpose of
this report, the Group will review its core business activities and
operations in terms of its environmental and social objectives, policies
and practices, as well as the impacts and performances.
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(v)

(V)

The administrative office of the Group in Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong
Office”) relocated during the 2023 Reporting Period. The Hong Kong
Office directly uses electricity, while the supply of freshwater for general
hygiene needs of its employees is supplied through the common
facilities in the leased office spaces. The Hong Kong Office produces,
emits, or discharges negligible amounts of polluted water, hazardous,
and non-hazardous wastes. Therefore, this ESG report covers the main
operations and activities of the Dongguan Factory unless otherwise
specified.

Basis of Preparation

Our ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide") outlined in Appendix C2 of the
Main Board Listing Rules. This report covers two main areas, as outlined
and required by the ESG Reporting Guide, namely Area A —
Environmental and Area B — Social. This report also includes the
climate-change related issues, which have or may impact our Group.

This ESG Report, which has been reviewed and approved by the board
of the Company (the “Board”), both reviews and reports the core
business operations and activities of the Group and follows the
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance, and consistency to
disclose relevant statistics and information. The ESG Report was
compiled in compliance with the “comply or explain” provisions in the
ESG Reporting Guide.

Corporate Goals and Visions

The Group's vision is to become a leading manufacturer and a “one-stop
service” provider on a sustainable basis of high-quality slewing rings
worldwide (most notably the PRC). We are committed to providing
these products with a reasonable return on investments to our
shareholders, whilst being a socially and environmentally responsible
company and providing a safe, healthy, and pleasant working
environment for our employees.
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(VI) Governance Structure

Throughout the 2023 Reporting Period, the Group maintained the same
ESG management structure and process as the last reporting period
(from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022, “2022" or “2022 Reporting
Period"). The Board of the Group is responsible for formulating and
setting goals and targets, approving strategic direction and policies, and
monitoring performance including ESG issues. Our ESG strategies,
management policy and approach are based on compliance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the principle of sustainability
and opinions from our key stakeholders. The Group’s visions and goals,
and the ESG management policy and approach can be summarized in
the following statements:

1. The Group is committed to be successful in undertaking its
business, whilst providing strong returns to our investors and
supporters, a healthy and safe working environment to our
employees and helping to provide sustainable developments for
the local communities and the Group.

2. The Board from time to time approves and updates strategies
and policies which are incorporated with the related
environmental and social issues stated in the ESG Reporting
Guide. The Board has implemented the relevant ESG policies in its
entire operation and all activities conducted. Through their
normal and routine channels, all departments report directly to
the Group's chief executive officer ("CEQ"), who is entrusted with
the overall responsibility to ensure that the Board's approved
strategies and policies are properly implemented. All
departments within the Group are responsible for exploring and
developing KPIs, where appropriate and necessary, in accordance
with the Group's policies and goals.

3. It is the duty of the Group's CEO, chief operating officer (“COQ"),
and his operation managers (collectively, the “Management
Team’) to examine and address all the environmental and social
issues as stated in the ESG Reporting Guide.
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Overall, the Group takes an active role in ensuring sustainable and
environmentally friendly production and operations by employing
various measures, which are compliant with relevant laws, operating
practices and standards. The Group continues to uphold its established
environmental protection and management system. The adoption and
application of the Quality Management System (ISO 9001:2015), have
proven to be effective in ESG management.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board is committed to the sustainable development of the Group and the
performance of its corporate social responsibilities. The Board believes that
focusing on resources management, occupational safety, health, and ESG
management can enhance the Group's corporate image, reduce ESG risks,
and improve compliance with relevant laws and regulations. This, in turn, can
boost the Group's competitiveness and promote its sustainable business
development.

The Group's ESG philosophy is to create long-term value for its stakeholders in
alignment with the strategic development and sustainability of its business.
The Group is committed to maintaining a rigorous corporate governance
framework to promote and safeguard the interests of shareholders and other
stakeholders, thereby upholding the Group’s credibility and reputation.

The Board continuously enhances its supervision over the Company’s ESG
governance and increases its engagement efforts. The Company sets annual
environmental targets related to its business, and the Board regularly reviews
and discusses the establishment and progress of these targets. The Company
has adopted the Hong Kong Stock Exchange Environmental, Social, and
Governance Reporting Guide, under which it carries out sustainability tasks in
environmental protection, employee welfare, and production safety.
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STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION AND
MATERIALITY

The Group maintains regular contacts with the internal and external
stakeholders to gauge their view and opinions regarding the Group's

HYERBRERRE

AEBBEABRINEBF D ERTEABE
M&ﬁﬁ##$%lﬁL&ﬁﬁm (R 1T

operations and performance. After collecting the view and opinions, the CEO WEHR BB et EE B R
and/or COO will carry out materiality assessments internally with the =ZE% > BIBBL TAEIEEERE > BN
related managers and externally with related stakeholders through the B AR A IR R AN S B R S D BT E B

communication channels as listed below:

BT o

Stakeholders Communication Channels
HinE BEERE

Shareholders/Investors

R REE

Employees

BE

Customers

=R

Suppliers/Service providers/
Professional advisors

HEER,IRFSHIERS, EXERBERA -

NGO partners
SRR AE A RS 1

Industry associations
TEBE

General meetings

REARE

Information published on websites of the Group and the Stock Exchange
TEARE R KM 2P EAMmER

Direct emails or phone enquiries
BEREXBEHNRNELESH

Despatch documents

FaXH

Direct meetings with the management executives
HEBTRAEBERTE

Emails

B

Annual and regular appraisal

FERTHEZ

Organized functions and activities for the employees
A B TSR ERAEEH

Day-to-day communication through front line staff
EEARETETHRE B

Emails

B

Official websites

EPakE)S

Day-to-day communication through front line staff

BAAGETETHE BB

Regular review of the signed arrangements by the management
BEEHRENZHETEHES

Volunteer activities

HLEH

Sponsors and donations

B R IB

Participation in annual and regular meetings, conferences, events, etc.

2NFEE TSR AGETF
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The Group and the stakeholders identified the following material areasand R _E - =ZF > KAEBLAFHEEETUT
aspects in 2023: EEHERER -

MATERIAL EZ

=X
©o

External Assessment (Impact on Stakeholders)
SMNERETAE (B E HE)

IMMATERIAL FEZE MATERIAL EZ

Internal Assessment (Impact on Business) AEBEfE (B EKHTE)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEBEBRIZERERAD
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Subject Areas

FEHE
Environmental Environmental
IRIR IR

Social Employment and Labour Practices

e EERETER

Operating Practices
ZEEM

Community

HE

RIE- MG RERHRS

Subject Aspects

FER@

A1, Emissions

Al BERH)

A2.  Use of Resources

A2, BERFA

A3.  Environment and Natural Resources
A3, REBERBARER

A4.  Climate Change

A4 RIREAE

B1. Employment

BI. f1Ef%

B2.  Health and Safety

B2. RERZZR

B3.  Development and Training
B3. EERRIFI

B4.  Labour Standards

B4. HIIRZE

B5.  Supply Chain Management
Bs. fHEEEEIR

B6.  Product Responsibility

Be. EmBTE

B7.  Anti-corruption

B7. RES

B8.  Community Investment
BS. @& A
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Through the Group's established management structure, process, policies and
guidelines described above, the above ESG material areas and aspects have
been strictly managed and monitored and are summarized as follows:

A. ENVIRONMENTAL AREAS AND ASPECTS
1.1 Environmental Areas Overview
Understanding its obligations, the Group has implemented a
company-wide “Environmental Protection and Sustainability
Policy and Procedures” which aims to achieve a balance between
undertaking business, maximizing returns to our shareholders,
ensuring our operations and activities to have minimal adverse
impact to the environment, and our operation being energy,
water and resource efficient.

Our "Environmental Protection and Sustainability Policy and
Procedures” is summarised below:

Purpose

To establish and maintain policies and procedures to identify,
evaluate and determine the significance of environmental
aspects and impacts by and on the company and ensuring
compliance with all relevant national and local environmental
laws and regulations including but not limited to:

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (FRZE A R+EA
BIRIG(REEE);

Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment (F7

EARHAMBIRIRZ ETEZX)

Water Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (FFEE A R+t
MEIKTEEAREE);

Atmospheric Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (FP EE
j\g:/u\:ﬂ]kﬂfgﬁﬁﬁ/m/

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Pollution
from Environmental Noise (FFZE A\ REFMHIRIZIRE S
258 75);

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste (FRZE A B HF
E%@#@/H*iﬁiﬁﬁﬁ/u /£

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEEBRIZERERAD
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BERRAE5|  BISEIE E XAt RIRIE ~ #£
ShEAEEDRIERER  BAWT

A. RIGHERER
1.1 IRIREIESHLEE

REBFRBASET > BRNEAFT

BT NRIERERAFEZRBEER

MR MR EITER %E

RARELOR  ERESRAEE
E?ﬂ”ﬂaﬁéiﬁ’]ﬁﬁ%%&%

FMpEERMF BIER ~ KEHEAM

BERES A EBEFE o

RN NRIERERAFEERK
RIAZFE ) BRI T

=)

BEIL R i LR TR A2 7 0 #E L 3
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Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project
Environmental Protection (J23% 1B BIRIZ RESIEIEB));
and

Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the PRC (FRZE A R
HMEFZREERER)

Procedure

@

)

(iif)

The Management Team shall identify and evaluate the
environmental aspects for all activities that will most likely
give rise to significant environmental impacts.

The Management Team shall hold brainstorming meetings
both internally and externally with other related parties and
classify the work activities under normal, unusual and
emergency situation as follows:

Normal is defined as a routine activity or work that is
carried out daily and is part of a process;

Unusual refers to non-routine work that occurs

under unexpected circumstances; and

Emergency refers to an occurrence of an event that

will cause a drastic impact or severity to the

environment and immediate action has to be taken.

For example: major leakage and spillage, fire, etc.
When identifying the environmental aspects, all activities
which may cause environmental impact or improve
general sustainability will be considered including but not
limited to:

Gas emissions;

Water discharge;

Waste disposal;

Land contamination;

Sustainability and the efficient use of raw materials,
energy, water and other natural resources;

BEF

(i)

(iif)

(ZBLIEEBEBREERK
Bl 5 K

(PEANRIMBEIRREER
XD o

EEERELRAJERIR
EEMBRECENMELRY
BYIRIR B E 1T 8B Ko 5T o

EEEKEEEMAERS S
FTAER RSN ERERPS B o
WHRPRE IIEEEE D AIE
FOEEREZBER AR
LI

IF %45 0 HIE1T R R
ERRTE Bi2F—

;o

REEEREIMERTH
WAIFERIME &

RRRELEEENERE
IRIEWE > BAREED
RiTEIREH > MEK
RN KEE o

REBIREBER A Y
FER ZIRIB O IR E RN F
BHENEEAS R B
ERRRE -

EERBERL 5

TEIKEERL ;5

EEYRE ;

TR

B M LUK B R B

RAFE S BETR s KR E
tMERER ;
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Other local environmental issues; and
National and local laws and regulations.

(iv)  The Management Team will review the environmental
aspects at least once every year. They will also update
regularly the new laws and regulations, organizational work
activities and processes or production systems or
equipment, based on updated knowledge obtained
through educational learning, incidents/accidents,
organizational or other requirements.

(v)  For each environmental aspect, the Management Team
will identify and assess the environmental impacts, and the
following will be considered:

Global warming;

Water pollution;

Air pollution;

Waste generation;

Land/soil contamination;

Noise pollution; and

Natural resources conservation.

1.2 Environmental Aspects

The Group advocates the importance of sustainable development
in relation to our on-ongoing business operations and activities.
We undertook measures to ensure full compliance with all
relevant rules and regulations regarding emissions, effluent water,
and solid waste discharge and to ensure minimal impact to the
environment. All of our employees are made aware of their
respective roles and responsibilities in conserving energy and
natural resources and we regularly assess new production
equipment and processes and maintain compliance with Quality
Management Systems such as I1SO 9000:2015, to reduce pollution
and improve sustainability.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEEBRIZERERAD
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During the 2023 Reporting Period, the Group was not subject to
any case concerning the breach of environmental legislation in
relation to emissions and waste discharge or other environmental
issues that could have an adverse impact on the local
environment.

A1: Emissions and Wastes
(i) Air Emissions
Indirect Emissions
Indirect emission, mainly carbon dioxide (“CO,")
through the use of electricity for our production,
remains to be the main source of greenhouse gas
emissions.

The table below recorded and compared the 2023
Reporting Period and the 2022 Reporting Period’s
resultant indirect air pollutant emissions:

RIE- MG RERHRS

SBoSERERR ) KRBT
TR T 5 R I 8 R R AR
EENHMT AN BB RS
BB I P R R
o

A1 BEEREY
) BRI
I HF
HEEMREBELENU_S
feix T Z&| B8k »=E
BRI A RAER
RREFRHEZERR

TREHBRER-Z
TZFEREARE
T TEREREERN

BIHEERSIYIHINE

Year ended 31 December

#E+"RA=+—HLEFE

Items of emissions Unit 2023 2022 Changes
HERIER B i —E== TR 28
CO, indirect emission

SRR

— Dongguan Factory"oe® Tonnes 734.15 388.28 +89.08%
— BB TR 7

— Hong Kong Officeoe @ Tonnes 0.40 TER ~EA
— EEBE RO "

Intensity

=l

— CO,/employee in Dongguan Factory 8.25 4.85 +70.10%
—BEIR_@tik RBE

— CO,/employee in Hong Kong Office 0.04 TiER ~EA

—EBMER_ALR EE
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Note 1: Emission factors for purchased electricity sourced from /1

EES2EBIBEREFNANE.

Note 2: Unless otherwise specified, factors for the calculation of
emission in this ESG Report were based on the factors listed
in the "How to prepare an ESG Report-Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs (version
updated on 25 March 2022)" by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

When compared to the 2022 Reporting Period, there
was a significant increase in the indirect CO,
emissions at the Dongguan Factory during the 2023
Reporting Period. The increase was due to the
update of the emission factor for electricity and is
also attributed to the addition of newly acquired
machineries and equipments.

To reduce indirect CO, emission, we have formulated
a climate change strategy that will continue to
improve our energy saving practices including
strictly controlling the electricity consumption of our
production facility and investing in new production
equipment and processes. We target to lower the
indirect CO, emission per employee per year by 1-2%
through the reduction of electricity consumption per
employee.

Direct emissions

During the 2023 Reporting Period, we directly
produced CO, and hazardous sulphur oxides ("SO, "),
nitrogen oxides (“NO,") gas, and particulate matters
("“PM"), from the use of fossil fuels including diesel
fuel, petrol fuel, lubricating oil, and liquefied
petroleum gas for forklift cars, vehicles, machine tool
cooling and welding.
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The table below recorded and compared the 2023 TREHFELEIR DS
Reporting Period and the 2022 Reporting Period’s T TEREFHER-E
resultant direct air pollutant emissions: T EWRESREEANE

BRERSRYGIRE

Year ended 31 December

B#E+-A=+—HLEFE

Items of emissionsN°ot ) Unit 2023 2022 Changes
HEEgEe B —§=-= TECE 28
Nitrogen Oxide (NO) Kilograms 30.40 26.62 +14.20%
ekl Fr
Sulfur Oxides (SO Kilograms 0.06 0.04 +50.00%
maty T
Particulate Matter (PM) Kilograms 2.98 2.63 +13.31%
G i T
CO, direct emission Kilograms 48,638.09 28,834.36 +68.68%
it BEEN Tz
Tonnes 48.64 28.83 +68.68%
5
Note 3: As a result of our effort to improve data management, we MisEs : ARBEMB LIRS
have separated the oxygen usage from the gas usage for BEE ZMERZ
production purposes since 2023. This separation allows for ST ZFEMURBRE
better comparability and performance tracking. As our data EENERAERENR
management has improved, the 2022 figure has been BREREDE UL
restated. DEEB T EFRET
LR RETIEEE
Bt o BEEHMEEE

BHXRE 22
FENHBEERED -

Compared to the 2022 Reporting Period, the increase BT RGN
in direct emissions can be attributed to two factors: tb BEEEEREE N
the addition of a new private car, purchased by the BERRMEBERZER . &
Group for internal operations, and an increase in —ETARE » HAE
fossil fuel consumption during the 2023 Reporting ERESERNAIEE
Period. ER_E_=F®REH

{EERARLEFEIE INFTER ©
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The Group sub-contracted all of our logistical needs
to external transport operators and increased the
utilization of electric driven production equipment.
We have been reviewing and planning a gradual
reduction of the use of fossil fuels to reduce
hazardous gas emissions by utilising more electricity
or other forms of sustainable energy. For the coming
year, we target to reduce direct emissions especially
those hazardous SO, NO , PM, and CO, by 1-2%.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gases (GHG) include CO, and its non-
hazardous equivalents including nitrous oxide and
methane (collectively with CO,, “CO_e"). Greenhouse
gas emissions comprise Scope 1 direct emissions,
which is direct emissions from the fuel combustion
in vehicles, machine tool cooling and welding, and
Scope 2 energy indirect emissions, which is
emissions resulting from the use of purchased
electricity. The table below recorded and compared
the 2023 Reporting Period and the 2022 Reporting
Period’s greenhouse gas emissions:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR ERET

A AEBECSKA
BYRE R D B F IR
EBRHEER WRSS
NEEhE ERENER
K- FM—EETEER
FEIESRERLEG
i UE@aERE
LZENREMAEXNA
FEERBAVAESRE
BEM o 2R F > MW E
REREEHRY &
BUEEEE’J SR IE?/IN

KR|E|©LY - BINT &
_%Lﬂ:ﬁr/}%"‘ TE 2% e

BERBETER

HBCRERSE CAER
B e _althkE
mEZEY 8E—4F
tZ@akBiR ERZ
i tE I Z 'tk
E=E)) cBERBEHM
AIEHE N EER
BRES & ~ # i T 224D
R IR 12 PR AR R 1 89
HIEHR > REE28E
TREEEHE o BDEE A Oh
BENEENHEKRT
KRR ER - "=
FREPR - -F
REEAREE RS

Year ended 31 December

HE+-A=+—ALEE

Greenhouse Gas Emission"°t® Unit 2023 2022 Changes
8 RASHERY ) Efu —E== = b=k )
Scope 1 (COe) Tonnes 49.04 28.86 +69.92%
HEN (CEIEWESR) L

Scope 2 (COe) Tonnes 734.55 388.28 +89.18%
HE2 (ZELHESR) L

Total (CO,e) Tonnes 783.59 417.14 +87.85%
@it (CHIEREE) 1]

Intensity

— COe/employee 7.92 4.79 +65.34%

— — St EE EE
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Note 3: As a result of our effort to improve data management, we
separated the oxygen usage from the gas usage for
production purposes since 2023. This separation allows for
better comparability and performance tracking. As our data
management has improved, the 2022 figure has been
restated.

Our Group is dedicated to reduce GHG emissions by
gradually transitioning from fossil fuels to sustainable
energy sources. To achieve this goal, our Group has
purchased electric forklifts starting from 2021 to
minimise the use of the diesel forklift. As the diesel
forklift is planned to be decommissioned in 2024, it is
expected to reduce the consumption of fossil fuels
by 10% by 2024

We target to reduce the greenhouse gas emission by
1-2% in the coming year through the transition from
fossil fuels to sustainable energy sources and by
monitoring our employees’ energy saving practices.

Water Pollution and Discharge

As explained in the aforementioned “Scope of
Report” section during the 2023 Reporting Period,
water consumption fees of the Hong Kong Office is
included in the office management fees. Accordingly
we do not have the consumption data for the Hong
Kong Office.

Cooling water used in our production process used
to constitute a large part of the Group's wastewater.
We adopted a closed circulating water recycling
system, so most of the cooling water will be reused
with minimal wastage.

Our Group does not hold any polluted water
discharge data concerning our Dongguan Factory.
All excess wastewater was required to be handled by
a third-party licensed wastewater treatment and
disposal specialist under PRC laws and regulations.

Meanwhile, water used for general living purposes in
employees’ dormitories, canteens and offices would
be discharged through the public sewage system.

IRIGHTERER
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(iii)

(iv)

Noise and Light Pollution Emission

The Group does not generate any noise and light
pollution to the surrounding neighbors as our
business operations and activities are conducted
inside our factory and offices. Although noise is
generated, for part of our operation in our factory,
the extent is below the national and industry limits.
To be cautious and to protect our workers, protective
equipment must be worn by our workers at all times
during production. During the 2023 Reporting
Period, no complaint nor warning notice was
received.

Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Wastes

The Group has developed a natural and pollution-
free philosophy in its business where possible and
has adopted the 3-R principle — to reduce, reuse
and recycle. All employees are constantly reminded
to adopt the 3-R principle in their handling and use
of resources. Consideration is given to recycle and
reuse in the various processes and stages of
production. Procedures are in place for properly
sorting out and storing the unused materials for
resale or reuse. For example, in respect of the scrap
metal produced from our production process,
through new and improved production processes,
we reduced the amount of scrap materials produced,
we then recycled the scraps by selling them to
approved scrap metal recyclers.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEBEBZEREFRAF

(iii)

(iv)
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The amount of hazardous wastes generated from
our manufacturing operations is insignificant and
poses no material impact to the environment. Non-
hazardous wastes generated from the production
processes are mainly scrap metal and packaging
materials —namely affixed labels, plastic film, and
kraft paper. An insignificant amount of non-
hazardous materials is also generated from non-
production areas, such as supporting offices,
dormitories, and canteens.

The amount of paper and packaging material usage
is stated in Section A2(iii). The table below recorded
and compared the 2023 Reporting Period and the
2022 Reporting Period’s non-hazardous waste:

RIE- MG RERHRS

NEEEEENESE
MBEMTEE > KA
HRBEERERTE -
TEBREEENESE
NEBHBTBEBREE
Ykl BNAR B AL AR ~ 2B
BB E I R A AR o T 32
BMAE -BEARE
SHEESEREITA
EEVERNESEY -

FRKRBEMBIER
= RE A B o TR
BERLEB _Z =%
SRS _FR
ERNEESEEY) -

Year ended 31 December

B#E+-A=1+—HLEFE

Wastes Unit 2023 2022 Changes
EE1) E (i —E-= TECF b))
Non-hazardous waste (scrap metal) Tonnes 210.06 150.40 +39.67%
mEEY BEB) it
Intensity of non-hazardous waste per

employee 2.36 1.88 +25.53%

BHRREREESEVEE

We use a lot of steel metal and generate metal
scraps in our production process. The use of steel is
in direct proportion to our business turnover. The
generation of metal scrap can be reduced through
new and improved production processes. The scrap
metal produced by us will be sold to approved scrap
metal recyclers. We commissioned a third-party
solid waste disposal operator to dispose of the solid
waste.
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v)

Mitigation Measures and Reduction Initiatives

As mentioned above, the Group does not generate
much hazardous and non-hazardous emissions and
discharges. However, as a responsible corporation,
we are conscious of the effects our operations and
activities may have on the environment and
constantly work on maximizing energy efficiency
and minimizing emissions, wastes generation,
disposal and discharges. We fully comply with all
applicable environmental laws, rules and regulations
and industrial standards in the markets we operate
in. We comply with Quality Management Systems
such as I1SO 9000:2015, to reduce pollution and
improve sustainability.

To combat global warming and to reduce the
generation of GHG emissions and pollutants, we
target to reduce our electricity consumption, and
have introduced measures to achieve it. For example,
we have instructed our staff and workers to turn off
electricity when our factory and office equipments
are not in use, to use natural ventilation to replace
air-conditioning in allowable conditions, and not to
set air-conditioners’ temperature to lower than 25°C
under normal conditions. The Group also invested in
energy saving tools and equipment such as energy-
saving copiers and computers and LED lights. We
also encouraged employees to use teleconferencing
to minimise travelling and to use public transport
whenever possible.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEEBRIZERERAD

v)

BRI ELS

Fie)
W SRt REEE
TEREREEZEBE
REZEYHEE D o
oA K%@ﬁ%AA
FEETERHEERK
EEHEEHIRIEER
FE ARZIBIERE
TR AR F R oK A BE
WE - EBEYWEES B
EHEREEHSRE
BRE -HZME2EmETE
BREMBSNMAER
IRIBARE - RERER
DA B 47 /2 2E o B M 7R
BSFISO 9000 : 2015 %
mEEERER EBILA
BRI RN o

K EER D FEEU
FEH 2 EKBE1L ~ B/R
E R PR BRIE T 2
MESXS > LEHETHE
%?muLﬂEﬁ o £
BmE > EMET
&IA%%%W@%&
MAERENERY
o PRI BEIE R A
BRBRRESREF
BREEBRE LSRN
BERTEA25°CLULT o
REBTHKESHET
BR®ZE GINBER
BE & EN 1% K BB B K2 LED
o o BB BE
THRBERGEE UHE
SRV EEUREASE
FRAREIBIA-



A2:;

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIS ERERIRS

During the 2023 Reporting Period, same as the 2022
Reporting Period, the Group has not committed any
act in contravention of the emission of hazardous or
non-hazardous air and wastes disposal, polluted
water discharges and we are determined to take all
necessary measures to achieve the same results for
the coming years.

Use of Resources

As an industrial operation, we consume electricity, water,
printing paper and ink, packaging materials, and steel. We
promote the company-wide goal to saving resources and
implemented various measures to improve our resource
saving performance, to minimize the impact to the
environment and achieve operational optimization while
complying with the relevant national and local laws and
regulations. We have approved and implemented clear
environmental policies and measures with the target to
have an efficient use of resources for production facilities
and processes, office administration, and the general use of
our employees without causing pollution whilst saving
resources.

During each of the reporting periods, we have not
recorded any material non-compliance in respect of any
applicable laws and regulations on environmental
protection. Our Group continues to uphold our established
environmental protection and management system.
During the 2023 Reporting Period, we also did not record
any material non-compliance issue with the applicable PRC
laws and regulations in relation to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, and the
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes that
resulted in prosecution, conviction or penalty being
brought, made or imposed against us.
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(i)

Electricity, Gas & Fuel Consumption
Electricity is the only source of energy for our offices
and dormitories operations and activities and is
supplied by the local electricity grid.

The Group also used fossil fuels including diesel fuel,
petrol fuel, lubricating oil, and liquefied petroleum
gas for forklift cars, vehicles, machine tool cooling
and welding. The table below recorded and
compared the 2023 Reporting Period and the 2022
Reporting Period’s resultant energy consumption:

(i)

B IRRFEINEEE
BABMAERBERE
BRREBIME—RETRZR
R o M ER IS EEABHAE o

AEBTERESHE
BT RS K
IR IRPTAE R BES
i INl:: N = B D4
{EABREARNIEAMA
Fto FREHALE®RT
ET-FREHPR-F
TOFREHEERSE
TRHFE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-BA=t+-HLEE

Energy Consumption"°t® 2023 2022 Changes
AEiRIHFE Y —g-= S5 29
— FElectricity Consumption (kWh) 1,289,009.00 940,140.00 +37.11%
—&7 HEE (TRE)
Intensity (kWh/employee) 13,020.29 11,751.75 +10.79%
BE (TRE/ES)
— Gas Consumption (m?) 44,00 92.00 -52.17%
— B8 HiEE (LA K)
Consumption (kWh) 3,196.29 6,683.15 -52.17%
HEE (TRE)
Intensity (kWh/employee) Note (4) 35.91 83.54 -5701%
BE (TRE/ES) (M)
— Diesel, petrol and lubricating oil - Consumption (Tonnes) 13.65 7.94 +7191%
— SR AR HFEE (1)
Consumption (kWh) 198,190.56 115,982.89 +70.88%
HEE (TRE)
Intensity (KWh/employee) Note (4) 2,226.86 1,449.79 +53.60%
BE (TRE/EE) (M)
Total Consumption (kWh) 1,490,395.85  1,062,806.04 +40.23%
4zt HEE (TRE)
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Note 3: As a result of our efforts to improve data management, we
have separated the oxygen usage from the gas usage for
production purposes since 2023. This separation allows for
better comparability and performance tracking. As our data
management has improved, the 2022 figure has been
restated..

Note 4: Only include employees located in the Dongguan Factory.

Compared to the 2022 Reporting Period, the
utilization of electricity in the 2023 Reporting Period
increased by 37.11%. The increase can be attributed
to the addition of newly acquired machineries and
equipment, as well as the relocation of the Hong
Kong Office during the 2023 Reporting Period.

In contrast, the gas usage in the Dongguan Factory
decreased by approximately 52.17% during the 2023
Reporting Period when compared to the 2022
Reporting Period. Gas is consumed during the
induction heat manufacturing process for several
products. The reduction in gas consumption resulted
from the decrease in the manufacture of products
that require such process.

Furthermore, the Group’s fuel usage increased by
approximately 71.91% in the 2023 Reporting Period.
This was due to the increase in lubricating oil usage
and the addition of a new private car purchased by
the Group for internal operations. The Group
conducts regular equipment service, routine checks,
repair work, and replacement of worn or non-
functional parts every year. According to the
Company's policy, level 3 maintenance, which
includes changing lubricating oil, is conducted
annually or after 7,200 hours of operation. Therefore,
the usage of lubricating oil is subject to volatility
based on operational conditions.

RIE- MG RERHRS

MsEs: HERBEMASBHNE
HEEE ZMHE
BB =LK
AREEENER
FERERERGER
ENBoLLOEBS
FFEERETHER
B HEAT I RE B B o
BERMEEEE
MRE -

FNHFEERET -

MisE4: EBEUNRRZT
RHIES -

T T T EREEAR
b B _=FREH
B8 & B EE M
37.11% o 5% 1&g 0] &7 (A
A TNE TR A B R R
BEO URRIE—=
FEREHEBMREERER
}EO

Rz BT "FR
S B =F
REHRET B KR
RAZRDH5217% °
ZRE B R E D 2R
BEIRHERE R
HEERA TR R R
BEEEZITFNES
3 o

b RIBE - =ZFR
EH o AEBERE B
SEMNA71.91% &L
HNERHAEIENE
AEBAANLZERE
— AR E o KEE
BFETHETRBR
BBlITRE EEBT
B U R EBRERN &
FEEANEH RIEAR
NEBER 0 Z#hHEE (B
EEMBEER ENE
FaiEIT 7,200/ N\ BiE
17 o E L > B W
AEgREETIERM
BFTKE ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 T =%



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIR-HERERIRS

We have plans in the coming years to gradually
replace fossil fuels by electricity or other forms of
sustainable energy in order to reduce the generation
of hazardous gases emissions. For the coming year,
we will continue to encourage and monitor our
employees on energy saving practices, and target to
lower the energy consumption by 1-2%.

The Group recognises that investing in energy
efficiency initiatives helps us to minimise our
environmental impacts while also reducing costs.
Our production facilities and accompanying
dormitories are powered by a consistent and
sufficient supply of electricity, which is supplied by
the local electricity grid. To save energy, which also
saves costs, we have installed energy saving LED
lights and control meters and invested in the latest
energy efficient production equipment and
processes. The Group has promulgated rules and
encouraged staff and workers to use resources
efficiently and environmentally friendly including:

Lights and equipment must be turned off if
notin use;

Maintaining work environments at pre-
determined and energy efficient temperatures;
and

Encouraging the use of natural ventilation
instead of air-conditioning whenever the
conditions allow.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIS ERERIRS

Freshwater Consumption and Sourcing

The main consumption of water in our Dongguan
Factory relates to the cooling of hot metal in the
production process. Water is also used personally by
employees in the dormitory. We use fresh water
supplied by the cities’ central water supply network
in our factory, offices and dormitories. There has not
been any incident of water shortage during the 2023
Reporting Period.

At all times we request the staff and workers to use
freshwater smartly and be responsible, as it is one of
the most precious natural resources. We utilize
internal water recycling systems where possible and
we monitor water usage patterns constantly via the
use of smart meters and our own inspection teams
to ensure there is no unwarranted uses and waste.

As part of our ESG policies, we have: (i) introduced a
closed circulating water recycling system that allows
us to reuse most of the cooling water with minimal
wastage; (ii) constantly monitored water usage
patterns through the use of smart meters and our
inspection teams to ensure there is no unwarranted
use or waste of water; (i) conducted regular leakage
tests on water pipes; and (iv) installed water-saving
devices across our office premises in our Dongguan
Factory to enhance water efficiency.

(ii)
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The table below recorded and compared the 2023
Reporting Period and the 2022 Reporting Period's

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIR-HERERIRS

TREBREBR-ZE
TZFEREERE

resultant water consumption in the Dongguan T CFEREHERET
Factory: MRESXBFEKE !
Year ended 31 December
#E+_"_A=+—HILLEE
Water Consumption by Operation Unit 2023 2022 Changes
BREEISNFEKE B “E=HF T fF EE)
— Dongguan Factory m? 10,429.00 12,850.00 -18.84%
— RELRK
Intensity
BnE
— m?*/employee in Dongguan Factory 117.18 160.63 -27.05%

—RREIRILA K EE

The Group utilizes freshwater for both industrial
production and daily usage in offices and
dormitories. Through conducting regular checks on
water pipes and taps, we have successfully identified
leakages in the water pipes at our Dongguan Factory.
Once leakages were identified, repairs were carried
out immediately. As a result, the Group recorded a
decrease of approximately 18.84% in freshwater
consumption during the 2023 Reporting Period.

For the coming year, we will continue to mobilize
our staff and workers to save freshwater
consumption. Notwithstanding of the expansion of
our operations, we target to reduce 1-2% in
freshwater consumption.
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(iii)
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RIS ERERIRS

Paper and Packaging Materials and Other Raw
Materials Consumption

We consider our use of packaging materials, namely
affixed labels, plastic film, and kraft paper, to be a
material item.

The table below recorded and compared the 2023
Reporting Period and the 2022 Reporting Period's
raw material usage in the Dongguan Factory:

(iii)

AR R B AR
EHEE#EE
HFIRIRBAE - BB
BIERN T RAFEEY)
FHERERIEE -

TREBREBR-ZF
TEFEREERE
T ERESEREL
ROV R EHE R E

Year ended 31 December

B#E+-A=+—HLEFE

Raw Materials Consumption Unit 2023 2022 Changes
FEREHER Efl —E-= TECE b))
— Paper Tonnes 0.35 0.1 +218.18%
— AR U]
— Packaging Material Tonnes 4.38 3.59 +22.01%
— Bk U
Total Tonnes 4.73 3.70 +27.84%
485t L

The higher amount of non-hazardous waste
consumed during the 2023 Reporting Period when
compared to the 2022 Reporting Period can be
attributed to the increase in shipments, which lead
to a corresponding increase in the utilization of
packaging materials.

The amount of packaging material used is largely
dictated by our sales volume and so we are unable
to target any serious reduction in packaging
materials. We will continue to monitor our usage and
look at ways to introduce more sustainable and
environmentally friendly materials.
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We consider our office paper use is immaterial,
however, to save paper consumption, we have
implemented or in the process of implementing the
following measures in our offices:

Avoid unnecessary printing and print on both
sides of papers;

Use recycled papers and reuse paper-made
products such as envelopes and folders;

Replace the use of papers by sharing and
storing information and documents in
electronic formats; and

Adopt a company-wide cloud based working
environment including ERP system to reduce
the need for printed documentation.

As explained before, during our production process,
we use a lot of steel metal, and generate metal
scraps. The use of steel is in direct proportion to our
business turnover. The generation of metal scrap can
be reduced through new and improved production
processes and we have continuously monitored and
implemented these in trying to achieve such
reductions. At the same time, we do not waste any
scrap metal as they are sold to approved scrap metal
recyclers.
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Environment and Natural Resources

The Group's business operations and activities do not
create significant environmental impact and hazards. As a
responsible corporation, we have implemented our
environmental protection policy and have complied with
all national and local environmental laws, rules and
regulations, and industry standards. We are committed to
conserving resources in order to reduce its impact on the
environment as well as saving operational costs. We
cooperate with the local government agencies and
support environmental organizations' activities to build a
"green” society. The Group has also implemented green
purchasing practices and best practice technologies to
conserve natural resources where applicable.

During the 2023 Reporting Period, freshwater, fossil fuels,
electricity and paper-based packaging materials for normal
production operation were the key elements which were
considered to have an impact on the environment. We
have continued to support all measures to reduce, reuse,
recycle, and replace as far as possible and practicable as
laid down in our Environmental Policy and Measures. The
Group has not received any warning or complaint notice
from any environmental agencies, clients or business
partners concerning the violation of any environmental
rules and regulations, the act of polluting the environment
or causing any environmental trouble. For the coming year,
we will continue to achieve zero complaints and no
pollution occurrences, and to explore new avenues and
means to accomplish our goals of conserving natural
resources and protecting the environment.
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A4:

Climate Change

The Group understands that stakeholders expect us to be
managing and mitigating climate change risks in line with
local and global commitments and recommendations. We
recognise that the impacts of climate change are varied
and long-ranging and the risks identified could prevent us
from meeting our strategic objectives and could result in
adverse operational, compliance and financial impacts.
Thus, climate change risks are considered by our Board to
be material risks and oversight is given to the Audit
Committee who is developing an overarching climate
change strategy to reduce greenhouse gas emissions with
policies and procedures to manage such potential risks
including:

Potential disruption to our operations due to
extreme weather events and changing weather
patterns;

Changing customer behaviours and requirements as
demand moves to other new machinery and
equipment such as wind turbines;

Changes in cost and availability of raw materials
(carbon neutral steel etc) and utilities such as
renewable electricity, water and gas and relevant
costs of securing and maintaining sufficient supply;

Changes to government policy, law and regulation
(including pricing carbon, renewable electricity
pricing etc), which could result in increased
operational costs and potential for litigation; and

Failure to meet expectations of stakeholders.
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Climate change is mainly caused by the release of CO, into
the atmosphere, which is directly and indirectly the result
of the use of fossil fuels for electricity generation and fuels
for forklift cars, machine tool cooling and welding. As the
world transitions to a lower-carbon sustainable economy,
there are inevitable areas that our Group can contribute to
this. After discussions with our stakeholders, we have
identified energy, water and logistics as immediate areas
that we can tackle to both combat climate change and
reduce potential costs in the future.

Energy

During the 2023 Reporting Period, the Group generated
direct and indirect greenhouse gas — CO, emissions,
through the use of fossil fuel and electricity. As explained
previously, we have implemented policies and procedures
to reduce the use of fossil fuel as well as electricity in our
operation and we will continue to invest in energy efficient
equipments and processes in our manufacturing process.
We are currently investigating the cost-benefit of partial
self-generation of renewable energy via solar panel
installation etc.

Water

Water is used both in our production process and by our
employees in their dormitories. The Group has taken
measures to encourage employees to more efficiently use
water in order to reduce its consumption. We already utilise
recycled water treatment systems in our production
facilities so as to minimise water wastage.

Logistics

In line with our climate change strategy, the carbon
footprint and sustainability of suppliers is an important
consideration and we are actively seeking logistics partners
that utilize electric vehicles or close equivalents to minimize
their own carbon footprint where possible.

For the 2023 Reporting Period, the Group’s business
operations and activities, except for the above three
aspects, did not lead to any event or issue that might
impact the climate or result in the change of the climate
significantly. The Group also has already taken measures to
lower indirect CO, emissions and freshwater consumption
for the coming year.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS
1.1 Social Areas Overview

The Group acts in an honest and transparent principle and aims
to support the building of a harmonious society and a mutually
beneficial relationship with our stakeholders including
employees, customers, suppliers, professional services providers,
local communities as well as the governing authorities. During
the formulation and implementation of our ESG strategies,
policies, rules and regulations, we incorporate our long and short-
term goals with consideration for our stakeholders and society.
We believe that our modest acts will ultimately benefit the
stakeholders and general society.

1.2 Employment and Labour Practices Aspects
B1: Employment

The Group strives to create a workplace which makes each
employee feel valued and inspired to do their best and at
all times regard our employees as valuable assets for our
sustained development and growth. It is our policy to
strictly comply with all the relevant statutory requirements
in the Labour Law of the PRC (FREE A\ R HEFE %)
and other applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, and
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for the
employment and the relevant policies, which are clearly
laid out in our Employee Handbook, including but not
limited to, appointment, termination, working hours, rest
days, statutory holidays, remunerations, various
compensations, dismissals, health, general safety and other
benefits and welfares.

The Group is committed to providing employees with
equal opportunity on recruitment, promotion,
compensation and benefits as specified in the relevant
statutory provisions. To ensure a fair and rational human
resources structure, the Group has established job
qualifications and requirements specific to each job
position in the local offices. They are taken as criteria for
recruitment, promotion and transfer. The recruitment and
decision-making processes involve both the relevant
operational levels and the Human Resources Department.
All employees enter into proper and standard employment
contracts between the Group as required by law.
Employment of child labor and forced labor is strictly
forbidden.
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In accordance with the requirements of the national
laws of the PRC such as Social Insurance Law of the
PRC(REANRHEMBE L FREIE), the
Administrative Regulations on Housing Provident
Funds (F B ATEEEIE%) and local Employment
and Labour Law of Hong Kong, the Group provides
and maintains statutory benefits to all qualified staff,
including but not limited to mandatory provident
fund, social security insurance, medical insurance,
work injury insurance and compensation and
statutory holidays.

Employees remuneration is determined with
reference to the prevailing market level in line with
their competency, qualifications, experience and job
position. Discretionary bonuses of such amounts and
at such intervals for internal employees will be
rewarded at the discretion of the top management
with consideration on performance.

Employment of the Group:
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
had the following employment breakdown:

RIE MG RERHRS
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Figure 1: Number of Employees by Gender
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Figure 2: Number of Employees by Employment Type
B ZIERLERE DB IES#H

Figure 3: Number of Employees by Role
B = : %8 o0 ESHE
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Figure 4: Number of Employees by Age
By : #FEed D ESEE

Figure 5: Number of Employees by Geographical Region
B B E S ES 2 E
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During the 2023 Reporting Period, the Group did not
have any incident of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that may have a significant
impact on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. We
are confident that the Group will achieve the same
result for the coming year.

Employment Turnover of the Group:
For the 2023 Reporting Period, a total of 39
employees left for various reasons such as personal

and further career development. A breakdown of the
employment turnover rates of the Group are broken
down as follows:

45.59%

25.81%

Figure 6: Employment Turnover Rate by Gender
B75 : 1R B IE S TR E

<> 41.38%
<> 40.63%
<> 45.83%

Figure 7: Employment Turnover Rate by Age
B+ : BERB DI BEFAEE
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11.76%

Figure 8: Employment Turnover Rate by Role
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46.25%
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Figure 9: Employment Turnover Rate by Geographical Region

B : e E 7 B EERE

Health and Safety

Given the nature of the Group's business in metal products
related manufacturing, and being a responsible employer,
the Group considers the health and safety of employees as
our primary concern. We are focused on personal
accountability, proactive hazard and incident management,
risk mitigation and creating a positive health and wellbeing
culture.

The Work Safety Law of the PRC (FRZE A REFEIZ 24
EEJ%) is the overriding law regulating health and safety of
employees in our operations. However, leadership and
culture are critical to embedding the importance of health
and safety throughout our Group. Department managers
and all employees are required to complete training to
understand the practicalities of health and safety laws and
regulations, and how they apply to our business particularly
manufacturing practices. Specific safety rules, instructions
and procedures for the safe operation of plants and
employee safety are detailed in our Employee Handbook.
The Safety Officer is responsible for the work safety and has
composed a Safety Manual, which contains the relevant
regulations and standards and developed processes
applicable to our manufacturing operations.

B2 .
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RIF- M ERERHRS

All employees are required to strictly observe the health
and safety policies, instructions and guidance and to follow
the same at work and to place safety as their priority over
production. Managers and supervisors are charged with
the responsibility of ensuring that safety policies, rules and
practices are observed. The Group has also taken out the
required insurance for all employees in accordance with
the statutory requirements of their employment locations.

The Group has equipped its production facilities with the
required safety equipment and facilities. We regularly
purchase and ensure that all employees, at all times, have
available and will use their labour safety equipment, such
as safety helmets, gloves, and goggles. We also regularly
conduct safety inspections and tests across all levels of our
production facilities and manufacturing process. For
example, we carry out the inspection and testing of heavy
machineries regularly to ensure we have satisfied our duty
to comply with provisions concerning the Safety
Supervision of Lifting Machinery (fEE 1 W Z 2 B R

=

i€ ).

In-house rules require all injuries or accidents to be
promptly reported and properly dealt with in accordance
with the national or local laws. In parallel, remedial or
compensatory actions arising from safety and health issues
or work injuries are required to be taken immediately
where necessary as stipulated by the in-house rules. The
Group did not have any record on claim disputes on
compensation or work-related injury investigation by the
government officials in the 2023 Reporting Period.

The Group had zero work-related fatalities in the past three
years including the 2023 Reporting Period in any of our
operations. Furthermore, during the 2023 Reporting Period,
there was 1 light injury case of factory worker resulting
from carelessness (For 2022 Reporting Period: 2 cases).

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEEBRIZERERAD

FREBTIARKREBTILE
TFPBREREREZ2HR
BRKRES TRE2ER
FEZE-REBRFES

HRZ 2R RARIED
EET AEETRERE
BB EEERABPABERTL
RV TRIRE

AEBC B EERIBEHFT
BUBENZERE KRR -
HPERBEELRRB-FE
REEREESHNLEER
I B (R 2 58 B TIME R &
BHEREILERARER
HPITERREEERM R
EREFNESEERETZE
BERASA - BHMES > K
FIE AR E R R S E B -
UHERETHABEEHM R
EEREENHESCERT -

NERRERKRERERAA
REAFH > LRBFE RN
B ERTUEERIE -
e B B > AR 3% P BB AR B - i
ER2ANZERBERHE
5 T F 5% = £% X BD By 48 R Bk
ﬁE?MOZ;__Eﬁi
Him ~EBEBEREYA
FBHFAERELEBENHD
EfAIECE o

BE=ZF (BE_T =%
HH) > REBETEREHEFR
MEmELCTHIET SR LL
N BT ZFRER
B1IRIBIAERR/NOTSE
B GERG (T2 FR
L£HI2F) o



B3:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIS ERERIRS

A total of 22 lost days were recorded during the 2023
Reporting Period, which was 8 days less than the 2022
Reporting Period. All of the injured employees had been
well-taken care immediately after the occurrence with no
dispute or claim arising thereafter. Furthermore, there was
no other accident or incident of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards which could have a significant
impact on the production operations or businesses of the
Group. Our low injury rate shows that our safety and health
policies and measures including training are effectively
implemented and adhered to. The Group targets to
achieve a zero injury and casualty result for the coming
year.

Development and Training

As a professional organisation, we provide our employees
with numerous career development and job-specific
training opportunities covering a range of areas, including
but not limited to professional development, trade skills,
quality improvement, customer service, leadership and
safety. Employees are encouraged to engage in self-
development by taking external training programs and
seminars.
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Below is the breakdown stating the percentage of
employees trained during the 2023 Reporting Period and
the 2022 Reporting Period by gender and operational role:

Training (No. of employees)

EA (B TAED)

Percentage of employees trained

ZIEINE TR

Male
Bk

Female

Eog )

Managerial staff

EHEAB

Operational staff

EBAE

General staff
EiBAS
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Below is the breakdown stating the hours of training
provided during the 2023 Reporting Period and the 2022
Reporting Period by gender and operational role:

Average training hours per employee

588 TFIEINNE

Total average training hours per employee 2023
B8 8 THEFIGEINNE —T-=

2022

BT F

Average training hours for male 2023
B FI1ENNEF —B_=

2022

BT F

Average training hours for female 2023

R FI9IF —EZ=HF

2022

B _F

Average training hours for managerial staff 2023
EIEA S FIIENNE —T-=

2022

BT F

Average training hours for operational staff 2023
FHABEFIIENNE —B_=

2022

BT HF

Average training hours for general staff 2023

EiE A BT 9iE0 —EZ=HF

2022

B _F
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B4:

Labor Standards

The Group adopts the statutory requirements and
standards applicable to our business operations to be our
minimum labor standard on labor protection and welfare.
The Group is committed to ensuring its full compliance
and all management and supervisory levels are made
aware of this.

Banning the employment of child labor, illegal workers and
forced labor is achieved through the recruitment and
employment process at source by the Human Resources
Department. All job applicants are required to submit their
credentials such as academic qualifications, professional
skill certificates, references and identity card for verification
and record purpose during recruitment. Such information
is kept as the employee’s personal file for record and future
reference and government inspection.

The Head of the Human Resources Department and the
heads of relevant departments are entrusted with the duty
of overseeing its compliance and are also responsible for
ensuring that all labor protection and welfare obligations
are complied with and any breaches of statutory
compliance are brought to the attention of the senior
levels.

During the 2023 Reporting Period, no case of child labor or
forced labor employment was reported or detected. For
the coming year, we will continue to maintain our zero
tolerance to forced and child labour.

@ BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEEBRIZERERAD
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B5: Supply Chain Management B5 ! (HEMEEIE
R_B_=ZFREH> HR
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o

Local

S

Overseas

=2\

During the 2023 Reporting Period, owing to the special
nature of our raw materials, we only sourced raw materials
from 8 local suppliers and no raw materials were sourced
from overseas.

Figure 10: Number of Suppliers by Geographical Location
B+ : ##Hh B & 7 R EE

The Procurement Department is responsible for the
procurement of raw materials. It also manages the
procurement price, cost and supplier based on the
company’s development plan and sales targets, and to
keep enough inventories to meet customer requirements.

The principal raw materials that we use for the
manufacturing of slewing rings include forged rings
(primarily made from gear steel and carbon round steel),
steel balls and spacers. Our suppliers of raw materials are
located in the PRC. We do not enter into any long-term
supply agreement with our suppliers. We procure our raw
materials by individual sales orders on a case by case basis
and the price and quantity of the raw materials required is
negotiated on a case by case basis as and when we require
the materials to meet a new sales order.
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The Group has, in place, a very detailed supply and
purchase management system adopting different approval
authorities at different hierarchy levels of the Management
Team depending upon the department and the types of
purchase transactions they enter into.

In general, the Purchase Manager, Chief Financial Officer,
COO and CEO form the execution and supervision
purchase chain at different monetary levels. Each level is
accountable to the one above on the monetary limits they
are authorized to purchase. Purchasers are required not to
place an order when the order exceeds the authorization
level. The approving level is required to ensure that
requests for purchase are in order before authorizing.

All purchases of the Group follow in principle the
established prevalent trade practice and industry norms
under which 3 tenderers (where possible) or more will be
invited for tender depending on various factors like
contract value, amount involved, technicality and time
constraints. All purchase transactions are subject to the
scrutiny of internal hierarchy supervisions at different levels
depending on its contract value and significance and
subject to the overall scrutiny of external independent
audit checks. All capital expenditure purchases have to be
authorized and approved by the headquarters.

Specificity, timeliness, quantity and quality are the major
selection criteria for suppliers. Sustainability and our carbon
footprint are also considered in our selection process.
Technical standards agreements covering chemical
composition, mechanical performance etc. are typically
entered into with suppliers of raw materials, particularly for
forged rings.
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Product Responsibilities

Product Quality

We focus on high quality assurance as we believe that the
quality and consistency of our products are critical to our
ability to retain our customers and to expand market share.
Not only do we maintain I1SO 9001:2008/15 quality
management system(s), we also comply with some of the
highest international standards as required by our Japanese
customers, including the JIS, JB and JB/T standards in
Japan. To maintain our competitive edge and to
continuously improve quality and sustainability, we are also
committed to investing in increasing our production
capabilities with new high-end plants and equipment and
automation technologies. For example, new machines are
equipped with thermostats to ensure the temperature is
consistent and help to reduce cracking of slewing rings
and product failure rate. By working closely with our
customers, we are able to keep abreast of the latest
product development and knowledge.

The major parts of our quality assurance procedures and
processes are:

Our quality assurance team inspects the incoming
materials to ensure they are in line with our purchase
order, such as the quantity, specifications, serial
number, material, dimension and the physical
condition. We will also check the test report provided
by our supplier. For forged rings, we also check the
serial number marked or imprinted on them to
ensure that the material supplied is correct.

On a sampling basis, we will take measurement of,
and conduct visual inspection on our forged rings to
see if there are any defects on their surface.

On a sampling basis, we arrange for independent
services providers to check the chemical
composition of our incoming raw materials. This is to
make sure that the chemical composition conforms
to our specifications set forth in our purchase order.

IRIGHTERER
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For the steel balls, our inspection team regularly
inspects their sphericity and hardness on a sampling
basis. We return substandard raw materials to
suppliers if they do not pass our inspection.

Upon completion of the manufacturing process, our
quality assurance department will conduct final
quality assurance test on the products, which
includes measuring the assembly clearance and
whether the outer and inner rings can rotate
smoothly.

To ensure our heat treatment is carried out properly
and up to the standard required by our customers,
we take samples from the finished products for tests
and dissect them to perform various tests on their
precision and accuracy and other quality
requirements.

We conduct quality testing on all finished products
to ensure that they comply with our customers’
specifications.

Our general warranty policy provides a warranty period of
1,500 -3,000 hours of operation or one to two years
(whichever occurs first), and we will not be liable if the
warranty period has expired. If, during the warranty period,
our products are found substandard, we will be liable to
indemnify our customers of their acquisition costs of the
product, and in some instances of the repairing costs and
other disbursements.

During the 2023 Reporting Period, heat treatment for the
entire work-in-progress was conducted with the average
passing rate of approximately 99.62%. Because of the very
specific nature of our products and the requirements for
near perfect quality assurance, the Group has not received
any quality complaint or claim against our products. In the
coming year, we will continue our stringent quality control
to live up to our near perfect product quality.
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Handling of Complaints

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that all
customer complaints or concerns are addressed to the
appropriate department in a timely manner. In our sales
contracts, there are clear clauses specifying our
responsibilities under quality issues. The Sales Department
is responsible for handling all sales complaint issues.
Standing arrangements are also in place for an
independent third party to adjudicate on any unresolved
disputes between the Sales Department and the client.
Consequential remedial actions will be taken promptly and
in a responsible manner. During the 2023 Reporting Period,
we have not received any quality complaint or claim
against our products.

Intellectual Property Right

The Group, up to the end of the 2023 Reporting Period, has
built up a portfolio of intellectual property rights including
33 patents registered in the PRC that are material to our
business as well as 23 trademarks registered in the PRC
and/or Hong Kong.

We primarily rely on trademark and intellectual property
laws, and confidentiality agreements with our senior
employees, to protect all intellectual property relating to
the Group and operations. We purchase and utilise fully
licensed software in our operations.

For the 2023 Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
of any infringement of its or any other intellectual property
rights including which had or could have a material
adverse effect on our business, and there was claim or legal
proceedings brought against the Group. We will continue
to maintain similar results on our intellectual property
rights in the coming years.
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B7:

Privacy

The Group’s main business and operation has generated a
substantial volume of private, confidential and sensitive
information of customers, suppliers, business partners
including the operation status and financial positions,
commercial terms of contracts, general background
information, patented production technology, etc. These
types of information are extremely sensitive and important,
and by law, have to be cautiously safequarded and
protected. The Group fully understands its obligation and
has taken measures to ensure strictest protection of the
information against unauthorized access, use and
disclosure through a variety of security technologies and
procedures.

The Group fully abides by all relevant laws and regulations
regarding privacy and utilization of data. Our employees
have been trained to handle the sensitive information
during the course of business with due care. The Group has
incorporated the Confidential Clause into the Staff
Handbook and Employment Contract, under which all
employees are obligated to follow.

During the 2023 Reporting Period, same as the 2022
Reporting Period, the Group did not have any incident of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
had a significant impact on the Group relating to
advertising, labelling and privacy matters. We also target
the same result for the coming years.

Anti-corruption

The Group is well aware of the importance of honesty,
integrity, fairness and transparency in our business
operations. The Group strictly prohibits any form of fraud or
bribery, and is committed to the prevention, deterrence,
detection and investigation of all forms of fraud and
bribery. An important aspect of accountability and
transparency is a whistle-blowing mechanism for
employees and stakeholders of the Group to voice out any
concern on improprieties or suspected improprieties in a
responsible and effective manner.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED KEEEBRIZERERAD
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The enhanced version of anti-corruption and whistle-
blowing policy is established pursuant to a resolution
passed by the Board at its meeting held on 22 March 2022.

All employees are required to declare any conflict of
interests in the execution of their roles and duties. Through
the establishment of these rules and regulations, the Group
encourages all employees to discharge their duties with
integrity and comply with the relevant laws and
regulations.

Transactions in large monetary sums are processed
through bank transactions which require authorized
signatories of the appropriate levels depending on the
amount involved. Checks and balances have been installed
in the Group for money transaction activities and are
considered effective and adequate.

If an employee becomes aware of any actual or suspected
breach of the anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policy,
he/she must report such incident(s) directly to the
Corporate Governance Committee, which will investigate
the case and take the appropriate course of action in
response (including but not limited to referring the case to
the Board and/or the Management). Failure to comply with
any provision of this section is a serious matter, which may
result in disciplinary actions (including but not limited to
dismissal with or without notice), and in the extreme case,
may lead to prosecution under applicable local laws and
regulations.

The Group is strongly encouraged for the whistle blower to
identify himself/herself. Investigations may be hindered if
the Group is unable to contact the whistle blower for more
information. The Group is committed to protecting whistle
blowers who report in good faith. The identity of whistle-
blowers will not be disclosed unless it is absolutely
necessary for the purpose of the investigation and will not
be disclosed without prior notice to the whistle blower.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIR-HERERIRS

Whistle-Blowing Protection

Non-Retaliation: The Group will not tolerate any form of
retaliation against the whistle-blower and will take all
appropriate actions to protect whistle-blowers as long as
the concern raised is in good faith, with no malicious
intent.

Confidentiality: The Group will do its utmost to protect the
whistle-blower’s identity. However, there may be instances
in the investigation process which require the identity of
the whistle-blower to be made known. (e.g. when the
source of the information or a witness is required.)

Untrue Allegations: If an individual makes an allegation in
good faith, and that allegation was proven untrue by
subsequent investigation, no action will be taken against
that individual. On the other hand, when an individual is
found to be making malicious or vexatious allegations, and
especially if he or she persists with making or pursuing
them, disciplinary action may be taken against that
individual.

During the 2023 Reporting Period, same as the 2022
Reporting Period, the Group recorded no bribery nor
corruption charge and is confident to achieve a similar
result for the coming years.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Community Investment

The Group fully understands its social obligations and the
need for contribution to the society. Through the day-to-
day contact with various local government officials and
industry leaders, the Group continues to explore and
examine how the Group can contribute more and in a
better way to the local community and society. The Group
encourages and supports our staff and workers to
participate in voluntary social welfare works, including
giving paid leave to employees for undertaking such
activities. The Group has implemented measures with an
objective to reduce hazardous and non-hazardous air
emissions and wastes discharges and continues to find
ways and to implement measures to reduce air emissions
and wastes discharge. Furthermore, the Group supported
the local communities by prioritising its purchases with the
local suppliers.

As part of our charitable efforts during the 2023 Reporting
Period, the Group demonstrated a strong commitment to
community investment through a series of impactful
activities. The Group donated HK$3,000,000 to HKEX
Foundation Limited for Stock Code for Charity Scheme on
20 September 2023. The Group also participated in a Flag
Selling event on 9 October 2023 held by Stewards, and the
Group donated HK$8,000. Throughout 2023, the Group
visited The Mental Health Association of Hong Kong and
donated 29 boxes of mooncakes and 22 boxes of pyrus.
Additionally, to further support The Mental Health
Association of Hong Kong, the Group also purchased
cleaning services for HK$3,900 and the Group has
participated in the Walk & Talk Fundraising event on 25
November 2023.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EER S

To the Shareholders of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(the “Company’) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 129 to 198, comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

B R EEMER S

ERNER

RMPERBEBESHMAGRHI(FRAES
FRADETES - RAERFERN TRENSE
FEEERRSES MRBEMMB SRS B HREA
ENSEI MBoREE— DML -

HPIRGE RFIFMERSINBE RELETER
BEMSRFANEAEREHER -

‘|t
BEEEBEMASRHN(EXEMmER
STRD AT TFAL) - A\ EE
» ERTSTAITIEMEXEREE -

ik

HRBEFFTRESRERMANEERHE > VR
HEARREVBBRRNEARAEENFE -
BEFHERARMBABRGEVHREK
TARRRETEEN RS HELES
HipHBEBNER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

TE=FER @



Independent Auditor’s Report
B EER S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue recognition

— revenue recognised at a point in time.

Key Audit Matter
RRENSFE

FAREETEIE &

FZPEBStT AR EBSFTEE AN
AFESE — ISR RGPS U A ©

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BMHE N A EIEMEE A FIE

Revenue recognition — revenue recognised at a point in
time

Ur A FEEE — BB R REFREB LA

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BERMBRMERNEES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised
revenue of HK$143,779,000 primarily from manufacturing and
trading of machinery products and mechanical parts.

BE_Z_—F+_FB=1+—HIFE > SEEEIK
143,77900078 70 FERBEEREE—RIIEHE R &

HRMZ 1

Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control, at a point in time,
being when the products are delivered to the customers, the
customer has full discretion over the usage of the products, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products.

WA TGRSR R R B REE S mAVIHE - B
ERXNTFERZE  BERBEATEHZES Em 2M1E
T BEAEREERETERNERBITE

We focused on this area because significant audit resources were
devoted to this area due to the large volume of revenue
transactions from various customers during the year.
RPZFUREE—BE » EAAERZZERNKRARS
BEREX BUEHFARATARENSTEIR

Our procedures in relation to the auditing of revenue
recognition included:

RMBEAE SN A RN ESEFEE

We understood, evaluated and tested, on a sample basis,
the Group's relevant controls in relation to revenue
recognition;

BATHR TETZRaEEENR SEEEW
ABER B RRVABRAIES ;

We tested, on a sample basis, the sales transactions by
examining the relevant supporting documents including
but not limited to sales orders, invoices, delivery
documents and customer’s acknowledgements etc. to
assess whether revenue was properly recognised; and
BB B EREHERZ ETHERE
K#@%ET@F% FTEBE \§§ﬁ§ﬁ
K@F:E J'/(D:FTE”&)\ZEEJ—_EEEE@MJ :EFD

We tested, on a sample basis, the sales transactions
recognised before and after the balance sheet date by
tracing to the relevant supporting documents including
but not limited to the delivery documents and
customer’s acknowledgements etc. to assess whether
revenue was recognised in the correct reporting period.
&ﬁﬂéé%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬁ“%Lﬁ%
AR > BAENEAZAXHEEFEERRENRR
ENEREINHGEE FTERARSETERNY
BEEHRD WA ©

Based on the procedures performed, we found that the Group's
revenue recognised was supported by the evidence obtained.
ERPATHRER  HMER SEENRARIDESR
BX e
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in Best Linking
Group Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report (the “annual report”) other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. We
have obtained some of the other information including Corporate Information,
Directors and Senior Management and Environmental, Social and Governance
Report prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The remaining other
information, including Management Discussion and Analysis, Report of the
Directors and the other sections to be included in the annual report, is
expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the annual
report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee and take
appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
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B EER S

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chan Hong Wing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEENmR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #E_ZE_=F+"A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=-= TECF
Note HK$’000 HKS$'000
B EE TF#T TET
Revenue & 5 143,779 127,730
Cost of sales 5 & A A 6 (82,990) (69,806)
Gross profit EH 60,789 57,924
Other income HAaA 8 555 567
Other gains, net Hh a5 58 9 378 1333
Selling and distribution expenses THE R DHRE 6 (3,367) (2,687)
Administrative expenses TERESZ 6 (30,962) (15,891)
Operating profit R 27,393 41,246
Finance income FRE A 11 725 190
Finance cost EE= %N 11 (15) 4)
Finance income, net B AR 710 186
Profit before income tax PRI AT EF 28,103 41,432
Income tax expense FTiRiRFE 12 (6,064) (6,503)
Profit for the year attributable to KABEB NEM
owners of the Company P E A 22,039 34,929
Other comprehensive income Eﬂﬂiﬁlﬂlﬁ
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss BEEMNEE
E’\] HE
Currency translation differences B E =8 22 (1,944) (4,895)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEKELEEE 20,095 30,034
Earnings per share for profit attributable to KABEmTFE AN
equity holders of the Company for the year FENRFNEREF]
Basic and diluted earnings per share BREAREERT]
(HK cents per share) (BRAEMW) 13 5.5 8.7

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read  _Eift43 4 2 W 25 38 FE B BB MY i 5 — RS o

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

HEEERBR

As at 31 December 2023 W_ZE_=F+_H=+—H

2023 2022
—E=-= -
Note HK$’000 HKS$'000
B &5 TF#T FET
Assets B5E
Non-current assets JERBIEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB KRB 15 23,372 25,129
Prepayments and deposits BNRIEBEREE 18 919 818
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE E 27 572 475
24,863 26,422
Current assets MENEE
Inventories 75 19 23,125 20,634
Trade receivables B 5 EWEIE 17 44,291 41,707
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERRIE s e K
HAth &R IE 18 12,648 9,422
Current income tax recoverable BPEARTUR Bl PRASHR 11 -
Pledged bank deposit B IRITER 20 5,028 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERIIRESEEY 20 54,891 51,003
139,994 122,766
Total assets BEERE 164,857 149,188
Equity T
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KABNHER NEL#ER
Share capital (&N 21 4,000 4,000
Reserves (E 22 143,660 139,565
Total equity R 4aEa 147,660 143,565

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD



Consolidated Balance Sheet

mEEERR

As at 31 December 2023 W_ZE_=F+_"_H=+—H

2023 2022
—E= B
Note HK$’000 HKS$'000
B =% FExT FBxT
Liabilities =i
Non-current liability JERBER
Lease liabilities HESRE 23 148 79
148 79
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables B ERIE 24 4,812 1,034
Bank borrowings RITER 25 8,093 =
Accruals and other payables FEEtERREMBENRIE 26 3,901 3,485
Current income tax liabilities BIHAFR SR &aE = 924
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 243 101
17,049 5,544
Total liabilities BfRAHE 17,197 5623
Total equity and liabilities RmkaEEE 164,857 149,188

The consolidated financial statements on pages 129 to 198 were approved by 120 F 198BS M B EXEHREZT TN

the Board of Directors on 19 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf. “EIME=At+h Btz TRREEE
BE o
Chan Yuk Pan Chan Lung Pan
FRIE I PREE
Director Director
EFE EFE

iy

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the — _E#it4R 4 E B 5 2% FE B BB H B 5 — HBI3E o

accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

MA@ EER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZT_=

FE+-A=+—HLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NAEER AR
Share Share Capital Statutory  Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve eamings Total
A ROEE B4ARE ATHE ELRE FREEF fast
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TET TET TER TET
(Note 21) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 22) (Note 22)
(fskor)  (eE21) (W& (22 (&)
Balance at 1 January 2022 W-E--%-F-H
HkaER 4000 26511 13,000 3205 3,767 79,048 129531
Profit for the year EREH - = = = - 34929 34929
Other comprehensiveincome  Hfti2EIE
Currency translation differences B EER = - = = (4,895) = (4,895)
Total comprehensive income FAZERGRE
for the year - = = = (4,895) 34929 30,034
Transactions with equity holders: EiEZHERANKS
Dividends paid (Note 21) EfRE (zE21) - (16,000) - - - - (16,000)
Transfer to statutory reserve BERETTEE - - = 1522 = (1522) -
- (16000 - 1522 - (152 (16000
Balance at31 December2022  HZEZZ
+ZRA=+—-BMEER 4000 10511 13,000 4707 (1128) 112455 143,565

@ BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2 A diE 2L 424
reEmEER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #E_ZE_=F+"A=+—HILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
YNGiE NG AT
Share Share Capital  Statutory Exchange  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
Bx RYEE BrRE EEHE ERRE GRIRN Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT Ti#T THET T#ET THRT TET
(Note21)  (Note21) (Note22) (Note22) (Note22)
(Msx21)  (ffsE21)  (MsE22)  (MaE22)  (M¥aE22)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E-=§—-B—-H
MR 4,000 10,511 13,000 4,727 (1,128) 112455 143,565
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - 22,039 22,039
Other comprehensiveincome  Hfti 2
Currency translation differences EhEETE = - - - (1,944) - (1,944)
Total comprehensive income FRNEEWNGERE
for the year - - - - (1,944) 22,039 20,095
Transactions with equity holders: EiEZERANRS
Dividends paid (Note 21) EfRE (Hz£21) - (10,511) - - - (5489)  (16,000)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRESATHE - - - 1,634 - (1,634) -
- (10511) - 1,634 - (7,123)  (16,000)
Balanceat31December2023 H-ZZ=Hf
+ZRA=+—-BHEER 4,000 - 13,000 6,361 (3072) 127,371 147,660

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in  _E#lt 4% & 1 7 5245 3R FE LA BB R Y 5T — (RIS o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —R-=4&%#H @
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mARERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE_E_=F+_HA=+—HIELFE

2023 2022
—®_= TECF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5F TF#T TAET
Cash flows from operating activities REFEHHERE
Cash generated from operations REMBIRE 30(a) 25,282 31,093
Income tax paid BEFR1EHR (7,079) (10,266)
Interest received 2 UF S 725 190
Net cash generated from operating activities 4F= EENFRISIRE R 18,928 21,017
Cash flows from investing activities BREFBHERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEEYE MERRE (464) (3,873)
Payments for construction in progress ERIENIE (1,489) (6,387)
Proceeds from disposal of property, ﬁ’i%*@% B
plant and equipment REPTIETRIAE 37 -
Net cash used in investing activities REEHFAARE R (1,916) (10,260)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEBHRERE
Payment of interest elements of lease liabilities T NHEESEN SIS 30(b) (15) )
Payment of principal elements of lease liabilities ~ X E&BBEEREIH 30(b) (167) (104)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERBPTERRIE 30(b) 8,093 =
Payment of pledged bank deposit F A BERFRITER 30(b) (5,028) -
Dividends paid BENRKRE (16,000) (16,000)
Net cash used in financing activities P EEN FRAIRE R (13,117) (16,108)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  IR& RIRE EEY)
12, Gab) 3,895 (5351)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F4#)I8 % KIREHBEY) 51,003 56,387
Currency translation differences EinEEtE (7) (33)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear FRIREKRAEEEY 54,891 51,003

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in itz &IRE 72 RAE LA s — HEIE o
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 October
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act (2022 Revision) (as consolidated or revised from time to
time) of the Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
31 October 2019 and are transferred to the listing on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 28 September 2023. The address of the
Company's registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The ultimate holding company of the Company is C Centrum Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands and
wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Yuk Pan.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of machinery
products and mechanical parts (the “Business”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKS$") unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under historical cost convention. The preparation
of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note
4.

AR MR R M

—RRE
KABRBREFERTE (CEZ
FEF) (BREBEANE) RZE
—N\FE+BZ+ A BEHRSESEMN
URERRERBERAT - ERMN-ZE
—NWEFE+B=+—HR&EBMSXZF
BIRAB (TBE3ZPR)) GEM L Z 2
“=F AR+ /N\BREAI AT ERER
£ e KRB B EE M E R M S
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ©

KANB N EREERABAC Centrum
Holdings Limited (—fE R EBEH RS
HEMMIZNAR) BEHREWLEESRE
WA o

FABRKREERAT  HB AR E
EUFRENEERME R REMT
(TARMEH) -

B BRI GrE M FEHRERL BT (T8
JTl) £5) °

ANEBERGTHRED

HEMBRRDREMEEREEBMT
HEER (ERMBHRSEN) EE
EBIF62BEBREFROIRVIRENRE
MM REMBRERDRBELAERIE
BliRR - BAETEBT W HRESEAH
HEMBRRBECRAE THREISHE
5t o EFEAAE B & 5 BERABE R IR
FEEEBTEHNE - I RSEEH
B S M 1 PV S H R R M (5t B R
BMBRERMES BEARBHLEIHEE4
WEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR AR M EE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new and amended
standards for its annual reporting period commencing 1 January
2023:

Disclosure of Accounting Policies — Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Definition of Accounting Estimates — Amendments to
HKAS 8

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a
Single Transaction — Amendments to HKAS 12

International Tax Reform— Pillar Two Model —
Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts — HKFRS 17 and amendments to
HKFRS 17

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information — HKFRS 17

The adoption of the above new and amended standards did not
have any significant impact on the amounts recognised in prior
periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or
future periods.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR R M

177 (==

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 RRBERGTHERES @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Amended standards and interpretations which have
been issued but are not yet effective and have not

22 BEERERKER > BRE
FEE R P RAEETER

been early adopted by the Group Rt
Certain amendments to accounting standards and interpretations S ERZREN G TEIAER

nafs > MAR T _ME—F—H
W2 BB BREERGIERA
MEREAEBIRRRMN - ZZER|

BX <T 9
P

have been published that are mandatory for financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and have not been early
adopted by the Group. These are:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RT5IBMsZE

MR E AR ER

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
BEGTERE 15 (B5T4) BRI EARBIIER —ZmM&E—/F—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
ARG EAIE F(ﬂ’;‘uﬁk) M ZaNIERE &R —E_E—F—H
Amendments to HKFRS 1 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%i&ﬁéﬁ,ﬁu%m%ﬁ (BET ) EREENEERRE —ZE-E—F—H

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)

BEBREE ST (K]

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

BEEHENE T REREBMHRS
2R 57 5% (1BFT )

Amendments to HKAS 21

EE DRI 2158 (1BFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BEMBREEAF 105 R
BBGFERE 285 (BITX)

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

MHBRRER — ERARHBREREBERRN
EHER DA

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HAEmRE 25

Lack of Exchangeability

Az AR

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REEHEBE AT HAE AR ZEN
BELEFIE

1 January 2024

“EWFE—-F—H
1 January 2024
“EmWFE—-F—H
1 January 2025
“Z2-RF—RA—H

To be determined

S

an

AEEEFERSEETEIRE
,%ﬁﬁ‘ziﬁi ERZREBZZE X
FEREERARMERNAERZ FE KM

Eﬂ%%ﬂlﬁ(u‘% TREMEATE -

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these amended standards and interpretations of HKFRS
and is not yet in a position to state whether they would have a
significant impact on the Group's results and financial position.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

—EC=GER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR AR M EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, credit risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
procedures focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the People's
Republic of China ("PRC") and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US dollars (“USD") and
Renminbi ("RMB"). Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities,
which are denominated in these currencies. Since HKS is
pegged to USD, the Group believes the exposure of
transactions denominated in USD which are entered into
the Group to be insignificant.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has

not entered into any derivative instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange exposures (2022: Nil).

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR R M

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 MBRRKRESEBER @
MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBAKER (&

(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SERME (&)

RZEZ=F+ZRA=+—

A HETRAREH &
@%,M&AE%R%E
F+,/82 B 5% - i Fr A H th &

As at 31 December 2023, if USD has strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB, and RMB has strengthened/
weakened by 5% against HKS, with all other variables held
constant, the post-tax profit for the year would have

changed mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/ ERFAE FERRE R
losses on translation of USD and RMB denominated on FMEEMmEE TEHNE
pledged bank deposit, cash and cash equivalents, trade BMUETRARKSENE

BRRTER -HERRE
EEY - B 5 RHEAME R
BREZEMRE RITE
R e EL A P A TR IR BY BE 52 UK
W/ EEEPE R

and other receivables and trade payable, bank borrowings
and other payables, as follows:

2023 2022
= =2 TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#T TET
Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase prfR B A CRlz) /18 -
when RMB against USD ES)\ET—'\%( %TEIZ—_?—
— Strengthened 5% — FHE 5% 2,398 1,210
— Weakened 5% — BB 5% (2,398) (1,210)
Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase BrfR B CRlzl) /18 »
when HK$ against RMB Mlﬁi’\/\ﬁ”ﬂﬁ:?
— Strengthened 5% — F1E5% 59 224
— Weakened 5% — BB 5% (59) (224)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3

A5 ERAR MTEE

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK

MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Creditrisk
(i) Risk management

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged
bank deposit and cash and cash equivalents. Majority
of bank deposits are placed with reputable banks
and financial institutions. The maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated balance
sheet.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that credit
terms are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers. The Group's historical
experience in collection of trade and other
receivables falls within the recorded allowances and
the shareholder are of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables has been
made.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, pledged bank deposit and
cash and cash equivalents represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, 52% (2022:
55%) of the Group's revenue was derived from its
top five customers. As at 31 December 2023, 71% of
the total trade receivables were due from the
Group's top five customers (2022: 71%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tn e MBERR M

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Creditrisk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
The Group has two types of financial assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss model:

trade receivables; and

other financial assets at amortised cost.

Trade receivables

The Group then determines the provision for
expected credit losses by grouping the trade
receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due, and applying expected credit
loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts of
the trade receivables. The expected loss rates are
based on the probability of a receivable progressing
through successive stages of delinquency to write-
off. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

Trade receivables are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, no provision of
impairment for trade receivables were made as the
expected loss rate were minimal.

17177 g |
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Creditrisk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
pledged bank deposit, cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables. Impairment on other financial
assets are measured as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit loss,
depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit losses. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the counterparties to
settle the receivables. The Group has closely
monitored the credit qualities and the collectability
of the other financial assets at amortised cost and
the loss allowance for other financial assets at
amortised cost as at 31 December 2022 and 2023
was immaterial.

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets or
liabilities except for pledged bank deposit, cash and cash
equivalents and bank borrowings. The maturity dates of
the bank borrowings are within 3 months.

Hence our Group's income and operating cash flows are
less dependent on changes in market interest rates.
Accordingly, our directors are of the opinion that our Group
does not have significant cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk and no sensitivity analysis is performed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 BHEARRESEMEE =
MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MHBEAREE @
(iv) Liquidity risk (iv) REVEZRME
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining BENTBESRAREER
sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Our Group’s liquidity KEEREONIRERIRS
risk is further mitigated through the availability of financing EEY - AEBBBUERK
through its own cash resources to meet its financial BHNREERESME > U
commitments. In the opinion of our directors, our Group FE(T HLBA 75 > 3B LUE—
does not have any significant liquidity risk. TREERBEETRAR F
ERA > AEELEEMRE
A RENEE R
The following tables show the remaining contractual TREIIUENRMIRIRE
maturities at the end of each reporting period of our MEAREAEBSHE
Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual BERESHREHPRZHFBTEY
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date our Group I RAEBRBEMNRZ &
can be required to pay. Balances due within 12 months PEHHBE -BHRITBENZER
equal their carrying balances (including both interest and Ao K128 B R B H B 4 B
principal) as the impact of discounting is not significant. FRHIREAR (BEFER
KiE) ©
Repayable  Lessthan Between Between
on demand Tyear 1and2years 2and5years Over5 years Total
BEXEE 18R 1E2f 2E5E SEH CH
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TET TET TET TET TET TEr
Asat31December2023  HZEZ=
+ZB=+-H
— Trade payables —BAENZE - 4,812 - - - 4,812
— Bank borrowings —BTfER - 8,093 - - - 8,093
— Accruals and other payables — fE 3t & R 2 th
EfRE - 2,687 - - - 2,687
— Lease iabilties —HEER - 258 150 - - 408
- 15,850 150 - - 16,000
As at 31 December 2022 RIBE-_F
+ZA=+-H
— Trade payables —BREANZIE - 1034 = - - 1034
— Accruals and other payables — fEst BB R Eft
eV - 2616 - - - 2616
— Lease liabilites —HE&ak - 108 81 - = 189
- 3,758 81 - - 3839
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A=~
e A

3

A5 ERAR MTEE

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank borrowings
amounted to HK$8,093,000 (2022: Nil) and maturing within 3
months.

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets, including
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged bank
deposit, cash and cash equivalents, and financial liabilities,
including trade payables, bank borrowings and accruals and
other payables and lease liabilities approximated their fair values
as at the reporting date due to their short maturities.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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RERARRETRARER =

3.2

33

B EE

rEEZEABEEBRNRERSE
E A EE > Un kRS ROR
23 H A0 & 2R A m 0 R4
RREZEREBLURBESMNE

ATHFNRABERERE  ~&H
AREERAEINTRENRES
B ORRFEES BITWRKRN
HEEEDUREET o

AT =F+"H=1+—H' &
EBERIRITERNA 8,093,000 87T (Z
T _FE) o R=ZEBNEHE

DFEZHE

MR EEHEE  AEERRER
HNEMEE (BEEZBUEE
BERHMEWRIE - ERFIRTT
R RERREEEY) KR
BE (BEEZRAME RITE
R FE 5t B PR R ELA B A "R IE e 7
E&R) ZIREEHEEATERS -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed

below.

(a)

(b)

Provision for slow moving inventories

The Group makes provision for slow moving inventories based on
assessing the needs and reasonableness of provision for slowing
moving inventories at each period end. The identification of slow
moving inventories requires the use of judgments and key
assumptions which take into consideration of historical sales
pattern, ageing and expectation of future sales orders. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision for
inventories in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

Impairment of right of use assets

The Group leased land and buildings in the PRC for the purposes
of its office premises and manufacturing plant under an operating
lease of 10 years where the leased land and buildings, classified
as right of use assets of the Group were without land and
property ownership certificates and the construction planning
permit. Without the certificates and permit, the existing land and
buildings might be ordered for demolition or confiscated and the
lease may be deemed as invalid. Our directors are of the opinion,
based on the advice from the Group’s external legal adviser, that
the title defect of the leased land and buildings does not affect
the operation of production facility of the Group. It is unlikely to
be terminated or interrupted or to have a material effect on the
carrying amount of the right of use assets which was included in
right of use assets totalling HK$1,401,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$2,018,000).

AR MR R M

BR 58 & 51 (i 51 B FU Ef

s RFV B B E T B EE SR
REMRARSZE > BERARIERL TR
RAEEZHBREMFIER -

AEBHYRRIFLGES RER -BERR
£ EtEFARLOSEERERER
TXHREFIEGERN MEMBEERN
HEERBRZREBFHERFAEZ
BRARZ A5t RRE e

(a) WHELHEE
AEBREHARRETET RS
HErERRRSoEAFHESS
REHE - AR BIHTEEREITEH
b KRGSt > EhE R EIBEH
EREXN ERARERBETER
HA o FRAIA RN RS Bl
ERRTEFENREEKRBRG
St T E R -

(b) EREEERE
NEBMPMAEYEREEHER
PEBEE T RIEF > KEHES
A0 > TN iEARERBE AR
B ENEE Tt RIEF I E 1
YRR A RS R ER TR EIF A
FHollEZERERTFAE > IRA
T AR F A] BE #N BRI B UK
REEAERBRIEEN - EHR
Ao REAREEIIEZBERENE
R B LM MIEF R R
NHEAERFERMBHNEE - H
K BT BEH 4% LE oY H 7 3 165 FR A
EERAEEENEATE At
RBTAFRAREE RITE2ET =%
+—B=+—H%1401,000%E5T (=
T4 12018000 7T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR AR M EE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes mainly in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Significant judgment is required in determining
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination are made.

Loss allowance of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgment in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's
historical default rates, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
The Group recognised lifetime expected credit loss for trade
receivables carried at amortised cost based on either individually
customers who are long overdue with significant amounts or
known insolvencies or non-response to collection activities, or
collectively assessing them for likelihood of recovery based on
ageing of the balances with similar risk characteristics taking into
account the forward looking information. The identification of
impairment of receivables requires the use of judgment and
estimates. Where the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the carrying value of
receivables and loss for the impairment of receivables recognized
in the periods in which such estimates have been changed.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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BR 52 & 51 (i 5t B FI Ef o

(c)

(d)

FRiS#t
FEBETEEEBRTEBMPAE
Mo EEEFMSMEBRAFLHE
RAE - EHEEBBRER > 28R
R KRt E D AN RAIRIARE E I
TEARE - HZEFFENRERBE
RESIARNEEAR > ZFE
BREFEFLARE TR
SR REIEFT ST o

FEM TR IR SR B
FrEBRBEARENRR KBRS
BRI R 512 18 W w0 I8 R (B
e AEBRIEFHBRRFITEA
b > WARBAEENZREHARDN
BEBOEE « \ITHIHIRR KA
BEIEMAE  RERNBESENS
AB K} o RE B D IL B IH AT
Rz BZRBWRIEZ 2 TRREES
R BERRABHAEATIENR
BRENERIARREIESFL
EIfE 2 ERIZ R » HIEE BATHEM
BRBBERT RirEEELER
BRHZEHRREEZSEZTRETSE
BTG LU E B Z Rl a1 - A
FEWR IR R B 7R 18 AR I i Ko (5t o
HBEMERA G FEER  ZF
R EN ARG A
Fis] B 50 B B LUk TR B T 18 e P R
IER(EREE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker (the “CODM") has been identified as
the executive directors of our Group. Management has determined the
operating segments based on the information reviewed by our
executive director for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
performance. The only component in internal reporting to the executive
directors is our Group’s manufacturing and trading of machinery
products and mechanical parts for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2023. In this regard, management considers there is only one
operating segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 “Operating
Segments”.

The directors assess the performance of the operating segment based
on a measure of revenue and gross profit.

All of our Group's revenue are from contracts with customers and are
recognised at a point in time.

(a) Revenue from major customers who had individually
contributed 10% or more of total revenue of the
Group
For the year ended 31 December 2023, there were three
customers (2022: one), which individually contributed over 10%
of our Group's total revenue. Revenue contributed from our
major customers were as follows:

AR MR R M

W ai B2 53 BB E 4

TEREERRA (EEBEREA) &
BAREBNATES - /DEBERKR
FERER > EERERVTEFTEREN
BEHEBEECENH -BE_T__Fk
2 =F+"A=+—HLEFE'®
HITEFALERNE—BO/EER
BYBIE e B BV o B 1 o 3L
msE REFBMBREEAF8HK
MEENEEE > EEERRER—
B E DD o

EFRBERERENFEFEHEE DI
HYRIR o

FEBENFARGEIIREZR G I
R ERFEET o

(@ XBEBENSHMEAER L KWE
10% H A LN EEE R E

HE_Z-_—F#+"/B=+—HIt
FE-B=% (CE__F:—%)
=P E B B A S £ B AR UK 2 109% LA
Lo FEZRESRMIKEEIINT

2023 2022

—F_= “EBICF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TF#ET T#ET

Customer A ZEA 26,799 28,856

Customer B* =B B* 15,733 =

Customer C* BB C* 15,020 =
o The corresponding customers are new customers for the year ended d HEERABE_S_=F+"A8

31 December 2023.

=+—HILEFENHER °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR AR M EE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WKEkaEBER &
(Continued)
(b) Segment revenue by customers’ geographical (b) BEERMEBMUED DS IUL
location =

AEBMURREREE - ZEEZ
IEMNE REZTFUEETE) 8

Our Group is domiciled in the PRC and Hong Kong. Our Group's
revenue by geographical location, which is determined by the

location of customers, is as follows: DRI SIS -
2023 2022
—E-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Singapore EAMIIE 44,043 51,216
The Philippines JEREE 33,637 12,806
Hong Kong 58 32,204 35,799
Malaysia Bk 18,906 18,676
Taiwan =0 4,326 912
The PRC H 4,261 1,064
Japan Hz& 3,974 3,030
Vietnam e 1,670 2,482
New Zealand RS 31 983
Others (Note) Efh (M%) 727 762
143,779 127,730

Note: fI5E ©

Others include Canada and Thailand. HMBEMEAKRERE o

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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AR MR R M

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WmRkaAEPEE @

(Continued)

(c) Non-current assets by geographical location () HMEMBISNIEREIEE
The total of non-current assets other than deferred tax assets, HEEMEME D NIERENE ELE
broken down by location of the assets, is shown in the following: B (EERIBBEERIN BAEYITR

e
2023 2022
—®¥_= TECF
HK$’000 HKS'000
T#xT THET
The PRC H [ 20,742 21,653
Hong Kong 5B 3,549 4,294
24,291 25,947

(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (d) UrEsFERRRY S st Bk
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration Wiz B WS W EBRN AT E ST
received or receivable for the sales of goods in the ordinary 2 N AER—REHE BT
course of the Group's activities. HESRBWKREKRBIFRIE
Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the good is WahREm EfEEtEx A
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the REIEER o RE S NER B BN %
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the BRZEERTE > Bm ERIRER
good may be transferred over time or at a point in time. KR —E B S I — R B RGEEA% o
Control of the good is transferred over time if the Group’s HAEEERNBERETME TN
performance: 4 5 B G 2 PR AR B — ER B

HE

provides all of the benefits received and consumed . REEE A MEFIRE
simultaneously by the customer; FURENMOEFER B =
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as . BlENREALAEERARFE
the Group performs; or PFTEFIZEE ; 3

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the . WA EHAERMEEH
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment MARZEE > MAEEA
for performance completed to date. B HITHEHEN KB R E

% BT BAVERMD 2 RIE o
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A=~
e A

5

A5 ERAR MTEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(d)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)
If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods. Specific criteria where
revenue is recognised are described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated balance sheet as a
contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the
relationship between the entity's performance and the customer’s
payment.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group's activity as described below:

The Group manufactures and trades of machinery products and
mechanical parts to customers. Sales of goods transferred at a
point in time are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customers, the customer has full discretion over the usage of the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products. No element of
financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit
term of 60-120 days, which is consistent with market practice.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers the promised goods to the customer, the Group
presents the contract as a contract liability when the payment is
received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A
contract liability is the Group's obligation to transfer the promised
goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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W R AEBER =

(d)

Wk FEER AR STELSR (&

fisl 7 an 2 FE I R RS 1B — ER R R 488
% WmERRREESOHREBE
TERBEBNEEZEREET SR
Wem it & P IS P s 1 2 B
FOFESY - ARESNmE 2 FERE
BYFHELO T o

EENEN—HERN > AEER
REBEERRREIGHRENE
ERGHER RIBERENER
P A REYRR % o

FEMRIRN A S B B A BIF
FREFBF ARR o (W E7REF B R &
BJ U ER B > WRER BRI R R 23

BARM o

EWETRTE NEAEREBN
REZERIR > B

RNEBUENARTE BB EME SR
Bt o EE MBS B &
EEIERRNFEREZE) »BFE
BEERZEEMNTERERE
BMEn e ER P BT EMNE
BITERR > BREREGEREE
EMMHE c AREENREER
COEI0HET TEITTEER
W AFERERR ©

R AEESREAEERTER
Al BRI EREEREREY
EEFENETER > AEREWE
AR ERHRBAR UBREES
#)BFEIENAEHNER B
BEAEEREREDT R WRAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A
17177 g |

RAFsER AR MIsE

EXPENSES BY NATURE 6 HEHISHIBEZ
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and STASHERA  HE D HAS RITE
administrative expenses are analysed as follows: AR DT -
2023 2022
—E=H =S -
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&5T TET
Raw materials and consumables used EREMK R HFE MR
(Note 19) (BFEE19) 75,273 56,999
Changes in inventories of finished MR EEGTEESE (5 19)
goods and work in progress (Note 19) (3,464) 4,485
Provision for slow moving inventories, TrEHTF B EEEE (FIsE19)
net (Note 19) 146 109
Employee benefit expenses, EBERIR:  BEEEMNE
including directors’ emoluments (Note 7) (F5E7) 14,182 12,100
Depreciation (Note 15) ITEE (FzE15) 3,871 2,181
Legal and professional fees FEMEEER 1,516 1,482
Listing expenses Bty 53 12,363 3,899
Loss on disposal of property, HEWZE - BmEMRENEIE
plant and equipment 220 -
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B4 B 7 B
— Audit services — EBTIRTE 1,250 1,000
— Non-audit services — IEBEET RS 85 50
Donation ek 3,000 -
Utilities NERT 1,197 949
Transportation expenses EwEX 2,976 2,203
Other expenses Hhpasz 4,704 2,927
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution HEMA  tHE kD HMASZ
expenses and administrative expenses AT R 4850 117,319 88,384
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AR MR AR M EE

7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING

EEEFRS  BIEEFME

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) Employee benefit expenses (a) EBEEFRAX
2023 2022
ot e 3 - St - 2
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&5T TEx
Wages, salaries, bonuses T e~ TAREMET
and other benefits 13,202 11,303
Retirement benefit costs RIRTER A A
— defined contribution plans — ERRHFEE 886 708
Mandatory provident fund scheme BHIERTEEETE 94 89
14,182 12,100
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) ARZ=HEA

The five individuals whose remuneration were the highest in the
Group include two directors for the year ended 31 December

2023 (2022: two), whose remuneration are reflected in the

analysis presented in note 10(a) below.

The remuneration paid to the remaining three individuals for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: three) are as follows:

BE_Z_=—F+_"_B=+—HIE
FE > AERPHFN RSN A ZE
ANEEME (CE_F W3 &
E o HEBN R XK EE10@) P
25D ©

BE_ZT_—F+"A=+—Hit
EE EXNFHT=ZR (2F

TTF I =R) AANEFBEYIM
T
2023 2022
—F_= I F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#T TET
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE - frekEHMET 1,440 1333
Discretionary bonuses PIBTEAL 95 119
Retirement benefit costs RIRAEF AL AR
— defined contribution plans — EREHEFETE 13 24
Mandatory provident fund scheme BEIMEATESETE 22 26
1,570 1,502

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED kK&
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 7
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emolument of the highest paid individuals fell within the
following bands:

ARG TSR AR ML

EEEFRS  BIEEFME

(&

(b)

ARESHEA &
B = #r B A BYBNE B AT AR R -

2023 2022
—F== TR THF

Emolument band B <= 4B 51
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 2 1,000,000 78 7T 3 3

Note:

No directors or any of the five highest paid individuals received any emoluments
from the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
compensation for loss of office for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

GER

HE_ST=F+"A=+—HIEE &
EEEYAMASRE BN BREEK
EUEfAIBN A I A S B A B K52 E

SREEHAE (T2

OTHER INCOME Hhug A

2023 2022
—E-=HF BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#T TET
Sales of scrapped materials e BE 431 376
Employment support scheme RELZESTEY = 144
Government subsidy BT f B 7 =
Sundry income FETEUA 117 47
555 567

OTHER GAINS, NET H {th iy i 7 88
2023 2022
—EC=H S
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T TExT
Exchange differences, net E o= B3 RE 378 1333
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AR MR AR M EE

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments of individual directors for our Company paid
and payable by our Group for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2023 are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2022:

10 EENEFARER

(a) EFME
REE_BE__FR_T_=4F
+ZA=+—HIEEE » ZEEE
19 R FEAS A5 /A BE Bl ZE B AV B <5 5
IR

HE_ - £+ _A=+—HIk
FRE

Employer's
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefits to pension

Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme Total
2R BERRK
ik e BETL  BEMEN  EER st
HKS'00 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FEL TEL TET TET TER TEr
Executive directors: PIEE.
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan RIS
(Chairman and Chief Executive Offcer)  (ZER{THABH) = 862 102 = 30 994
Mr. Chan Lung Pan BREEM o = 40 69 - 18 507
Independent non-executive directors: B IERTEE :
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan BEhBEE 180 - - - - 180
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam gIEYt 144 - - - = 144
Ms. Tam Ho Ting EAEyt 144 - - - = 144

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023:

AR MR R M

10 EFNEFRER =

() EFNME @
B8E"F_=F+"A=+—HL
FE:

Employer's
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary and benefits  to pension

Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme Total
2R EXEK
fig e REA  BWEN B sz
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TR
Executive directors: RTEE.
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan RIS
(Chairman and Chief Executive Offcer)  (ZER{THABH) - 850 52 - 31 933
Mr. Chan Lung Pan BRAEM L E - 420 35 - 18 473
Independent non-executive directors: B FFHITESE |
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan BEhBLE 180 - - - - 180
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam 2ILEYL 144 = - - = 144
Ms. Tam Ho Ting EAELt 144 - - - = 144

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration
received from our Group by these directors in their capacity as
employee to the subsidiaries of our Group and no directors
waived any emolument during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

Directors’ retirement benefits
None of our directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2022: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of our directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2022: Nil).

EXFEHFNIEZSEESULRER
HBAERE BB AEBMURED
O oREBE_ST_=%1+_#1
=+ HIEEE BEEERET
AN (CBE__F . &) o

(b) EFHBKER
RAFE  BEEFWEEEE U
BUEMEREN (TT-"F 1 H) o

() EFMREEERN

RAFE  BEEFWEHE T U
EEMBEREN (CZ-"F M) o
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AR MR AR M EE

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, our Group did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available directors’
services (2022: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
or controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors (2022: Nil).

10 EFNEFRER =

(d)

(e)

MERMERERBRE=FIR
HEKE

REBEE_ZE-_=F+"F=+—H
IFFE > AEETRERHENE
ERFEMEMEAE=AZARE (2

o
=
TTF |

FRAMESE -EFEHFNEE
REMERRAZSHEANER -
BUERREMZZHER

REBEE_ZE_=F+"_F=+—H
WEEE BENEE  EFEHW
FENREBEERE AT T AME] 1L
FERER  HUERRAEMNRZZE
BE(CEZZHF ) o

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions, H EENRS  THHAHONE
arrangements or contracts Kigx
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in RERF P A F E MR > B
relation to our Group's business to which our Group was a party FEAEAEEZEEARATNES
and in which a director of our Company had a material interest, REFEEA#R (BREZIE
whether directly to indirectly; subsisted at the end of the year or ) IAEEERBRNEARS
at any time during the year (2022: Nil). ZHREHN (T2 TE  ®) o
11 FINANCE INCOME, NET 11 RBEWAFEE
2023 2022
= BT F
HK$’000 HKS'000
TF#ExT THET
Finance income FE A
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents IRERIBEEBYURIRITER
and bank deposits BIF) S WA 725 190
Finance cost BhE AL AR
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESGENHER% (15) (4)
Finance income, net E= N 710 186

K BEBZERBRAF
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AR MR R M

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12 FRiSHFAX
The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated Nira2mEmWERANRIMERRX
statement of comprehensive income represents: it LN
2023 2022
—E=H BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&5T TET
Current income tax BNERFR1SHA
— The PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT") — FRE Pt EER
(T EPT1SHR) 2,401 2,208
— Hong Kong profits tax — &BNER 3,683 4,704
— Under/(over) provision of prior periods — BEHEMEENE
(FBEARE ) 77 @1)
Total current income tax BERFT1S TR 48 XE 6,161 6,871
Deferred income tax (Note 28) IRIEPTIS TR (MI5E28) (97) (368)
Income tax expense FriStRfsZ 6,064 6,503
(i) Hong Kong profits tax i) FBERER
In accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime BERZ2—N\FE—B—HE¥H
effective from 1 January 2018, Hong Kong profits tax is calculated MBFFNEREFHE - BE_R
at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000, and 16.5% on the remaining T TERTET=F+"RA=4+—
balance of the estimated assessable profits of an operating HEFEZERBARNE2ES
subsidiary for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023. Broaf B IEs s NMEFES

BRER > BTG ERR RS
SERR 16.5% MK EEBRIEH o
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A5 ERAR MTEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(ii)

The PRCEIT

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “EIT Law"),
the applicable income tax rate for Kyoei Seiki Co., Limited (‘Kyoei
Seiki"), a subsidiary in the PRC is 25%.

Pursuant to the New EIT Law, with respect to a new and high
technology enterprise, the tax levied on its income will be
charged at a preferential rate of 15% after obtaining the High
New Technology Enterprise Certificate (the “Certificate”) and
completing the tax reduction and exemption filing with the tax
authorities. Kyoei Seiki renewed the Certificate when it expired on
8 November 2023 and the renewed Certificate will expire on 28
December 2026. As a result of Kyoei Seiki qualifying for High New
Technology Enterprise status, the applicable tax rate of Kyoei Seiki
is 15% for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax rate of

12 FA{
(ii)

SR> =

PEEEREHR

R EERFRE ((EERF
W&  —HNEARREHRE
ERMAERAT ((HEEERM)
PRAREIRYE RS MR E 25 25% ©

R EXEFARERZE > s
EEMS » REESHMAREES

2 (M5B8 )) KM B R AR TS
HRkBEERFTEER > HFIER

BN 15%HI - HERBER
WK —E—=F+—HB/\HR%E

R B AR R S E AR
o ARE+RAZ+/\BEIH-
REBEE_ZE__FRIZFT"=
+ZBE=1+—HIEFE » AR
B2 ﬁxl%mﬁé%%ﬂﬁm%i{ﬂﬂﬁ’ﬂ
B MERETRNERRES
15% ©

AEBRPASIRADG T BUIR TR B (5
RAAEEERNERMITKEFTE

the Group entities as follows: CNERMESECEEZNT
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#T TET
Profit before income tax BRPT1S IR AD & A 28,103 41,432
Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to 3% 3@ FB X A RE Y /B A B i A

profits of the respective subsidiaries RS ERIE 4,187 6,403
Income not subject to tax NEBIRUTA (238) (43)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes -~ AJ 07 FE 2 2,491 653
Research and development tax credit R IEIK R (M)

(Note) (453) (469)
Under/(over) provision of prior periods i@ HARI BT B, (BBREE ) 77 (41)
Income tax expense PSR 6,064 6,503

Note: B 5E <

According to relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureaus of
the PRC, enterprises engaging in research and development activities are entitled to
claim 100% of the research and development expenses. The aggregate research and
development expenses charged to statement of comprehensive income amounted
to HK$3,021,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$3,125,000).

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD

RIEFEER RSB BEGIARR AR RS
?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ié%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ&Eﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁE@
100% © B E “=EHF+ZA=+—HLEF
B> 2Elas %EEMDI@E%H’%B%SH%E?%A
R¥3,021,000 (ZSE_2F: AR
3,125,000 7T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares for such purpose has been retrospectively adjusted for the
effects of the issue of shares in connection with the capitalisation of
shares (Note 21).

13

AR MR R M

FRERN

BREXBINRAATDER ABGEET
FRUBETEBRINETIIHAERSE
MU SN EBRINEFIIHNERN
BEAEMETRM (fisE21) N EFE

MEE o

2023 2022
—EZ= -
HK$’000 HKS'000
TF#ET T#ET
Profit attributable to equity holders of the RABERFR AEIEEF

Company (HK$'000) (F#&7T) 22,039 34,929

Weighted average number of shares inissue B 21T R& 17 TN 1980 (T /%)
(thousand) 400,000 400,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents per share) &R ARZF (EHEL) 5.5 8.7

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 and HE_ZT —_E_=#+"AH41

2023 were the same as the basic earnings per share as there was no
potentially dilutive instrument outstanding during the years.

= T+-HEFENSRESRINASK
EXRBNER > AAEREELERE
EEENENERETIA -
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AR MR AR M EE

14 SUBSIDIARIES 14

The Group's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 and 2023 are
set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly or indirectly by
the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the
voting rights held by the Group. The countries of incorporation or
registration are also their principal place of business.

BT

FEBR _ B _FKR_E_=F+_
B=+—HHNEERBATTEHMOTF o
FREE5IEN ERAEEEAEER
BREEEEN S BR AR R
mEEHIER AL BIFAE R ERE o E
I BRI AE T EEEME o

Place of incorporation Principal activities Particulars of issued Ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries and kind of legal entity  and place of operation share capital held by the Group
SEAR AR L3t B FEEHR
MEARRE HERRRER BEE BETREHR FEBEFRFREEED
2023 2022
—=F 7
Directly held:
EERA:
Kyoei Seiki Holdings Limited The BVI, limited liability Investment holding 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
company in the BV US$1 each
REERARES REBARREE 1RIETHNBER
BREERE REER
Best Linking Holdings Limited The BVI, limited liability Investment holding 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
company in the BV US$1 each
REERRES REBARREE 1 RIETHNBER
BREERH REER
Indirectly held:
MRS :
Wing Fung Machinery Company ~ Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding 13,000,000 ordinary 100% 100%
Limited in Hong Kong shares HK$13,000,000
REWWABRAT &8 BRRA REBREER 13,000,000 32 & i@
13,000,000 B 7T
Best Linking Limited Hong Kong, limited company Trading of machinery 1 ordinary share HK$1 100% 100%
products in
Hong Kong
XBMEBRAF &8> BRAF REBEEMMER 1R 1EBETHNEER
Kyoei Seiki Co,, Limited The PRC, limited liability Manufacturing of Registered capital of 100% 100%
company machinery products HK$20,000,000
in the PRC
RELARBRRMERAT B EREEAT RHEREEMER SRRE
20,000,000 7T
Best Linking Import and The PRC, limited liability Trading of goods Registered capital of 100% -
Export (Shenzhen) Co, Limited company HK$100,000
AXBEELROBRA TE - EREERF EEfdm AR E 10000078 7T

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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tn e MBERR M

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% - BBk
Right of use Office Plantand Leasehold Motor  Construction
assets equipment machinery  improvement vehicles  inprogress Total
EREEE MAERE BERHE  HEEHN "E  {TEEH a5t
HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

TAR THm TH7m TAT ThR TH7m TAT

At 1 January 2022 RZB-"%—F-H
Cost 5352!& 6,037 1439 26949 726 29 5,966 41411
Accumulated depreciation REiE (3,107) (1,193) (23,526) (350) (147) - (28323)
Net book amount @ 2930 246 3423 376 147 5966 13,088
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE_Z-_F
+ZB=+-HLEE
Opening net book amount FNRESE 2930 246 3423 376 147 5966 13,088
Additions WE 268 78 4 49 3,260 11418 15559
Transfer from Constructionin progress ~~ BEBHERTIE - - 9,701 - = (9701) =
Wiitten-off sy - (1) Q , _ _ B)
Depreciation ik (760) (60) (980) (295) (86) = (2181)
Exchange differences EREZR (204) (20) (543) (35) 9 (523) (1334)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 234 243 11,640 540 3312 7,60 25129
At 31 December 2022 RZ2-=#4+-B=4+-H
Cost EJZZK 5871 1,398 34222 1,148 3531 760 53330
Accumulated depreciation REE (3637) (1,155) (22,582) (608) (219 - (28,201)
Net book amount REFE 2234 243 11,640 540 3312 7,60 25129
At January 2023 RZB2Z=%-F-H
Cost A 5871 1398 3422 1,148 3531 7,160 53330
Accumulated depreciation REiE (3637) (1,155) (22582) (608) (219 - (28201)
Net book amount REFE 2234 43 11,640 540 3312 7,160 25,129
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-=F
+ZB=+-HLEE
Opening net book amount FNRESE 2,234 243 11,640 540 3312 7,160 25,129
Additions E 544 94 77 269 614 1,489 3,087
Transfer fom Constructioninprogress BRI BERE TR - - 5311 3,194 - (8,505) -
Disposal HE (102) - (257) - - - (359)
Depreciation & (820) (1) (1,567) (329) (1,084) - (3,871)
Exchange differences ERER (54) W) (472) 69 (6) (144) (614)
Closing net book amount FREAFE 1,802 259 14,732 3,743 2,836 - 23,372
At 31 December 2023 RZE-Z&+-RA=1+-H
Cost ﬁms 5,470 1,452 38,064 4,713 4133 - 53,832
Accumulated depreciation REtiE (3,668) (1,193) (23,332) (970) (1,297) = (30,460)
Net book amount REFE 1,802 259 14,732 3,743 2,836 = 23,372
The right of use assets represents the lease on production factory in the FREEERHEEFRENEERE RS
PRC, and office and carpark in Hong Kong. B SER (EEL o
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15 % - BERRE @
During the year, the amounts of depreciation expense charged to cost RAEE > BHEERARITERESZINR
of sales and administrative expenses are as follows: ITERZSREUWT ¢
2023 2022
—E=H BT F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&5T TET
Cost of sales B A AR 2,076 1,561
Administrative expenses TERESE 1,795 620
3,871 2,181
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less M~ BB R sk IR E SR A AR R 5T T
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. ENRTBEERBE WA) 78R - EE K
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the AEFEWESRAEE RGN -

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or fie} 18 B 48 B8 B9 2K 2R 4878 F1) 735145 BF A S £
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable MERAR A58 AIZEBEEW
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the HERAS G ABEENEREE > 3 (8
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying BE)RIA—BREIBEE FABRE
amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is EZENEMAARISSNREERER
derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are FRECHMES c FTAEMEBRREER
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income HREEENRESHBEG AGES2EW
during the reporting period in which they are incurred. IR ©
Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated using the straight MERRENITEREGF TGRS
line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over its MBEHZEE > BERANEHEE R
estimated useful lives, as follows: BE > ARWT:
Plant and machinery 10 years TS oz 15 1 104F
Office equipment 5 years ENEN L 54
Motor vehicles 3 years RE 34
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease terms and useful lives THEMEEE THEHAMR K ml £ A
FRZBEE
The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if BEENFREERAIERAFEHRENEH
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. WHEARETRE > WEEZ BT N E
HERE o

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (note 33.5).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within “other gains, net”
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress represents machineries under installation and
leasehold improvement under construction, which is stated at historical
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction-in-progress until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the
assets concerned are ready for use, the costs are transferred to property,
plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group's financial instruments include the following:

15

16

AR MR R M

ME - BERSHE =

WEEREESNEMGT IR E&%E
837 BN %8 E R BR EE MU = H BT Uk
[E]%8 (FI5E335) o

HEBR@m D EBLRAMEMERKREE
BE IR EENm R TEth i
FPER REST ©

FRIZEEEZENESERELITH
HEEMEERE  BELRARNRTRE
BB (WA) JIER - TR IR T ERER
#H BEEMMEERTIRIERERR
ERARALE - ERMEERHER K
FARBERBEEYE - BEARE
WEHHRITEE ©

BRENSDHEMIA
AEENSHTASETIIEE:

2023 2022
—®8_= B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#T TAET

Financial assets at amortised costs: BEHREYRNEREE
Trade receivables B 5 e IE 44,291 41,707
Deposits and other receivables ¥ K B FE U= IE 320 178
Cash and cash equivalents BERIAEEEY 54,891 51,003
Pledged bank deposit BIRRIRTTER 5,028 =
104,530 92,888

Financial liabilities at amortised costs: ~ BHBIHMATIRMN SRS 15
Trade payables B S IE 4,812 1,034
Bank borrowings IRITER 8,093 =
Lease liabilities HEEE 391 180
Accruals and other payables FEST & A K At EI 78 2,687 2,616
15,983 3,830

ANNUAL
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17 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold and
delivered in the ordinary course of business.

17 B EWFRIE

BZRBREREAEEFTBRETIE
m i E R MW E R BIRIE

2023 2022

—E-=F B F

HK$'000 HKS'000

F#ExT FET

Trade receivables B 5 EWEIE 44,291 41,707

As at 31 December 2023, due to the short-term nature of the trade
receivables, their carrying amounts of trade receivables is considered to
be the same as their fair values.

The Group’s sales were on credit terms primarily from 60 days to 120
days.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables by due date, are as follows:

RIE_=ZFE+_F=+—H ' HARE
SEWRIER T E B 5’ RIS

AEREEEE A FEER °

AEBENHEDREERET 2N

Fe60HZE120H ©

B 5 BUWRIEZ 2 HA B 81 VAR E: D AR

W
2023 2022
BT = B2 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#T TEx
Current BNHEA 32,761 21,879
1-30 days past due BHEI1 E30H 5,343 11,918
31-60 days past due BHEA31 E60H 2,274 496
61-90 days past due w61 ZE 90 H 1,901 2,017
Over 90 days past due #EEAo0 H L k£ 2,012 5,397
44,291 41,707

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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17 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables were
denominated in the following currencies:

AR MR R M

17 B EWFRIE @)

45 B 5 5 FE RO AR 875 MU T 51
HIEEHE :

2023 2022
—E-=F TETTH
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ex FEx
HKS BT 23,127 9,842
usD E7T 21,135 31,462
RMB AR 29 403
44,291 41,707

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 A BT —_E_=%+_"_A8

was the carrying value of the receivables mentioned above.

Trade receivables are generally due for settlement from 60 days to 120
days and therefore all classified as current. Trade receivables are
recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Details about the Group's impairment policies are
provided in Note 3.1(ii).

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, no provision of impairment for trade
receivables was made as the expected loss rate was minimal.

= t+—HESEERRAS LHREBR
TERVEREE ©

B 5 EWRIEE S R60E 120 3 EIHB4E
8 A2 DEARE - &5 W
B ERGESNHEBSEETIN
BR > EEEHEGSEARMERDR  #
NABEETER AEBRFEESE
WHIENENERKRENERIRERE
bR EFRERF A IZEFAATE
B EWAIE - BRAAEBENREBR
BYEE B HH I EE 3.1Gi) ©

R-ZB__&#R-_ZBZ_=%+2ZA
=+—H AREHREEREAE &
L E 5 FEGRRIBR (F R E B o
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18 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18 FA(IFIA « KR HthEUER

RECEIVABLES 15
2023 2022
—g-= T F
HK$’000 HKS'000
TF#ET TET
Non-current JERED
Prepayments for purchase of computer A B BRI RIE
software 800 800
Rental deposits HEZS 119 18
919 818
Current TRED
Deposits and other receivables ¥ B B FE U =R IE 201 160
Prepayments T RIE 12,447 9,262
12,648 9,422
Total prepayments, deposits and FETRRIE ~ sk B MR U
other receivables IB4RER 13,567 10,240

AEERNRIE B E R EMEWRIE
BUEREIETS A T YIS EHE !

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other
receivables were denominated in the following currencies:

2023 2022
—E°= BT F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

HKS BT 7,753 3,990
JPY = 2,926 4,505
RMB AR 2,485 1,105
usD =TT 403 640
13,567 10,240

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

K BEBZERBRAF
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AR MR R M

INVENTORIES 19 78
2023 2022
—F_= =2 F
HK$’000 HKS'000
F#T THEx
Raw materials JR AL 6,945 83817
Work in progress TG 4,078 2,453
Finished goods SUALm 12,672 9,801
23,695 21,071
Less: provision for slow moving inventories 38 : i iHTF SEE (570) (437)
23,125 20,634

The cost of inventories and consumables recognised as expense and
included in cost of sales during the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to HK$71,809,000 (2022: HK$61,484,000) (Note 6).

BE_ZE_=F+_A=1+—HILEFE"
DAL W ABEEREANEERH

FESRA AN 71,809,000/8 7T (C B - "4 ¢

61,484,000 7T) (Mizte) o

Movements on the provision for slow moving inventories are as follows: TIHTF ERENEEUT

2023 2022

—ET-= =2 TF

HK$'000 HKS'000

T#T THEx

At 1 January w—HB—H 437 360
Reversal of provision for slow moving TR AR E R (MEEe)

inventories (Note 6) (226) (258)

Provision for slow moving inventories (Note 6) #5877 &R (MizE6) 372 367

Exchange differences PE R A=%E (13) (32)

At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 570 437

The Group reversed provision for slowing moving inventories and
included in cost of sales amounted to HK$226,000 as the relevant

inventories was sold during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$258,000) (Note 6).

BE_Z_-—F+_A=+—HLFE>
AREBBOFHEFEEREL AHER
&> £EEA2260008 7T (EABEHENR
RIS (=4 : 258000 ) (Y
5E6) °©
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A5 ERAR MTEE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the pledged bank deposit amounted to
HK$5,028,000 shown under current assets carried interest rate at 0.95%
per annum (2022: Nil). The bank deposit was pledged to secure bank
borrowings repayable in February 2024.

20

ERBRITERRRERRE
EEY

A _E_=F+"_A=+—H »R"RE}E
EIE TR ERIRIRTTER A 5,028,000
BT BERN K0S (CEZ_F . i)
TR CRITEREMHIEHE (AR T
THEZBABATEERITERNER -

2023 2022

—F-= =S
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET TET
Cash at banks IR1TIRE 54,737 50,951
Cash on hand FHERE 154 52
Cash and cash equivalents HEMREEEY 54,891 51,003
Maximum exposure to credit risk &EEERRE 54,737 50,951

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are denominated in
the following currencies:

ReRRESEMOEEE N TS
MeEHE -

2023 2022
—E-= BT F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FExT

HKS BT 27,628 27,446
usD eSS 22,905 22,823
RMB AR 2,250 734
JPY H 2,108 =
54,891 51,003

Cash at banks include short-term bank time deposits with maturity of 3
months, approximately HK$15,737,000 (2022: approximately to
HK$15,137,000) with interest rate ranged from 4.3% to 4.55% (2022:
ranged from 3.89% to 4.52%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents approximated their fair values.

As 31 December 2023, approximately HK$18,193,000 (2022:
approximately to HK$18,647,000) of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents were placed with banks in the PRC denominated in RMB or
USD, which were subject to foreign exchange control regulations of the
PRC.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD

IRITIRSBENRIERNIBENEHE
HAR 1T 12 7049 15,737,00058 T (ZEBE - =
& 1 #915,137,00087T) > EFENF43%
F455% (B ZF M F38I%E
452%) o

ATET=ZF+_A=+—H 'REK
REeEBYNRAEAE A FEHES

ATE_=E+"H=+—H &~EH
iﬁﬁ)ﬁ'ziﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ% #918,193,00038 75 (=
T T4 #918,647,0005 70) UA R
FETERETENIET > FRAFE
BI SN IR 5 o
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21 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

4= AH
177 (==

HA 75 S 2R Y 5

21 RAERERREE

Number of Nominal value of

ordinary shares  ordinary share
EZiEkEE LiEkREE
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: ETE
At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 R ZZ - _F+_"8F=+—H
kRZZE2_=F+"A=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Nominal value
Number of of ordinary Share
ordinary shares share premium
ZiElkHE EiEREE eab b
Note HKS$'000 HK$'000
= TFHET TFHET
Issued and paid: BEITREE
At 1 January 2022 ATE-—&F#—HF—H 400,000,000 4,000 26,511
Dividends paid BENRKRE @), (b) - = (16,000)
At 31 December 2022 and N B __F+_B=+—H
1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—H 400,000,000 4,000 10,511
Dividends paid BENKRE © - - (10,511)
At 31 December 2023 N _E_=F+"_A=+—H 400,000,000 4,000 -
Notes: P E
@) On 22 March 2022, the proposed final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share, amounting ©) RIE__F=F"+"H BE_ZT_—

to HK$8,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approved. Such dividend
was recorded as a reduction of share premium of the Group pursuant to the Articles
of Association and the Company Law, Cap. 22 (Law of 1961, as consolidated or
revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The final dividend was paid on 6
July 2022.

On 7 November 2022, the proposed interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share,
amounting to HK$8,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approved.
Such dividend was recorded as a reduction of share premium of the Group pursuant
to the Articles of Association and the Company Law, Cap. 22 (Law of 1961, as
consolidated or revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The interim
dividend was paid on 12 December 2022.

On 16 June 2023, the proposed final dividend of HK4.0 cents per share, amounting
to HK$16,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approved. Such
dividend was recorded as a reduction of share premium and retained earnings of
the Group pursuant to the Articles of Association and the Companies Act (2022
Revision) (as consolidated or revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The
final dividend was paid on 5 July 2023.

(b)

©

FE+ZA=+—HIEEENEZRERES
B% 2,078l (£%E%8,000,00078 7T) FEHL A © 1R
%%ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ&Eﬁ%ﬁ%@ﬁii%:-{—:
B (—AAN—FZB > ERRRETER) »
E\Z REARIEAAREB R ZBOVHIR
FEBEER S ZFEANBIRNA °

RIE_—E+—RAtH HE_ZE__F
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22 RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Capital reserve

Capital reserves of the Group represented the difference between
the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation on 21 December 2018, over the nominal value of
the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

Statutory reserve

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in the
PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be
appropriated from the profit after income tax (after offsetting
accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their
respective statutory financial statements, before profit
distributions to equity holders. All statutory reserves are created
for specific purposes. A PRC company is required to appropriate
an amount of not less than 10% of statutory profit after income
tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to distribution of its post-
tax profits of the current year. A company may discontinue the
contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory surplus
reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory
surplus reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the
company, to expand the company’s operations, or to increase the
capital of the company. In addition, a company may make further
contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-tax
profits in accordance with resolutions of the board of directors.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all currency translation
differences arising from translation difference of the financial
statements of the Group's subsidiary in the PRC.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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23 LEASE LIABILITIES

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance
sheets
The consolidated balance sheets show the following amounts

23

HEAR

() MESEEARIKPEINE

i

mEBEERGRIIRUOTNEAEE

relating to leases: RARVERE -
2023 2022
—EZ= B F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Right of use assets* EREEE~
Properties LYES 1,802 2,234
@ The balances were included in the note 15 “Properties, plant and & EERESTAMIEE 1S T BB R&
equipment”. ] o
2023 2022
2= ==
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FExT
Lease liabilities HEAR
Non-current portion JERPERES 148 79
Current portion BRHEAER 2 243 101
391 180

Additions to the right-of-use assets amounted to approximately
HK$544,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$268,000).

BHE_ZE_=—F+"_FA=+—HIk
FE FHEEERE S 54400078

T (ZTEZ 4 : 268,00087T) ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

—EoCEER <i>



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Y= A
mws =

A5 ERAR MTEE

23 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income
statements

23 fHE&E®

RS WmRPHEZNEEE

The consolidated income statements show the following ?-F‘F/E\ll-ly a YR N T E A R
amounts relating to leases: Bl
2023 2022
—®8_= B F
HK$’000 HKS'000
T#xT TAET
Depreciation charge of FEREESERERS
right of use assets
Properties LY ES 820 760
Finance costs on leases (Note 11) HEMNREMmZS (Fisk11) 15 4

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 2023 was
HK$182,000 (2022: HK$108,000), including the payment of
principal elements and interest elements of lease liabilities
amounting to HK$167,000 and HK$15,000 (2022: HK$ 104,000 and
HK$4,000) respectively.

The Group leases production factory in the PRC and office and
carpark in Hong Kong. These lease liabilities were measured at
net present value of the lease payments for the lease terms that
are not yet paid. On 25 June 2020, the Company and the landlord
of the production factory in the PRC entered into a new contract,
superseding the original rental contract. The rental agreement
has the same scope of lease with revised monthly rental, totaling
HK$3,644,000 for 72 months, which was fully paid during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

@ BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD

BHE_Z_—FIFENEERS
R AREE 41820008 T (ZZE -
F 108,000,%75)  BELNEE

BENEAREHBD RMEID DA
167,000 78 75 % 15,0008 75 (Z &
T4 1104,000 78758 4,000 78 7T) ©

REBPRFPHEBEEERERRE
BHEENERENEES > ZEHE
SERARREASZAEENTH
FHREFE - R _ZF KA
“+EH ARBRFREEERE
HEFTLMEHN  RAREHE

BH - HEWRZENHEEHEER
B EBES] > & 153,644,000
7T AE2ER  EREBEZZSC
EE+_A=+—HIEFERHE
3 o
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24 TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables at the end of each reporting period comprise amounts
outstanding to contract creditors and suppliers. The average credit
period taken for trade purchase is generally from 0-90 days.

24 B 5 FE(GTIE

BREHRNEZRARBRERRS
NHFENEREAREEFENTE -5
REHNTIIEER—RB0ENH -

2023 2022

—F-= 2 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#T THET

Trade payables B S IE 4,812 1,034

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the ageing analysis of the trade
payables, based on invoice date, were as follows:

N ECEFER_EBE-_=H#-+_H
=+—H > BSEMZEENZEEZHE

HERER DATAAT
2023 2022
—EZ=H =BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#E5T TET
Up to 30 days RZH30H 2,482 774
31-60 days 31E60H 230 106
61-90 days 61290 H - 121
Over 90 days oo H 2,100 33
4,812 1,034

The carrying amounts of trade payable were denominated in the
following currencies:

B RARBEZREEBEUTIIEEEHE

2023 2022
g = —EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

RMB AR 2,712 889
HKS BT 2,100 145
4,812 1,034

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
payables approximated their fair values.

AT B _HER_EBE_=#-+"H
=—+—H ' BZEMRENKREERAR

AFERE -
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Bank Borrowings 25 FRITIERR
2023 2022
k- S -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank borrowings — import loans IRITER —EOEMR 8,093 -

As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowings were interest bearing at
the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2% per annum. The bank
borrowings were dominated in RMB and their carrying amounts
approximated to the fair values. The bank borrowings were repayable in
February 2024.

Banking facilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$31,000,000 (2022: HK$15,000,000) for import loans.
There were undrawn facilities of approximately HK$22,907,000 (2022:
HK$15,000,000) as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the banking facilities were secured by the
following:

(i) An aggregate charge over deposits which amounted to
HK$5,028,000; and

(i) Unlimited corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its bank
borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2023.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD

R-ZE_=F+"B=+—HR17ME
RIEEBIRTREERE B IMEFZE 2%t
% ﬁﬁhﬂukﬁm%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ
BHAFERE - RITERABRZ
“HE_RERE °

RITRLE
RIEZ=F+ZA=+—H> &&=
ﬁmgﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂémﬁ@mmwm%
7t (ZFE = =4 : 15,000,000 7T) ©

T =F+"B=+—H> %kmﬂﬁ
#922,907,00078 78 (ZZ =24 © 15,000,000
BIT) °
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26 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

AR MR R M

26 FEGtERARAEMEGRIA

2023 2022

—F_= —ETCF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TF#ET THET

Accrued auditors' remuneration JfE 51 1% BB 3 B 1,050 1,050

Accrued listing expense FEET LMk 200 775

Accrued employee benefit expenses fEsHEERAMAZ 1,214 869

Other accruals HihfEst & B 279 241

Other payables HAENRIE 27 10
Payable for purchase of property, BEYE  BENRE

plant and equipment S NESE] 1,131 540

3,901 3,485

The carrying amounts of the Group’s contract liabilities, accruals and
other payables were denominated in the following currencies:

FEENSNER B BAKAEME
RIERREEN NI EBEHE

2023 2022

—E-= B F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FExT

RMB AR 2,350 1,349
HKS BT 1,551 2,136
3,901 3,485
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27 DIVIDENDS 27 RE
(a) Dividends declared and paid during the year (@ FABEMGRIRKMHHKRS
2023 2022
—E-= BT &
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#w FHExT
Interim dividends declared and paid H_E_=—FEBEMmK
in respect of 2023 RSB HARR B
(2022: HK2.0 cents per share) (CTEBEF  881B208) - 8,000
Final dividends declared and paid M_E__FEEMK
in respect of 2022 of HK4.0 cents IR REARE E &R 4.0 81
per share (2022: HK2.0 cents) (T4 20810) 16,000 8,000
(b) Dividends for the year (b) FARKRE
2023 2022
—EZ= —ECF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#wT FHBT
Interim dividends HEARR R
(2022: HK2.0 cents per share) —E 488208 1W0) - 8,000
Proposed final dividends of HK4.0 cents 12 z&RHIRE BERZ 407810
per share (2022: HK4.0 cents) (Note) T & 4081) (M) 16,000 16,000
16,000 24,000

Note:

The proposed final dividend has been proposed by the directors after the report
date. The proposed final dividend, subject to the shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, is not reflected as dividend payable as at 31
December 2023.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The movement in deferred income tax assets during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2023, without taking into consideration the

offsetting of balances within the

same tax jurisdiction, was as follow:

28

AR MR R M

IEIEFRISIR

RE= ER-_E-=&+_8
= t+—HIEFENELEFRERNEESS
(W Bt RAR B — IR S B A B R4S ER)
ERSI RN

—— —

—_—

Provision for Decelerated tax

Lease liabilities inventories depreciation Total
HEaf EERE BERIEIRE @Rt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2022 RNZE-__F—HF—H 53 54 = 107
(Credited)/charged to RiEEE2ElER
consolidated statement (5t A), /1B
of comprehensive (M43 12)
income (Note 12) (30) 1 387 368
As at 31 December 2022 RNIE &
+ZB=+—H 23 65 387 475
At 1 January 2023 N-E=-=%—HB—H 23 65 387 475
(Credited)/charged to REEEEIRER
consolidated statement of GINYE]:
comprehensive income (Note 1) (Ff#5E12) (40) 21 116 97
As at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F
+=B=+-H (17) 86 503 572
As at 31 December 2023, deferred income tax liabilities of approximately R_E_=F+_HA=+—H » I&ER®

HK$5,783,000 (2022: HK$4,289,000) had not been recognised for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
subsidiaries in the PRC of approximately HK$57,833,000 (2022:

HKS$42,886,000) as our directo

rs considered that the timing of the

reversal of the related temporary differences can be controlled and the

related temporary difference will
in the foreseeable future.

not be reversed and will not be taxable

A ] B &8 A B >R B & F1 49 5,783,000 78
T (T T4 : 42890007 70) B FE &4
TEINHR 50 I AL FT 19 7R &1 {549 57,833,000
BT (ZE 4 42,886,000787T) ° R
REREERAEEOEREREZZNRFIE
A BHEAEREER AR AUE
RBR KO K B AR o

— = —

T —
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29 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, (a)
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party has

the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence

over the Group in making financial and operating decisions.

Related parties may be individuals (being members of key
management personnel, significant shareholders and/or their

close family members) or other entities and include entities

which are under the significant influence of related parties of the

Group where those parties are individuals. Parties are also

considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

The director is of the view that the following individual were

related parties that had transactions or balances with the Group

during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023:

Name Relationship with the Group
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan
Ms. Leung Tak Yee

Shareholder and Executive Director
Shareholder and the spouse of
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan

Key management compensation
Key management include executive directors and the senior

(b)

management of the Group. The compensation paid or payable to

29 BABtBE RS

MZEraMBiRERms  M—FH
EEHP B R EERAR T EASE

HiZg MBS AERENEAZE
B AR AR AEE SR - B
A AENALT BNEEEEA
ENE - EARER RHRERE
MR E) FEMER > TEES
AEEREBKS (BENAL EX
HENERE - ME AT HERZES
NEERAERY cEFRAUT
BERALEREBEE S - "FKh_
T =F+_HA=+—HLIEFEH
NEBBER G REEHFIEH S :

e SAE R R
BIEWRE BRRKRATES
REBRLT RERREWKE
2 Ecf
TEEEEHM

TEEEBURTEENNITES
DRk EHREER - siEERBEN

key management for employee services is shown below: NENTEEEEBIFME U

2023 2022

—¥-= “ECHF

HK$’000 HK$'000

T#T THET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ ~ 2B R EYIEF 2,300 2,263

Discretionary bonuses BYIBTEAL 159 278
Retirement benefit costs — defined IR A A — ERE R ET 2

contribution plans 67 67

2,526 2,608

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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CASH FLOWS

30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

30 FARTRERME

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (a) BRERIGMAIGFIBLERISH
generated from operations HHIR
2023 2022
= —EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#T TET
Cash flows from operating activities (& ZHINEHE
Profit before income tax BRPT1S IR AD & A 28,103 41,432
Adjustments for: MATBIERAE .
Depreciation e 3,871 2,181
Provision for slow moving inventories, net 5 8H 77 &S #3515 7528 146 109
Loss on disposal/written-off property, HE MY - BE R RE
plant and equipment (note (c)) B518 (MI5E () 220 3
Finance income MEUA (725) (190)
Finance cost L& A A 15 4
Changes in working capital SEERER 31,630 43,539
Trade receivables B 5 W ERIE (3,368) (4,263)
Prepayments, deposits and FBRIE ~ e REM
other receivables e R I (3,427) 6
Inventories =8 (3,243) 2617)
Trade payables B ZEARIE 3,818 (7,250)
Accruals and other payables FEETE FA K ELfth FE (S FRIE (128) 1678
Net cash generated from operations & FRiFIR & /FEE 25,282 31,093
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30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flow will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

30 FERERERMTE @

(b)

MEZHFREERRZEHR

TRV AEERELSFIELEE
BNES GRREENRIFREE
B MELPFELABEANEE
BraReREROBAMELTH
PRSEREREBZ RS MERKIE

financing activities. FME ©
Liabilities from financing activities Other asset
MEIHEENERE HithgE
Pledged
Bank Lease bank
borrowings liabilities Subtotal deposit Total
DI
RITER HEAR gt RITER 4ot
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FTAT TAT TAET TAT
Netdebtasat1January2022 H-ZE-_F—HF—H
R R ES = (79) (79) = (79)
Cash flows Reng - 108 108 - 108
Other non-cash movements Hit3ER &)
— Additions —hE - (205) (205) - (205)
— Accrued interest —[EEAE - )] ) - )
Netdebtasat31December WM-ZEZ"F
2022 +=B=+-H
KB EH - (180) (180) = (180)
Netdebtasat1January2023 HR-EZ=%F
—B—BiEEH = (180) (180) = (180)
Cash flows ReRsE (8,093) 182 (7,911) 5,028 (2,883)
Other non-cash movements HitdpR & &)
— Additions —hE - (480) (480) - (480)
— Accrued interest — EEHA B = (15) (15) = (15)
— Disposal —HE - 102 102 = 102
Netdebtasat31December HRZ-ZEZ=%
2023 +ZB=+—-H
HB A (8,093) (391) (8,484) 5,028 (3,456)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTOF 30 (S IRERERME @
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and () HEVE - BERRE (FaE
equipment, excluding right of use assets comprise: EREEE) WFRERIEEE
2023
—EC=H
HK$’000
F#T
Net book amount (Note 15) IREFE (s 15) 257
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE  BEKLENEE
plant and equipment (220)
37
31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31 BAKIE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the NSRBIV ERERAERENE
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows: AEXRMEZUWT :
2023 2022
—T=H k= -
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T THT
Property, plant and equipment and ME -BERRERBETLEE
intangible assets
— Not later than one year — B —F 650 1,999
— Later than one year but not later ——F EBFBBAF
than five years - 288
650 2,287
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32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTOF 32 ZAGSE&ERKE#EEES

THE COMPANY
Balance sheet of the Company TAGIEEEBER
2023 2022
—E=F TETF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5+ F#T THT
Assets BHE
Non-current assets ERHEE
Investment in subsidiaries R BABNKE 41,888 41,888
Loan to a subsidiary EXRF—HRERBAR - 17,910
41,888 59,798
Current assets RENEE
Loan to a subsidiary EXRTF—HENEAR 9,615 -
Cash and cash equivalents RBERIREEEY 7,490 5173
17,105 5173
Total assets BERE 58,993 64,971
Equity and liabilities EERER
Equity attributable to EATME AELED
owners of the Company
Share capital [N 4,000 4,000
Reserves (G (a) 23,935 22,634
Total equity R4 EE 27,935 26,634
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities mENE (R
Accruals et &R 1,198 1815
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT B 88 2 B] 7R IB 29,860 36,522
Total liabilities BEAE 31,058 38,337
Total equity and liabilities EmkaERE 58,993 64,971
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of ARANBERRREHEREN_F
Directors on 19 March 2024 and was signed on its behalf. “HE=A+ABE#MZ TAREEE
HE o
Chan Yuk Pan Chan Lung Pan
BR Y& # PREEM
Director Director
FE BEE

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR R M

32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTOF 32 ARG SEABRREGEES

THE COMPANY (Continued) (#E
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) ZTATHEEE
Other  Accumulated Reserves
Share capital reserve losses subtotal Total
s Hitrkts RitEE et EoH
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

TAT TRR TR TAT TER

Balance at 1 January 2022 RZEZZF—A—H

W4 R 4,000 68,399 (23,826) 44573 48573
Loss for the year FREE - - (5939) (5939) (5939)
Total comprehensiveincome 2 E M 4E = - (5939) (5939) (5939)

Transactions with equity HEZREANRS

holders:
Dividends paid BEARE - (16,000) - (16,000) (16,000)
= (16,000) = (16,000) (16,000)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RIEZZHF
+ZB=+—HM#E 4000 52399 (29,765) 22,634 26,634
Balanceat1January2023  HZE-=&—F—HK
o 4,000 52,399 (29,765) 22,634 26,634
Profit for the year EREF - = 17,301 17,301 17,301
Total comprehensiveincome 2N 4E - - 17,301 17,301 17,301
Transactions with equity HERREANRS
holders:
Dividends paid BERRE = (16,000) = (16,000) (16,000)
- (16,000) - (16,000) (16,000)
Balance at 31 December2023 WZ-Z==
+ZA=+—HMEER 4,000 36,399 (12,464) 23,935 27,935
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

33.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the group has control. The group controls an entity where
the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

33.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

33.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The CODM, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors who make strategic decisions

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED XEZEBRIZERERAD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.4 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the Company’s and
the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income within
“other gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value
gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary
assets such as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the rate on
the dates of the transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income

33.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.6 Financial assets

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets as those to be
measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. Assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represented solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
presented in “other gains, net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.6 Financial assets
(iv) Impairment of financial assets
The Group assess on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk. Note 3 details how the Group determine
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

33.7 Financial liabilities
(i) Classification and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any
gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(ii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The Group also derecognises a financial liability
when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a
new financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and
the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised
in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

33.8 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated balance sheet where the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group
has also entered into arrangements that do not meet the criteria
for offsetting but still allow for the related amounts to be set off
in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination
of a contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 33 HMhBEEADITHENE =&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.9 Inventories 339 &

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter
being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs
are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of
weighted average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

33.10 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include deposits held at
call with banks and cash on hand.

33.11 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

33.12 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.13 Bank Borrowings

Bank borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the bank
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs
of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the
fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Bank borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished
or transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 33 HthBEEADITHENE =&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.14 Current and deferred income tax

33.14 BDHA B2 B EEFRIS TR

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the company and its
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on which
method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.14 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

33.15 Employee benefits

(i)  Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to
be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up
to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Retirement benefits plans

The Group contributed to a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) which is a defined
contribution plan and is available to all employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions to the MPF Scheme by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The MPF Scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the
MPF Scheme.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

Full time employees of the Group’s PRC entity participate
in a government mandated multi-employer defined
contribution plan pursuant to which certain pension
benefits, medical care, unemployment insurance,
employee housing fund and other benefits based on
certain percentage of the employees’ salaries. Full time
employees who have passed the probation period are
entitled to such benefits.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contribution are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are
due and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available. The Group did not have
defined benefit plans.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses based on a formula that takes into consideration
the profit attributable to the company’s shareholders after
certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
anyone item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

33.17 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

33.18 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

33.19 Leases

The Group leases production factory in the PRC and office in
Hong Kong. Property leases are typically made for fixed periods of
two to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain various terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 33 HthBEEADITHENE =&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.19 Leases (Continued) B9FEE &)

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease
and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone
prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a
lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single lease
component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.19 Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group, where
possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing was received.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data) which
has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the Group entities
use that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included
in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to
lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease
liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets included the rights to use certain properties
under leases which are measured at cost. The initial costs of right-
of-use assets include the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs; and

restoration costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 33 HthBEEADITHENE =&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.19 Leases (Continued) B9FHE (&

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen
not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

33.20 Earnings per share

(i)  Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
year and excluding treasury shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 33 HthBEEADIHENE =&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

33.20 Earnings per share (Continued) 33.20 SRR BT (&
(i) Diluted earnings per share (i) SRESEF
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the SREERIAEFESR
determination of basic earnings per share to take into EARBNETANEIE » 5TA -
account:

the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares; and

the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
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33.21 Dividend distribution 3321 RE Sk
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being HREREHHERTFHNZAIE MY
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the RN (BEEERERETHH
entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not ERNEET > BERSHER
distributed at the end of the reporting period. BRI R DK S EREL B4 o

33.22 Research and development costs 33.22 P3¢ Rk A
Research and development expenditure is recognised as an EMESTHARTEERCIEER >
expense as incurred and classified under of cost of sales when it HRESXRDEAHER KBRS
does not fulfill the criteria of capitalisation. AR o
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Financial Summary
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AEBRBENEMBREENFEREE &
mEBESREEHNT

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the Group
for the published financial years is as follows:

RESULTS i

Year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020

—E-= TEIoF B4 CZEIEF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Fi#ERT T3t FExT FExT

Revenue W= 143,779 127,730 132,250 69,499

Profit before taxation FRAR BT & A 28,103 41,432 41,866 16,252

Income tax expense FriginfE sz 6,064 (6,503) (6,780) (2,608)

Profit for the year F A A 22,039 34,929 35,086 13,644
Attributable to: FEAS :

Shareholders of the Company /NI =] 22,039 34,929 35,086 13,644
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Financial Summary

BTS2

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEHEE
As at 31 December
®W+=—A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020
—EBo=E B4 B4 _EBIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#Ex FHET FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 24,863 26,422 19,045 12,846
Current assets MENEE 139,994 122,766 125,155 94,741
Total assets BEMEE 164,857 149,188 144,200 107,587
Equity and liabilities EmkaE
Total equity MR AR%E (147,660) (143,565) (129,531) (101,074)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (148) (79) - (79)
Current liabilities ViEIN=kE] (17,049) (5,544) (14,669) (6,434)
Total liabilities BEAR%E (17,197) (5,623) (14,669) (6,513)
Total equity and liabilities ok EaEELE (164,857) (149,188) (144,200) (107,587)
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